
 

 

 Three Rivers House 
Northway 

Rickmansworth 
Herts WD3 1RL 

 

FULL COUNCIL 
 

NOTICE AND AGENDA 
 

For a meeting to be held on Tuesday, 8 October 2024 at 7.30 pm in the Penn Chamber, Three 
Rivers House, Northway, Rickmansworth WD3 1RL. 
 
Members of the Full Council:- 
 
Councillors: 
 

 

Raj Khiroya (Chair) Tony Humphreys (Vice-Chair) 
Christopher Alley 
Sara Bedford 
Oliver Cooper 
Stephen Cox 
Harry Davies 
Steve Drury 
Vicky Edwards 
Andrea Fraser 
Elinor Gazzard 
Stephen Giles-Medhurst 
Rue Grewal 
Philip Hearn 
Lisa Hudson 
Khalid Hussain 
Joan King 
Stephen King 
Chris Lloyd 
David Major 
Keith Martin 
 

Abbas Merali 
Chris Mitchell 
Debbie Morris 
Ian Morris 
Sarah Nelmes 
Louise Price 
Kevin Raeburn 
Reena Ranger 
Ciaran Reed 
Andrew Scarth 
Narinder Sian 
Mike Sims 
Tom Smith 
Jonathon Solomons 
Cheryl Stungo 
Jon Tankard 
Chris Whately-Smith 
Anne Winter 
 

  

Joanne Wagstaffe, Chief Executive   
30 September 2024 

 
 

General Enquiries: Please contact the Committee Team at 
committeeteam@threerivers.gov.uk 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

mailto:committeeteam@threerivers.gov.uk


 

 

The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public on agenda items at the Full 
Council meetings. Details of the procedure are provided below: 
 
For those wishing to speak: 
Members of the public are entitled to register and identify which item(s) they wish to speak on 
from the published agenda for the meeting.  Those who wish to register to speak are asked to 
register on the night of the meeting from 7pm.  Please note that contributions will be limited to 
one person speaking for and one against each item for not more than three minutes. 
  
In the event of registering your interest to speak on an agenda item but not taking up that right 
because the item is deferred, you will be given the right to speak on that item at the next meeting 
of the Committee. 
 
Those wishing to observe the meeting are requested to arrive from 7pm. 
 
In accordance with The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 any matters 
considered under Part I business only of the meeting may be filmed, recorded, photographed, 
broadcast or reported via social media by any person. 
 
Recording and reporting the Council’s meetings is subject to the law and it is the responsibility of 
those doing the recording and reporting to ensure compliance.  This will include the Human 
Rights Act, the Data Protection Legislation and the laws of libel and defamation. 
The meeting will not be broadcast/livestreamed, but an audio recording of the meeting will be 
made. 

 

 
1.   Apologies for Absence   

 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest   
 

 

3.   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS 
 
To confirm as being a correct record the minutes of the ordinary 
meeting of the Full Council held on 9 July 2024 and the 
extraordinary meeting held on 9 September 2024, and for them to 
be signed by the Chair. 
 

(Pages 5 - 12) 

4.   CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
To receive an update on the Chair’s activities since the last meeting. 
 

 

5.   PETITIONS 
 
To consider any petitions received by the Council under Procedure 
Rule 18. 
 

 

Page 2



 

 

 
6.   QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 

 
To receive any questions from the public submitted under 
Procedure Rule 15 and to note the answers provided. 
 

(Pages 13 - 14) 

7.   POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Budget Monitoring Report to 30 June 2024, meeting date 9 
September 2024 
 
Recommendation(s) to Council: 
 

1. That the revenue budget virements as set out in appendices 
1 to 3 be approved and incorporated into the three-year 
medium-term financial plan. 

2. That the revenue budget supplementary estimates as set 
out in appendices 1 to 3 be approved and incorporated into 
the three-year medium-term financial plan. 

3. That the revenue variances to be managed as set out in 
appendices 1 to 3 be noted. 

4. That the capital variances as set out in appendices 1 to 3 
be approved and incorporated into the three-year medium-
term financial plan. 

 

(Pages 15 - 68) 

8.   LEAD MEMBER REPORTS 
 
To receive written reports from the Lead Members on activities 
falling within their remit since the last meeting of Full Council. 
 

(Pages 69 - 94) 

9.   QUESTIONS TO THE LEADER AND LEAD MEMBERS 
 
To receive the answers to questions submitted to the Leader and 
Lead Members. 
 

(Pages 95 - 154) 

10.   REPORTS OF, AND QUESTIONS TO, COMMITTEE CHAIRS 
 
To receive written reports from the Chairs of the Audit, Planning 
Licensing and Regulatory Committees and any question of those 
Chairs. 
 

 

11.   MOTIONS 
 
To consider any Motions submitted under Council Procedure 11. 
 

(Pages 155 - 156) 

Note: Exclusion of Public and Press  
 
If Council wishes to consider any items in private, it will be necessary for the following 
resolution to be passed: 
 

“that under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 the press and public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the grounds that it involves 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined under paragraph 3 of Part I of 
Schedule 12A to the Act. It has been decided by the Council that in all the circumstances, 
the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing 
the information.” 
 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

THREE RIVERS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

At a meeting of the Full Council held in the Penn Chamber, Three Rivers House, 
Rickmansworth, on Tuesday, 9 July 2024 from 7.30  - 10.00 pm  
 
Present: Councillors Raj Khiroya, Christopher Alley, Oliver Cooper, Stephen Cox, Harry Davies, 
Elinor Gazzard, Stephen Giles-Medhurst, Philip Hearn, Lisa Hudson, Tony Humphreys, 
Khalid Hussain, Joan King, Stephen King, Chris Lloyd, David Major, Keith Martin, Abbas Merali, 
Chris Mitchell, Debbie Morris, Sarah Nelmes, Louise Price, Kevin Raeburn, Ciaran Reed, 
Andrew Scarth, Narinder Sian, Tom Smith, Jonathan Solomons, Cheryl Stungo, Jon Tankard, 
Chris Whately-Smith and Anne Winter 
 
Officers in Attendance: 
 
Stephen Rix, Associate Director of Legal and Democratic Services (Monitoring Officer) 
Anita Hibbs, Committee Officer 
 

 
1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Ian Morris, Reena Ranger, Steve 
Drury, Rue Grewal, Mike Sims, and Andrea Fraser. 
 

2 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
In response to a question, the Chair confirmed that an amended set of minutes had been 
published on the council’s website and were proposed for agreement at the meeting. 
 
RESOLVED: To confirm, as being a correct record, the minutes of the meeting of Full Council, 
held on 20 February 2024 and Annual Council, held on 21 May 2024 and for them to be 
signed by the Chair. 
 

3 APPOINTMENTS OF THE DEPUTY LEADER OF THE COUNCIL AND LEAD MEMBERS  
 
The Chair announced that he had accepted the item of urgent business to allow for the 
Council to agree replacements to the positions of Deputy Leader and two Lead Member roles. 
The nominations were proposed by Councillor Stephen Giles-Medhurst and seconded by 
Councillor Louise Price. 
 
In response to a question about the vacancies on committees, officers confirmed that in-year 
changes to committee could be made outside of Council meetings by the group leaders 
notifying the Monitoring Officer of changes to their group’s appointments, but where vacancies 
existed which required a review of the Council’s proportionality, such appointments would 
require a report to be agreed by the Council which set out the revised proportionality for its 
agreement. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. To appoint Councillor Sarah Nelmes as Deputy Leader of the Council. 
2. To appoint Councillor Steve Drury to the position of Lead Member for Housing and 

Public Health. 
3. To appoint Councillor Jonathon Solomons to the position of Lead Member for 

Resources. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 

 
4 CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 
The Chair announced that he had attended a range of events since the last meeting of the 
Council, including an event celebrating International Children's Day and the High Sheriff of 
Hertfordshire’s garden party. The Chair further announced that he would add the objective of 
feeding the needy and hungry to his charitable aims for the year alongside the commitment to 
raise money to support those with ovarian cancer 
 

5 PETITIONS  
 
There were no petitions. 
 

6 QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC  
 
There were four questions from the public with written answers provided. There was one 
supplementary question on question four, to which the Lead Member responded to say they 
he supported all sports being played in the district and would be happy to discuss the matter 
further. 
 

7 POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

7a LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME  
 
The recommendations within the report were moved and seconded. 
 
Council debated the proposed timeline for submission of a local plan. 
 
In debate, an amendment was moved and seconded such that the date for approval of the 
plan should be changed to 10 December 2024 for submission in January 2025. The 
amendment was put to the vote and lost. 
 
RESOLVED: On the recommendation of the Policy and Resources Committee, to agree the 
Local Development Scheme as set out in Appendix 2. 
 

7b BUDGET MONITORING REPORT TO 31 JANUARY 2024  
 
The recommendations within the report were moved and seconded. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the revenue budget virements as set out in appendices 1 to 3 be approved and 
incorporated into the three-year medium-term financial plan. 

2. That the revenue budget supplementary estimates as set out in appendices 1 to 3 be 
approved and incorporated into the three-year medium-term financial plan. 

3. That the revenue variances to be managed as set out in appendices 1 to 3 be noted. 
4. That the capital variances as set out in appendices 1 to 3 be approved and 

incorporated into the three-year medium-term financial plan. 

Page 6



 

 
7c BUDGET OUTTURN 2023/24  

 
The recommendations within the report were moved and seconded. 
 
Council debated the long-term financial health of the authority, the forecast changes to interest 
rates which may affect future returns on investments, the continuation of the delivery of 
services by the authority in recent years, and the in-house delivery of refuse collection and 
recycling services. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the favourable revenue year end variance after carry forwards of £0.419m be 
noted. 

2. That the capital year end position as summarised in paragraph 2.11 and Appendix 3 
be noted. 

3. To approve to carry forward the unspent service budgets from 2023/24 to 2024/25 
which total £0.277m to enable completion of projects as detailed at Appendix 2. 

4. To approve the rephasing of capital projects from 2023/24 to 2024/25 detailed at 
Appendix 4. 
 

7d THREE RIVERS BIODIVERSITY POLICY AND BNG UPDATE  
 
The recommendations within the report were moved and seconded. 
 
An amendment to the recommendations was moved and seconded to add within section 5 – 
other relevant associated policies – of the biodiversity net gain policy the phrasing: ‘Three 
Rivers District Council will seek to fully map all riparian rights, duties and biodiversity net gain 
opportunities within the district and publish this information freely available online’. 
 
In debate on the amendment, members debated its implication on the council’s budget and 
that the county council was the lead authority for flooding. The amendment was put to the vote 
and not carried. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. To note the content of the report. 
2. To approve the adoption of the Three Rivers Biodiversity Policy. 
3. To approve the use of the Maple Lodge BNG S106 funding being used on Three 

Rivers District Council owned land as identified in section 6 (Including: Beechen Wood, 
Coombe Hill Road open space, Berry Lane & Mead Place). 

4. To agree in principle for Council owned and maintained land to be considered as 
potential receptor sites with the final decision on individual receptor sites to be 
delegated to the Leisure, Climate Change and Community Committee. 
 

7e LEISURE AND NATURAL INFRASTRUCTURE CONTRACTS 2024  
 
The recommendations within the report were moved and seconded. 
 
RESOLVED: That where external funding is identified in Appendices A and B, the Director of 
Finance be authorised to increase budgets in respect of the additional funding received. 
 

Page 7



 

 
8 LOCAL AREA FORUMS - PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO TERMS OF REFERENCE AT 
ARTICLE 10 OF THE CONSTITUTION  

 
The recommendations within the report were moved and seconded. 
 
An amendment to the recommendations was moved and seconded to clarify to which Local 
Area Forum the unparished areas would be allocated, namely Article 10.01 such that it would 
read: 
 

Chorleywood and Sarratt (including the unparished area west of the M25) 
Rickmansworth (including the unparished area west of the M25) 

 
The amendment was accepted by the mover and seconder and the recommendations, as 
amended, put to the vote and carried. 
 
RESOLVED:  

1. To consider the proposed amendments on local area forums detailed at Annex 1. 
2. To approve the proposed amendments on local area forums at Annex 1, subject to the 

amendment of Article 10.01 to clarify the allocation of unparished areas. 
 

9 CIL SPENDING REQUESTS 2024/2025  
 
The recommendations within the report were moved and seconded. 
 
Members spoke in support of the applications and debated the funding arrangements for the 
pedestrian bridge and the dates on which commitments had been made by various bodies to 
provide funding for the bridge. 
 
RESOLVED: To approve CIL funding for the following scheme detailed in Table 1 of the 
report. 
 

10 LEAD MEMBER REPORTS  
 
Council received the reports of the Leader of the Council and Lead Members. 
 
The Leader of the Council provided a verbal update on two matters: 
 

1. that a further £55,000 had been provided to the authority through tranche four of the 
Household Support Fund and commended officers for their work in securing this 
funding; and 

2. that the planning permission refusal of the Abbots Langley data centre application 
which had been appealed would be considered by the Secretary of State, but that the 
council had appointed counsel to defend the council’s position on the matter. 

 
Further verbal updates were provided by several Lead Members and questions asked thereof. 
 

11 QUESTIONS TO THE LEADER AND LEAD MEMBERS  
 
Council received the questions and responses provided and they were taken as read. 
 

12 REPORTS OF, AND QUESTIONS TO COMMITTEE CHAIRS  
 
Council received the reports of and questions to committee chairs. 
 

13 MOTIONS  
 
The motions listed within the agenda were not moved prior to the closure of the meeting.

Page 8



 

THREE RIVERS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

At an extraordinary meeting of the Full Council held in the Penn Chamber, Three Rivers 
House, Northway, Rickmansworth WD3 1RL, on Monday, 9 September 2024 from 7.00 - 7.21 
pm 
 
Present: Councillors Christopher Alley, Oliver Cooper, Harry Davies, Andrea Fraser, Elinor Gazzard, 
Stephen Giles-Medhurst, Philip Hearn, Lisa Hudson, Keith Martin, Chris Lloyd, David Major, 
Abbas Merali, Chris Mitchell, Debbie Morris, Ian Morris, Sarah Nelmes, Louise Price, Kevin Raeburn, 
Reena Ranger, Ciaran Reed, Andrew Scarth, Narinder Sian, Mike Sims, Tom Smith, 
Jonathan Solomons, Cheryl Stungo, Jon Tankard, Chris Whately-Smith and Anne Winter 
 
Officers in Attendance: 
 
Anita Hibbs, Committee Officer 
Sharon Keenlyside, Senior Committee Officer 
Stephen Rix, Associate director of Legal and Democratic Services (Monitoring Officer) 
Matthew Stickley, Interim Group Manager – Democratic and Electoral Services 
Joanne Wagstaffe, Chief Executive 

 
1 TO CHOOSE A MEMBER TO PRESIDE IF THE CHAIR AND VICE CHAIR BE ABSENT  

 
In the absence of the Chair and Vice Chair, it was moved by Councillor Stephen Giles-
Medhurst and seconded by Councillor Sarah Nelmes that Councillor Keith Martin take the 
chair and preside over the meeting. 
 
RESOLVED: that Councillor Keith Martin take the chair for the duration of the meeting. 
 

2 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Sara Bedford, Stephen Cox, Rue 
Grewal, Tony Humphreys, Raj Khiroya, Joan King, and Stephen King. 
 

3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

4 ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM THE CHAIR OR HEAD OF PAID SERVICE  
 
There were no announcements. 
 

5a SUSPENSION OF PROCEDURE RULES  
 
Council considered the suspension of its procedure rules to allow for the transaction of 
business at item 5b, namely the election of a Leader, Deputy Leader, and Lead Members of 
the Council, and then the election of members to these roles. 
 
Members discussed the fact that the proposals represented the Liberal Democrat group’s 
proposals for the formation of an administration, the proposals to increase the size of the 
Policy and Resources Committee, the number of Lead Members, and that the proposals for 
the number of lead members had not changed from those adopted at the annual meeting on 
21 May 2024. 
 
The recommendations of the report were moved by Councillor Stephen Giles-Medhurst and 
seconded by Councillor Sarah Nelmes. 

Public Document Pack

Page 1Page 9



 

 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. To suspend the procedure rules in accordance with rule 32 for the duration of the 
meeting. 
 

2. To agree the existing appointments of the Leader, Deputy Leader and Lead as set out 
at Appendix A to the report: 
 

a. Leader of the Council: Councillor Stephen Giles-Medhurst 
 

b. Deputy Leader of the Council: Councillor Sarah Nelmes 
 

c. Lead Members: 
 

i. Resources: Councillor Jonathon Solomons 
ii. Infrastructure and Economic Development: Councillor Louise Price 
iii. General Public Services: Councillor Sarah Nelmes 
iv. Housing and Public Health: Councillor Steve Drury 
v. Leisure: Councillor Chris Lloyd 
vi. Community Safety and Partnerships: Councillor Andrew Scarth 
vii. Sustainability and Climate Change: Councillor Jon Tankard 

 
5b APPOINTMENT OF THE LEADER, DEPUTY LEADER, AND LEAD MEMBERS  

 
Council considered proposed appointments to the positions of Deputy Leader of the Council 
and Lead Members. 
 
Members discussed the number of lead members, the size of the Policy and Resources 
Committee, and the proposed allocation of two independent members to the Audit Committee. 
 
The recommendations of the report were moved by Councillor Stephen Giles-Medhurst and 
seconded by Councillor Sarah Nelmes. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. To approve the establishment of the committees, sub-committees, and other bodies, 
and proportionality thereof, as set out at Appendix A. 

2. To approve the appointments of the Chairs and Vice Chairs as set out at Appendix B. 
3. To approve the appointments of members to committees, sub-committees, and other 

bodies as set out at Appendix B. 
4. To agree that where there are any outstanding places the relevant political group may 

give written notice to the Monitoring Officer of their appointments 10 clear days before 
the relevant committee is due to meet. 

5. To agree that the political groups may notify the Monitoring Officer of any in-year 
changes to committee membership by giving written notice 10 clear days before the 
relevant committee is due to meet. 

6. To delegate authority to the Monitoring Officer to fill any vacant seats reserved for co-
opted members, be they unfilled by Council or made vacant through resignation, 
following the normal recruitment processes for those roles and subject to consultation 
with the Chair of the relevant committee and the Leaders of the political groups. 

7. To delegate authority to the Monitoring Officer to make any consequential changes to 
the constitution arising out of this report, such as changes to committee names, size, 
procedures, and removal of reference to committees not established. 

Page 2Page 10



 

 
6 COMMITTEE SIZES, SEATS, CHAIRS AND VICE CHAIRS  

 
Council debated the changes to committee sizes, the allocation of seats to independent 
members, and membership of the Local Area Fora. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. To approve the establishment of the committees, sub-committees, and other bodies, 
and proportionality thereof, as set out at Appendix A. 

 
2. To approve the appointments of the Chairs and Vice Chairs as set out at Appendix B. 

 
3. To approve the appointments of members to committees, sub-committees, and other 

bodies as set out at Appendix B.  
 

4. To agree that where there are any outstanding places the relevant political group may 
give written notice to the Monitoring Officer of their appointments 10 clear days before 
the relevant committee is due to meet.  

 
5. To agree that the political groups may notify the Monitoring Officer of any in-year 

changes to committee membership by giving written notice 10 clear days before the 
relevant committee is due to meet.  

 
6. To delegate authority to the Monitoring Officer to fill any vacant seats reserved for co-

opted members, be they unfilled by Council or made vacant through resignation, 
following the normal recruitment processes for those roles and subject to consultation 
with the Chair of the relevant committee and the Leaders of the political groups.  

 
7. To delegate authority to the Monitoring Officer to make any consequential changes to 

the constitution arising out of this report, such as changes to committee names, size, 
procedures, and removal of reference to committees not established. 

 
7 APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES  

 
Council considered proposals to appoint to outside bodies. 
 
The recommendations of the report were moved by Councillor Steven Giles-Medhurst and 
seconded by Councillor Sarah Nelmes subject to the inclusion of Councillor Andrea Fraser as 
a member of the Environmental Forum. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. To approve the appointments to outside bodies and internal bodies as set out at 
Appendix A subject to the inclusion of Councillor Andrea Fraser as a member of the 
Environmental Forum. 

2. To agree that where there are any outstanding places the relevant political group may 
give written notice to the Monitoring Officer of their appointments. 

3. To agree that the political groups may notify the Monitoring Officer of any in-year 
changes to outside body membership by giving written notice. 

4. To delegate authority to the Monitoring Officer to make any consequential changes to 
the constitution arising out of this report. 

 
 

CHAIRMAN 
 

Page 3Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

Page 1 of 2 
 

Question from Paul Boyle to the Lead Member for Leisure: 
 
I have raised this issue in writing multiple times over the past 3 years but do not 
believe the danger of flying golf balls on Rickmansworth Golf Course is being taken 
seriously.  
 
Playing from Tee 11 there is significant danger to players walking up the fairway of 
hole 7. Often they cannot be seen by players from the 11th tee, and they will not be 
aware of balls potentially coming towards them from tee 11. Being hit by a golf ball 
could be life threatening and/ or cause serious injury.  
 
When this issue was initially raised by myself 3 years ago work was supposed to 
have (1) realigned tee 11 to encourage players to hit the ball away from the 7th 
fairway , and (2) consider planting trees or erect a fence to the right of tee 11. The 
tee was relaid but no change in direction was made. No trees or fence have been 
erected.  
 
The hole is in my opinion seriously dangerous and an accident will happen at some 
stage. It is not IF but WHEN.  
 
I have suggested on multiple occasions to employ a professional course designer 
who can provide a risk assessment of this potential danger. This would then 
conclude the matter either way.  
 
This suggestion has been ignored by TRDC who control the golf course. Until this 
professional risk assessment has taken place I believe TRDC are negligent in 
providing a suitable safety sporting facility to the public.  
 

1. Why has TRDC allowed this dangerous facility to remain open when it has 
potential to cause serious harm (potentially fatal) to its public who use it? 

2. Why has a professional written risk assessment not taken place? 
3. Why is no record kept of “near misses” at Rickmansworth Golf Club? 

 
Written response: 
 
Rickmansworth Golf Course is not a dangerous facility. There have been no 
recorded or reported accidents or incidents that would provide any support for such a 
statement.  
 
Originally part of the Moor Park Estate, the course was designed by famous architect 
Harry Shapland Colt. In 1937, Rickmansworth Urban District Council purchased the 
site from Moor Park Golf Club and opened it up to the general public. 
 
In 2000, with the aid of a Lottery Sports Award, Three Rivers District Council 
redeveloped the course, lengthening it to include a par five hole and increasing the 
Par to 65 for men and 63 for women. 
 
A landscaped short game practice area for pitching, putting and chipping was also 
included and an extensive programme of lessons was developed and the popular 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

Page 2 of 2 
 

par three course, known as “Little Ricky”, was made more challenging. 
Rickmansworth Golf Course layout has not changed in at least 24 years.  
  
Despite the factual data indicating no accidents or near misses have occurred at 
Rickmansworth golf course, on 8 December 2020, officers, councillors and 
managers from Everyone Active met with Mr Boyle at Rickmansworth Golf Course to 
discuss the concerns that he had and to discuss whether there could be some 
reasonable changes that could be made to address those perceived concerns. 
Further guidance was sought from the manager and owner of the green-keeping 
company, who undertake work on behalf of Everyone Active, on which steps could 
reasonably be actioned.  
   
Following those meetings, officers provided an update, via email dated 17 February 
2021, which advised the actions that the Council and Everyone Active had agreed to 
progress. These were set out as: 
 

 Reconfiguration of the yellow tee, on the 11th hole, to bring the tee box over 
to the right, as discussed at your site meeting   

 Repositioning of the bunker on the 11th fairway to add protection to those on 
the 12th which is behind the 11th 

 Additional trees to be planted along both sides of the 11th fairway near to the 
6th and 12th tees to provide some further coverage for those on the adjacent 
holes 

 Signage on the 1st tee regarding golfers having their own insurance 
 Sign on the 6th tee to warn of golfers on the 11th  

   
All of the agreed actions have been completed. It is a fact that actions were 
identified, agreed by all parties, and have been implemented.  
  
On the 4 September 2024, Officers responded to Mr Boyle to state that the 
correspondence from Mr Boyle on the 29 August 2024 did not raise or highlight 
anything that had not already been dealt with through the previously agreed actions. 

Page 14



___________________________________________________________________ 

FULL COUNCIL 

Tuesday, 20 February 2024 

___________________________________________________________________ 

Budget Monitoring Report to 30 June 2024 

Meeting date: 9 September 2024 

 

Recommendation(s) to Council: 

 

1. That the revenue budget virements as set out in appendices 1 to 3 be 

approved and incorporated into the three-year medium-term financial plan. 

2. That the revenue budget supplementary estimates as set out in appendices 1 

to 3 be approved and incorporated into the three-year medium-term financial 

plan. 

3. That the revenue variances to be managed as set out in appendices 1 to 3 be 

noted. 

4. That the capital variances as set out in appendices 1 to 3 be approved and 

incorporated into the three-year medium-term financial plan. 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 

9 SEPTEMBER 2024 

PART I  

 
BUDGET MONITORING REPORT TO 30 JUNE 2024 

(DIRECTOR OF FINANCE) 

 

1 Budget Monitoring Summary 

1.1   Budget monitoring report is a key tool in scrutinising the Council’s financial performance and is 

designed to provide an overview to all relevant stakeholders.  It is essential that the council 

monitors its budgets throughout the year to ensure that it is meeting its strategic objectives within 

its resource limits and, where necessary, corrective action is taken.  A key principle of budgetary 

control is to align the budget holders’ financial responsibilities and their management 

responsibilities. 

1.2 This report shows the expected financial position over the three year medium term based on the 
Council’s actual financial performance at the end of period 3 (30 June 2024) set against the latest 
budget. 

1.3 Revenue Summary 

1.3.1   The original 2024/25 budget as approved by Council 20 February 2024 was £14.159m. The latest 

budget which totals £14.436m includes the variances previously reported to Policy & Resources 

Committee in March 2024 (Period 10 Budget Monitoring) and Council in July 2024 (2023/24 year 

end report) The forecast year end position for 2024/25 at Period 3 is estimated to be £14.406m 

giving a favourable variance of (£0.030m).      

1.3.2   The table below shows how the forecast year end position has been constructed: 

       Revenue Budget 2024/25 £000 

Original Net Revenue Budget 14,159 

Carry Forward from 2023/24 (Year end report July 2024) 277 

Original Budget Plus Carry Forwards from 2023/24 14,436 

Supplementary Estimates to budget reported at Period 3 (to be 
approved) 

146 

Variances to budget reported at Period 3 (to be noted) (176) 

Forecast Total Net Expenditure 2024/25 14.406 

 

Page 17



 

1.3.3 The main variances are shown in the table below:  

Committee 

  2024/25 Revenue Account - General Fund Summary 

    (C) (A)   (B) (B-A) (B-C) 

Original 
Budget  

Original 
Budget 

Plus 
2023/24 
Carry 

Forwards  

Latest 
Budget  

Previous 
Forecast 

Net 
Spend 
to Date 

Latest 
Forecast 

Supplimentary 
Estimates and 

Variances 

Variation 
to Latest 
Budget 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

General Public 
Services, 
Community 
Safety & 
Infrastructure 

           
4,481  

         
4,535  

         
4,535  

         
4,535  

(551)       4,881  346 346 

Climate 
Change, 
Leisure & 
Housing 

           
1,952  

         
2,033  

         
2,033  

         
2,033  

(1,355)       2,030  (3) (3) 

Policy & 
Resources 

           
5,270  

         
5,411  

         
5,411  

         
5,411  

         
4,896  

      5,538  127 127 

Total Service 
Budgets 

      
11,703  

    11,980  
    
11,980  

    11,980  
      
2,990  

    12,449  470 470 

Corporate 
Costs (Interest 
Earned/Paid) 
and Parish 
Precepts 

           
2,456  

         
2,456  

         
2,456  

         
2,456  

         
1,236  

      1,956  (500) (500) 

Net General 
Fund 

      
14,159  

    14,436  
    

14,436  
    14,436  

      
4,226  

    14,406  (30) (30) 

 

1.3.4   The significant supplementary estimates and variances above include inflationary increases in 
contracts, the cost or recycling materials and interest on investments.. 

1.4 Capital Summary 

1.4.1   The original 2024/25 capital budget as approved by Council 20 February 2024 was £5.377m The 

latest budget which totals £12.904m for 2024/25 includes the variances previously reported to 

Policy & Resources Committee in March 2024 (Period 10 Budget Monitoring) and Council in July 

2024 (2023/24 year end report) The forecast Year end position for 2024/25 is now estimated to be 

£18.588m, which reflects rephasing of £7.527m from 2023/24 and additional funding received for 

2024/25. 

 

 

 
Page 18



 

1.4.2 The table below shows how the forecast Year end position has been constructed: 

Capital Investment Programme 2024/25 £000 

Original Budget 5,377 

Rephasing from 2023/24 7,527 

Latest Approved Budget (Council July 2024) 12.904 

Variances to budget reported at Period 3 (to be approved) 5,684 

Forecast Capital Expenditure 2024/25 18,588 

 

1.4.3 The forecast variances to agreed budget are shown in the table below: 

 

Description £000 

EV Charging Points 

Additional budget to be funded by a capital contribution from Department of 
Transport ORCS Funding 

 

76 

Waste Services Depot 

CIL spend approved at Full Council 9/7/24 

 

456 

CIL Community Grants 

CIL contribution paid to Sarratt Parish Council approved at Policy & Resources 
committee 17/7/23   

 

184 

 

Aquadrome Bridge Replacement 

CIL spend approved at Full Council 9/7/24 

 

817 

UK Shared Prosperity 

Capital grant received from UK Shared Prosperity Fund 

 

211 

Local Authority Housing Fund 

Payment made in March 2024 for acquisition of 11 units in South Oxhey which 
was delayed until April 2024. Accounting entries applied and unused budget 
now required to be transferred from 2023/24 to 2024/25 

 

3,913 

Others 

 

 

27 

Total Capital Variance 5,684 

 

 

 

 
Page 19



 

 

 

 

 

1.5 Reserves Summary  

1.5.1   The potential effect of both the revenue and capital variances upon on each reserve at summary 

level is shown in the table below.  A list of reserve balances is shown at Appendix 7. 

Description 

Balance at 
1 April 2024 

Movement 
Balance at 
31 March 

2025 

£000 £000 £000 

Capital Reserves  (15,249) (1,470) (16,719) 

Earmarked Reserves (20,417) (563) (20,980) 

Economic Impact Reserve (1,068) 148 (920) 

General Fund  (4,964) 299 (4,665) 

Total (41,698) (1,586) (43,284) 

 

2 Details 

2.1 Revenue Budget 

2.1.1   The Council’s latest approved services budget (excluding corporate budgets) is £11.980m.The 

forecast year end position is now estimated to be £12.450m which results in an unfavourable 

service variance of £0.470m. After taking account of Corporate Costs, the total favourable variation 

is (£0.030m).   

2.1.2   The table below shows the supplementary estimates and variances to be managed against each 

Committee. The position of each cost centre and an explanation of the main variances for each 

committee are set out in the detailed committee monitoring reports at Appendices 1 to 3 and within 

the Corporate Costs Medium Term Revenue Budget at appendix 4.  

Committee 

Supplementary 
Estimates 

£000 

Variances to be 
managed 

£000 

Total 

 

£000 

General Public Services, Community Safety 
and Infrastructure 25  319 344 

Climate Change, Leisure and Housing 0 0 0 

Policy and Resources 121 5 126 

Total 146 324 470 

Corporate Costs (Interest Earned/ Paid) and 
Parish Precepts  

0 (500) (500) 

Net General Fund 146 (176) (30) 

 

Page 20



2.1.3   Within appendices 1 to 3, annex B sets out the supplementary estimates, variances to be 

managed, and budget virements requested for each committee.   

2.1.4   The budget virements requested enable effective budget management by ensuring that budgets 

are aligned to service activity, management responsibilities, and reflect grant income and planned 

use of reserves.  Budget virements must always net to zero across the Council’s budget.   Policy 

and Resources Committee is recommended to approve the budget virements at paragraph 10.1.    

2.1.5   Supplementary estimates totalling £0.146m are requested at the end of Period 3. Supplementary 

estimates are requested when there is certainty that a budget pressure will arise, and the pressure 

cannot be managed within the service area.  Supplementary estimates are funded by an increase 

in the contribution from General Balances and if agreed, result in the latest budget being updated 

to reflect the agreed expenditure.  The impact of agreeing the additional budget is taken into 

account in the General Fund reserves forecast at paragraph 2.2.1.  Policy and Resources 

Committee is recommended to approve the budget virements at paragraph 10.2.    

2.1.6   At the end of Period 3, variances to be managed total (£0.176m).  The Policy and Resources 

Committee is recommended to note these variances at paragraph 10.3. 

 

  

2.2 Revenue Reserve Position -  

2.2.1   The effect of all Period 3 variances on the Council’s General Fund Reserve over the medium term 

is shown in the table below: 

  2024/25  2025/26 2026/27 

Movement on 
General Fund 

Balance 
Original         

Latest 
Budget  

Previous 

Forecast 

Latest 
Forecast  

 
Latest    Latest    

 
£000 £000 £000 £000  £000 £000 

Balance Brought 
Forward at 1 April 

(4,964) (4,964) (4,964) (4,964) 
 

(4,665) (4,524) 

(Surplus)/Deficit for 
Year 

201 477 477 299 
 

140 202 

Closing Balance at 
31 March 

(4,763) (4,487) (4,487) (4,665) 
 

(4,524) (4,322) 

 

2.2.2   A prudent minimum general fund balance of £2.000m is considered appropriate.  The general fund 

balance is forecast to remain above this minimum level over the medium term.   

2.2.3   The Council also has the Economic Impact Reserve which is held to manage the impact of 

economic fluctuations.  The reserve will be used in 2024/25 to fund the shortfall on the SLM 

management contract income as a result of the impact of COVID-19 on the leisure contract and 

the reprofiling of the management fee in the following table: 

   2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

Movement on 
Economic Impact 

Reserve 
Original         

Latest 
Budget  

Previous 

Forecast 

Latest 
Forecast 

Latest    Latest    

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £ 

  Balance at 1 April (1,068) (1,068) (1,068) (1,068) (920) (773) 

  COVID-19 Impact for 
Year 

0 0 0 148 148 0 

Closing Balance at 31 
March 

(1,068) (1,068) (1,068) (920) (773) (773) Page 21



 

2.2.4   After taking account of the Economic Impact Reserve, the Council’s unrestricted reserves position 

is forecast to remain above the £2.0m risk assessed level across the MTFP at £5.095m as at 31 

March 2027 see Appendix 6.  

2.3 Investment Portfolio 

2.3.1   The Council’s Property Investment Board was allocated up to a total of £20.000m in 2017 to invest 

in acquiring property with a specific remit of achieving a 5% return (yield) on the investment. The 

table below shows those properties that the Council has acquired, the 2024/25 receivable rent, 

and the resulting yield.  

2.3.2   The total rent due is forecast to be £1.044m which will achieve an average yield of 5.80%, above 

the 5% target.  

 

 

2.3.3 The governance of property investments is covered in the Property Investment Strategy.  

Investment 
Property 

2024/25 
rent 

Total 
cost of 

property 
Yield  

Comments 

£000 £000 % 

Nottingham (205) 4,469 4.59% 

Acquisition of freehold interest located in the city 
centre of Nottingham let to commercial tenants, for a 
combined rental of £227,600pa on a 10 year lease 
from Feb 2018 which is subject to upward only rent 
reviews in Feb 2023.   With effect from the Feb 2023, 
Barclays Bank Plc rent has been negotiated and 
agreed at £145,000 pa. This will be to lease end Feb 
2028.  Due to financial difficulties which a number of 
high street brands have encountered, one tenant 
company was under a Company Voluntary 
Agreement (CVA). Effective from the 2/9/20 to 
8/4/2023, paying only a concessionary rent of 
£12,000 pa as opposed to the contracted rent of 
£60,000 pa.  Property Services have, with effect from 
the end of the CVA, reverted the rent back to 
£60,000 pa. A rent challenge has been lodged by the 
Tenant with TRDC, querying the reversion of rent to 
the original contracted rent of £60k after the CVA.  
The tenant is continuing to pay the concessionary 
rate until a market review is carried out. The 
projection will be reviewed after the market rent 
review and backdated to 8 April 2023. 

Norwich (523) 7,169 7.30% 

Acquisition of a freehold interest located in the city 
centre of Norwich. Let to commercial sitting tenants 
for 20 year lease from December 2007. The rent due 
wef 21-12-21was £468,670. The rent is reviewed 
annually in line with RPI, with a collar and cap 
arrangement of 3% and 5% respectively. However 
the lease requires that every 5th year a market rent 
review is undertaken .  Rent review undertaken and it 
has been decided to uplift rent wef 21-12-22 by cap 
rate of 5%.  This will result in an annual rental figure 
of £492103.58. A rent uplift by the cap of 5% has 
been assumed to be effective from 21-12-23 , thus 
resulting in an annual rent of  £516,709. 

Lincoln Drive 
(South Oxhey) 

(151) 2,740 5.51% 

The purchase of a Temporary Accommodation hostel 
at Lincoln Drive, South Oxhey. This comprises of 20 
units with a mixture of 1, 2 and 3 bedrooms. This 
represents the net rent after the deduction of the 
management fee payable to Watford Community Page 22



Housing which includes voids and the provision for 
bad debts. 

The Grapevine (165) 0 0.00% 

A joint venture development with Watford Community 
Housing on the ex-public house site 'The Grapevine'. 
Loan facilities provided by TRDC to Three Rivers 
Homes Ltd comprises of £5.182M with an interest 
payment at 4.8% for the market rate loan and 2.5% 
for the Social Loan.  Principal repayments amounts 
will have now come into effect from 31-3-24 for both 
loans.  These figures are according to the revised 
Principal Loan repayment schedules.   The projected 
interest figures will be revised accordingly. Interest 
earned for both loans amount to £165k for the yeat 
2024-25  

Total (1,044) 14,378  5.80% Average Yield 

 
2.4 Capital Programme 

2.4.1   The Council’s capital programme has been designed to support and enhance its core services and 

priorities. The Council’s Medium Term Capital Investment Programme is shown by scheme by 

each Committee at Annex C in Appendices 1 to 3 and includes variances and commentary from 

officers.  

2.4.2   The latest Capital budget including re-phasing from 2023/24 is £12.904m. The forecast year end 

position for capital expenditure by Services at Period 3 is £18.588m. This provides a variance to 

latest budget of £5.684m.  The Policy and Resources Committee is recommended to approve a 

revised capital programme budget taking account of the budget variations as set out in appendices 

1 to 3 at paragraph 10.4.   

2.4.3   The table below shows the 2024/25 original budget, latest budget, forecast year end position, 

spend to date and variance for Period 3. 

Committee 

Origina
l 

Budget 

£000 

Original 
Budget 

Plus 
2023/24 

Rephasin
g 

Latest                
Budge

t                   
£000 

Spend 
to 

Date 
£000 

Year 
end 

Forecas
t 

£000 

Varianc
e 

 

£000 

General Public Services, 
Community Safety & 
Infrastructure 

2,036 3.012 3,012 315 3,728 717 

Climate Change, Leisure & 
Housing 

2,092 2,624 2,624 218 3,678 1,054 

Policy & Resources 1,249 1,422 1,422 74 1,422 0 

Total Service 5,377 7,059 7,069 607 8,830 1,771 

Major Projects:       

Property Investment Board 

Local Authority Housing Fund 

0 

0 

0 

5,845 

0 

5,845 

1 

3,920 

0 

9,758 

            0               
3,913 

Total Capital 5,377 12,904 12,904 4,527 18,588 5,684 

Page 23



 
2.4.4   As at the end of Period 3, the spend totalled £4.527m and represents 35.08% of the latest budget.  

2.4.5   The capital programme is mainly supported by three income streams; capital receipts (derived 

from the sales of assets), grants and contributions, and the use of reserves.  In addition, the 

Council may prudentially borrow to fund its capital programme. Decisions on borrowing (amount 

and duration) will be taken when the need arises.  Funding of the capital investment programme 

over the medium term is shown at Appendix 5.   

2.5 Key Risk Areas 

2.5.1   Resources are allocated in the revenue and capital budgets to support the achievement of The 

Council’s corporate plan.  The Council’s budget is exposed to risks that can potentially impact on 

service level provision. The key risks highlighted as part of this quarter’s monitoring are; 

 Inflation  
The 12 month Consumer Price Index (CPI) was 2.0% for June 2024 and the Retail Price Index 
(RPI) was 2.9%.  Inflation drives costs across the Council’s budgets with the most significant 
impact on pay, fuel and energy costs.  The impact on the Council’s budget is set out section 
2.6 below.   
 

 Pay Award  

The pay award for 2024/25 has not been agreed and negotiations are likely to continue into 
the Autumn. The central contingency is sufficient to meet the current employers offer with a 
small margin of headroom remaining should the offer be improved. Dependant on the final pay 
award the contingency may not be sufficient to meet this plus other inflationary figures in their 
entirety and some costs may fall against the reserves. 

 

 

 

 Business Rates & Council Tax 

The cost of living crisis, low economic growth and risk of recession will continue to place 
pressure on households and businesses throughout 2024/25 and may impact on the collection 
rates for Council Tax and Business Rates (NNDR - National Non Domestic Rates).  The table 
below shows the impact on collection rates in the first three months of this year: 

 

 

Fund    

P3 

2024/25 

Target 

P3 

2024/25 

Actual 

Difference 

Council Tax  24.51% 31.1%         6.59% 

Business Rates (NNDR) 24.75% 24.06% -0.69% 

 

As at 30 June, collection rates for Council Tax are ahead of target and NNDR are slightly 
behind target, however, this reflects the profile of payment plan options such as the payment 
of Council Tax over 10 months of the year rather than 12.  Year on year, the collection of 
Council Tax is marginally ahead of the position reported at 30 June 2023 when 30.3% (0.8%) 
of Council Tax due had been collected and Business Rate is behind when 34.57% (-10.51%) 
of Business Rates due had been collected.   

 

Any impact on collection rates will feed through the Collection Fund to impact on council 
spending power in 2025/26 through the Collection Fund surplus or deficit. 

 

 Page 24



 Recycling Costs 

The Council has a contract for the disposal of recycling.  The cost of the contract is variable 
and is linked to the global commodities market.  The price can fluctuate significantly and when 
demand for recyclable materials is high the Council receives income for the recycling.  
Currently, the Council faces a cost to dispose of recycling as demand for materials has 
reduced.  Recent economic performance data released from China, where the economy 
appears to have entered a recession, suggests that demand for recyclable materials could 
remain low for longer, increasing the cost to the Council.   

 

At present the Council is being prudent in its forecasting and assuming that recyclable income 
will not recover. The graph below shows the cost of, or the income received for the last 4 
years to/from our recycling contractor and illustrates how this position can change in year. 

 

 

 

 

 Interest Rates 

The Bank of England’s response to high inflation has been to utilise monetary policy by 
increasing the Bank of England Base Rate.  This has impacted on the cost at which 
government can borrow and has fed through to the rates at which Councils can borrow from 
HM Treasury through the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB), rates that can be achieved from 
deposits with HM Treasury through the Debt Management Office (DMO), local authority to 
local authority lending and borrowing, and the interest rates offered by banks on current 
accounts and fixed deposits.  The Council’s cashflow forecasts indicate that the Council does 
not have a borrowing requirement during 2024/25. Therefore, the risk to the Council is on the 
upside, as higher interest rates mean that the Council will be able to generate more income 
from investing cash balances.  The Council’s Treasury Management activity is reported to the 
Audit Committee and the performance against budget is contained within this report in 
Appendix 4.    

 
2.5.2   The Council’s overall key financial risk matrix is shown at Appendix 7. These are reported and 

monitored and reviewed by the Council’s Audit Committee on a quarterly basis. The latest matrix 

was presented to the Audit Committee on 30 May 2024. 

 

Page 25



 
2.6 Impact of inflation 

2.6.1   Energy costs are expected to continue to place pressure on budgets in year although the pressure 
has not materialised in actual costs to 30 June 2024.  As far as possible, services will be expected 
to absorb increased costs by managing other expenditure.   

 
2.7 Council Income 

2.7.1   The chart below shows the amount of income for each source as a percentage of total income. 

 

 

 

 
2.7.2   Particular income generating items can fluctuate depending on the economic climate, popularity 

and affordability.  The main risks that are considered the most critical and their financial position 

are shown in the table below. It should be noted that the income receivable from the Planning 

Services and Parking Enforcement are not linear and are subject to peaks and troughs throughout 

the financial year.  

2.7.3   Environmental Services, trade waste is invoiced to customers half yearly in April and October and 

garden waste for existing customers is charged for in one instalment at the beginning of the 

financial year.  

2.7.4   Garage rents are charged on a weekly basis and are collected by a monthly direct debit. Licensing 
income relates licences which are issued on a one, three or five year basis. 

 

Page 26



Service Income 
Stream 

 

2024/25 

Original 
Budget  

£ 

2024/25 

Latest 
Budget 

£ 

2024/25 

Actual 
to date 

£ 

2024/25 

Year 
end 

Forecast  

£ 

2024/2
5 

Varian
ce 

 

£ 

Regulatory 
Services  

Application 
Fees 

(846,420) (846,420) (249,429) (846,420) 0 

Licenses (207,135) (207,135 (56,737) (207,135) 0 

Parking  

 

Penalty 
Charge 
Notices 

 

(115,000) 

 

(115,000) (47,665) (115,000) 0 

Pay and 
Display 

(242,750) (242,750) (57,559) (242,750) 0 

Environmental 
Protection 

Trade 
Refuse 

(907,865) (907,865) (427,830) (907,865) 0 

Garden 
Waste 

(1,583,200) (1,583,200) (1,566,748) (1,583,200) 0 

Clinical 
Waste 

(123,825) (123,825) (61,786) (123,825) 0 

Cemeteries (242,243) (242,243) (79,650) (242,243) 0 

Property 
Services 

Garages (1,107,950) (1,107,950) (801,494) (1,107,950) 0 

Shops (210,000) (210,000) (106,753) (210,000) 0 

Investment 
Properties 

 

(950,499) 

 

(950,499) 

 

(367,726) 

 

(950,499) 0 

 

  

2.7.5   Further details on the Council’s key budget indicators for revenue service income streams 

(including volumes and trends) are shown in the detailed Committee Monitoring Reports at 

Appendices 1 to 3. 

   
2.8 Debtors (invoicing) 

2.8.1   The Council charges its customers for various services by raising debtor invoices. If the debt 

remains outstanding, then a variety of recovery methods are employed including rearranging the 

payment terms, stopping the provision of the service or pursing the debt through the legal recovery 

process. 

2.8.2   As at the end of Period 3 (June), the total outstanding debt was £1.669m. This is equivalent to 

6.23% of total budgeted income of £26.800m. Debts less than one month old total £1.053m 

(63.07% of total debt) and it is considered that this sum will be recovered.  Outstanding debt over a 

year old is £0.171m (10.24% of the total debt) which mainly relate to rent on a Commercial 

Property where the tenant was subject to a CVA and Temporary Accommodation. The Council’s 

debt recovery team will continue to chase these debts and initiate payment plans (instalments) 

wherever possible. 

Page 27



 

2.8.3 The table below shows a summary of the outstanding debt by the three main aged categories. 

Aged debt  Services 

 

Under 1 
Month 

Over 1 
Month 
to year 

Over a 
year 

Total 

Committee  £ £ £ £ 

General Public 
Services, 
Community 
Safety & 
Infrastructure 

Community Partnerships 19,920 2,751 1,055 23,726 

Economic Development 
and Planning Policy 

0 0 7,463 7,463 

Public Services 13,751 68,951 2,493 85,195 

Climate 
Change, 
Leisure & 
Housing 

Housing, Public Health 
and Wellbeing 

5,117 26,243 58,680 90,040 

Leisure 11,712 75,813 0 23,726 

Sustainability & Climate 0 0 0 0 

Policy & 
Resources  

Resources 
1,002,28

2 
247,165 

100,99
4 

1,350,44
1 

Leader 0 24,742 220 24,962 

Total   
1,052,78

2 
445,665 

170,90
5 

1,669,35
2 

 

2.9 Treasury Management  

2.9.1   The Council has managed its cash flows and adhered to its Treasury Management policy during 

the period to 30 June. The interest earned on the investments made by the Council supports the 

funding of the services it provides. The Council set an original budget of £0.390m on short-term 

investment interest for 2024/25, this is being revised to £0.890m at Period 3. The Bank of England 

base interest rate was 5.25% on 1st April 2024 and has not changed. The base rate was therefore 

5.25% at the end of the period.   

2.10 Staff Vacancy Monitoring 

2.10.1   A major risk of non-delivery of service is where key staff leave the Council’s employ and there is a 

delay or difficulty in recruiting suitable candidates to fill the vacant post.  The table below 

summarises the level of vacancies at the end of June 2024 with a detailed analysis by service 

within appendices 1 to 3. 

Committee No of 
Vacancie

s 

General Public Services, Community Safety & Infrastructure 3 

Climate Change, Leisure & Housing 1 

Policy & Resources 4 

Total 8 Page 28



 
2.10.2   The percentage of vacant posts at the end of the second quarter is 2.21% when compared against 

the total number of 362 Council posts. In some cases, vacant posts will be covered by agency staff 

to ensure service delivery. 

3 Options and Reasons for Recommendations 

3.1   The recommendations below enable the Committee to make recommendations to Council to agree 

the allocation of financial resources to delivery Council services.   

 

4 Policy/Budget Reference and Implications 

4.1 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution and Financial Procedure Rules, if the 
recommendations are accepted, this will amend the Council’s budgets for 2024/25, and over the 
MTFP. 

4.2 There are no substantial changes to Council policy resulting from this report. 

5 Financial Implications 

5.1 The following revenue and capital variations have been identified for all service committees at 30 
June 2024: 

Variance 
2024/25 

£ 

2025/26 

£ 

2026/27 

£ 

Revenue - (Favourable)/ Unfavourable (30,228) 136,229 136,229 

Capital - Increase / (Decrease) 5,684,400 0 0 
5.2  

5.3 The explanations relating to these variations are set out in the main body of this report and 
supporting appendices.  

5.4  

6 Legal Implications 

6.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report.  

7 Equal Opportunities Implications 

7.1 Relevance Test 

Has a relevance test been completed for Equality Impact? No 

Did the relevance test conclude a full impact assessment was required?  No 

 

8 Staffing, Environmental, Community Safety, Public Health, Customer Services Centre, 
Communications and Website Implications 

8.1 There are no relevant implications directly arising from this report. 

9 Risk and Health & Safety Implications 

9.1 The Council has agreed its risk management strategy which can be found on the website at 
http://www.threerivers.gov.uk.  In addition, the risks of the proposals in the report have also been 
assessed against the Council’s duties under Health and Safety legislation relating to employees, 
visitors and persons affected by our operations.  The risk management implications of this report 
are detailed below. 

Page 29



9.2   The Financial and Budgetary risks are set out in Appendix 8 and are also reported to each meeting 

of the Audit Committee.   FIN07, which captures the risk that the medium term financial position 

worsens, is also reported within the Council’s Strategic Risk Register.   

9.3 The risks set out in Appendix 8 are scored using the matrix below.  The Council has determined its 
aversion to risk and is prepared to tolerate risks where the combination of impact and likelihood 
scores 6 or less. 

10 Recommendation 

To Council: 

10.1 That the revenue budget virements as set out in appendices 1 to 3 be approved and incorporated 
into the three-year medium-term financial plan. 

10.2 That the revenue budget supplementary estimates as set out in appendices 1 to 3 be approved 
and incorporated into the three-year medium-term financial plan. 

10.3 That the revenue variances to be managed as set out in appendices 1 to 3 be noted. 

10.4 That the capital variances as set out in appendices 1 to 3 be approved and incorporated into the 
three-year medium-term financial plan. 

 

Data Quality 

Data sources: 

Council’s financial ledger 

Data checked by:  

Sally Riley, Finance Business Partner 

Data rating:  

1 Poor  

2 Sufficient  

3 High  

 

Background Papers 

Budget papers to Council – February 2024 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



 
 
 
 
 
 
APPENDICES / ATTACHMENTS 
 

 Appendix 1  General Public Services and Economic Development Committee Detailed Monitoring 
Report 

    Annex A - Medium term revenue budget by service 

    Annex B - Explanations of revenue variances reported this Period 

    Annex C - Medium term capital investment programme 

    Annex D - Explanations of capital variances reported this Period 

    Annex E – Key Income Streams 

 Appendix 2 Climate Change, Leisure and Community Committee Detailed Monitoring Report 

    Annex A - Medium term revenue budget by service 

    Annex B - Explanations of revenue variances reported this Period 

    Annex C - Medium term capital investment programme 

    Annex D - Explanations of capital variances reported this Period 

 Appendix 3 Policy and Resources Committee Detailed Monitoring Report 

    Annex A - Medium term revenue budget by service 

    Annex B - Explanations of revenue variances reported this Period 

    Annex C - Medium term capital investment programme 

    Annex D - Explanations of capital variances reported this Period 

    Annex E – Key Income Streams 

 Appendix 4  Corporate Costs Medium Term Revenue Budget 

 Appendix 5  Funding the capital programme  

 Appendix 6  Medium Term Financial Plan 2024-2027 

 Appendix 7  Reserves Forecast 2024/25 

 Appendix 8 Budgetary Risks 

 

 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 

 
General Public Services, Community Safety and Infrastructure Committee Detailed Monitoring Report 

 
Overview 

1. This appendix sets out the detailed financial monitoring position for budgets within the scope of the General 
Public Services, Community Safety and Infrastructure (GPSCSI) Committee.  The forecast is based on the 
position as at Period 3 which covers the period from 1 April 2024 to 30 June 2024.   
 

Revenue 

2. The latest forecast is net expenditure of £4.881m against the latest budget of £4.535m. This is an unfavourable 
variance of £0.346m. The detailed revenue budgets and MTFP forecast is set out in Annex A.   
 

 

 

 

3. Annex B sets out the main variations to budget.   
 

4. Income Streams 
 

The key income streams are detailed in Annex E.  All are currently on target to achieve budget income levels 
in 2023/24. 
 

Capital Investment Programme 

5. The latest capital investment programme for 2024/25 is £3.012m.  A variation of £0.717m is reported. 
 

6. Detailed Capital budgets and explanation of key variations are set out in Annex C and Annex D respectively.   
 

 

 

 

Service Area Original 

Budget

£000

Original 

Budget Plus 

2023/24 Carry 

Forwards     

£000

Latest 

Budget

£000

Previous 

Forecast         

£000

Latest 

Forecast

£000

Variation 

to Previous 

Forecast

£000

Variation 

to Latest 

Budget 

£000

Community Partnerships 1,022 1,030 1,030 1,030 1,030 0 0

Economic Development and Planning Policy 524 524 524 524 528 4 4

Public Services 2,935 2,982 2,982 2,982 3,324 342 342

Total 4,481 4,535 4,535 4,535 4,881 346 346

Page 33



Appendix 1 

 
Staff Vacancy Monitoring 

7. A major risk of non-delivery of service is where key staff leave the Council’s employ and there is a delay or 
difficulty in recruiting suitable candidates to fill the vacant post.   
 

8. The following table sets out the vacancies as at 30 June 2024.  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Department Job Title Comments Total

Grounds Maintenance Trainee 

Operative
Subject to restructre 1.00

Loader Recently advertised 1.00

HGV Driver Currently advertised 1.00

Total General Public 

Services, Community Safety 

& Infrastructure

3.00

Environmental Protection

Page 34



General Public Services, Community Safety and Infrastructure Committee Detailed Monitoring Report             Appendix 1 

 
Annex A 
GPSCSI Committee Medium Term Revenue Budget Service 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Community Partnerships

Original 

Budget 

2024/25

Original 

Budget Plus 

2023/24 Carry 

Forwards

Latest 

Budget 

2024/25

Previous 

Forecast  

2024/25

Spend to Date
Latest Forecast 

2024/25

Variance @ 

P3

Forecast 

2025/26

Forecast 

2026/27
Officer Comments

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Citizens Advice Bureaux 288,340 288,340 288,340 288,340 0 288,340 0 288,340 288,340 Budget will be spent - Awaiting first invoice

Community Development 4,500 12,000 12,000 12,000 (54,663) 12,000 0 4,500 4,500
Income and Expenditure budgets of £55,000 required for 

Ringfenced Household Support Fund grant 

Community Safety 307,487 307,487 307,487 307,487 95,547 307,487 0 312,468 316,398 Budget will be spent

Community Partnerships 211,042 211,042 211,042 211,042 50,083 211,042 0 212,418 212,418 Budget will be spent

Env Health - Commercial Team 209,790 209,790 209,790 209,790 0 209,790 0 209,790 209,790 Budget will be spent

Licensing (66,585) (66,585) (66,585) (66,585) (25,486) (66,585) 0 (66,585) (66,585) Budget will be spent

Community & Leisure Grant 67,500 67,500 67,500 67,500 (499) 67,500 0 67,500 67,500 Budget will be spent

Total 1,022,074 1,029,574 1,029,574 1,029,574 64,982 1,029,574 0 1,028,431 1,032,361

Economic Development and 

Planning Policy

Original 

Budget 

2024/25

Original 

Budget Plus 

2023/24 Carry 

Forwards

Latest 

Budget 

2024/25

Previous 

Forecast  

2024/25

Spend to Date
Latest Forecast 

2024/25

Variance @ 

P3

Forecast 

2025/26

Forecast 

2026/27
Officer Comments

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Land & Property Info Section (10,497) (10,497) (10,497) (10,497) 6,193 (10,497) 0 (6,716) 13,986 Budget will be spent

Street Naming & Numbering 7,130 7,130 7,130 7,130 0 7,130 0 7,130 7,130 Budget will be spent

Development Management 110,943 110,943 110,943 110,943 (26,866) 115,143 4,200 122,952 95,865
Increased budget required due to variation and inflationary 

increase applied to ne Herts Ecology Service provision

Development Plans 324,504 324,504 324,504 324,504 112,198 324,504 0 325,925 327,800 Budget will be spent

Hertfordshire Building Control 37,500 37,500 37,500 37,500 26,146 37,500 0 37,500 37,500 Budget will be spent

HS2 Planning 0 0 0 0 (737) 0 0 0 0 Income received from HS2

GIS Officer 53,999 53,999 53,999 53,999 13,398 53,999 0 53,999 53,999 Budget will be spent

Total 523,579 523,579 523,579 523,579 130,332 527,779 4,200 540,790 536,280

General Public Services, Community Safety and Infrastructure

P
age 35



General Public Services, Community Safety and Infrastructure Committee Detailed Monitoring Report             Appendix 1 

 
GPSCSI Committee Medium Term Revenue Budget Service cont. 
 
 

Public Services

Original 

Budget 

2024/25

Original 

Budget Plus 

2023/24 Carry 

Forwards

Latest 

Budget 

2024/25

Previous 

Forecast  

2024/25

Spend to Date
Latest Forecast 

2024/25

Variance @ 

P3

Forecast 

2025/26

Forecast 

2026/27
Officer Comments

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Decriminalised Parking Enf 209,165 251,240 251,240 251,240 (46,504) 272,561 21,321 230,486 190,486
Increase in budget required due to Inflationary increase of 4% 

to SLA with Hertsmere BC for parking enforcement service

Car Parking-Maintenance 110,466 110,466 110,466 110,466 (1,838) 110,466 0 110,466 110,466 Budget will be spent

Dial A Ride 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 10,000 40,000 0 40,000 40,000 Budget will be spent

Sustainable Travel Schemes 1,500 6,674 6,674 6,674 0 6,674 0 1,500 1,500 Budget will be spent

Associate Director of Environment 92,826 92,826 92,826 92,826 27,012 94,656 1,830 98,035 98,035
Staff Sickness absence budget of £1,830 re-allocated to the 

Senior Leadership Team

Refuse Domestic (26,220) (26,220) (26,220) (26,220) 4,056 (26,220) 0 (26,220) (26,220) Budget will be spent

Refuse Trade (231,882) (231,882) (231,882) (231,882) (415,024) (231,882) 0 (231,882) (231,882) Budget will be spent

Better Buses Fund 101,762 101,762 101,762 101,762 0 101,762 0 101,762 101,762 Budget will be spent

Recycling General 750 750 750 750 (5,794) 750 0 750 750 Budget will be spent

Garden Waste (656,986) (656,986) (656,986) (656,986) (1,474,674) (656,986) 0 (656,436) (656,436)

Income is received at the beginning of the financial year and 

expenditure against the income is made throughout the year. 

Budget will be spent

Clinical Waste (38,596) (38,596) (38,596) (38,596) (54,041) (38,596) 0 (38,596) (38,596) Budget will be spent

Recycling Kerbside (318,613) (318,613) (318,613) (318,613) 62,671 (70) 318,543 (318,613) (318,613)

Variance to be managed of £318,543 on Recycling Cans & 

Plastics. There are many factors that can affect the price of 

recycling materials.  World events, economic disruption, supply 

and demand (leading to economic hardship) and an increase 

in energy prices can all lead to a reduction in the price paid for 

recycling materials . During the majority of 2022/23 we were 

receiving an income from the sale of our recycling materials 

however the situation changed in the final Quarter of 2022/23, 

to one in which we were being charged to dispose of our 

recycling materials. This situation continued during 2023/24, 

and is still continuing through 2024/25. The variance reported 

reflects the worst case scenario for 2024/25, with the hope that 

the situation will change and the amount being paid out will 

reduce, however this cannot be predicted with any certainty. 

Extender Producer Responsibility payments are expected to 

come in from 2025/26, although the full financial impact is not 

yet known.

Abandoned Vehicles 250 250 250 250 150 250 0 250 250 Demand led service

Public Conveniences 3,600 3,600 3,600 3,600 0 3,600 0 3,600 3,600 Budget will be spent

Hertfordshire Fly Tipping 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Environmental Protection 375,550 375,550 375,550 375,550 137,136 375,550 0 376,267 376,267 Budget will be spent

Depot-Batchworth 34,380 34,380 34,380 34,380 (2,881) 34,380 0 34,380 34,380 Budget will be spent

Waste Management 2,560,250 2,560,250 2,560,250 2,560,250 845,450 2,560,250 0 2,560,250 2,560,250 Budget will be spent

Street Cleansing 676,721 676,721 676,721 676,721 168,391 676,721 0 676,721 676,721 Budget will be spent

Total 2,934,923 2,982,172 2,982,172 2,982,172 (745,890) 3,323,866 341,694 2,962,720 2,922,720

Total General Public Services, 

Community Safety and 

Infrastructure

4,480,576 4,535,325 4,535,325 4,535,325 (550,576) 4,881,219 345,894 4,531,941 4,491,361

P
age 36



General Public Services, Community Safety and Infrastructure Committee Detailed Monitoring Report             Appendix 1 

 
Annex B 
GPSCSI Committee Explanations of revenue supplementary estimates, variances to be managed and virements reported this Period 
 
Supplementary Estimates 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Description Main Group Heading Details of Outturn Variances to Latest Approved Budget
2024/25                      

£

2025/26                     

£

2026/27                    

£

Development Management Supplies and services Variation and inflationary increase applied to new Herts Ecology service provision                4,200                     4,200               4,200 

4,200 4,200 4,200 

Description Main Group Heading Details of Outturn Variances to Latest Approved Budget
2024/25                      

£

2025/26                     

£

2026/27                    

£

Decriminalised Parking Enf SPA Third Party Payments
Inflationary increase of 4% to SLA with Hertsmere BC for parking enforcement 

service
             21,321                   21,321             21,321 

21,321 21,321 21,321 

25,521 25,521 25,521 

General Public Services, Community Safety and 

Infrastructure

Total Public Services 

Total  General Public Services, Community Safety and Infrastructure

Total Economic Development and Planning Policy

P
age 37



General Public Services, Community Safety and Infrastructure Committee Detailed Monitoring Report             Appendix 1 

 
Variances to be managed 
 

 
 
 
Virements 
 
 

Description Main Group Heading Details of Outturn Variances to Latest Approved Budget
2024/25                      

£

2025/26                     

£

2026/27                    

£

Recycling Kerbside Supplies and Services

There are many factors that can affect the price of recycling materials.  World 

events, economic disruption, supply and demand (leading to economic hardship) 

and an increase in energy prices can all lead to a reduction in the price paid for 

recycling materials . During the majority of 2022/23 we were receiving an income 

from the sale of our recycling materials however the situation changed in the final 

Quarter of 2022/23, to one in which we were being charged to dispose of our 

recycling materials. This situation continued during 2023/24, and is still continuing 

through 2024/25. The variance reported reflects the worst case scenario for 

2024/25, with the hope that the situation will change and the amount being paid out 

will reduce, however this cannot be predicted with any certainty. Extender Producer 

Responsibility payments are expected to come in from 2025/26, although the full 

financial impact is not yet known.

          318,543                            -                        -   

318,543 0 0 

318,543 0 0 

General Public Services, Community Safety and 

Infrastructure

Total Public Services 

Total  General Public Services, Community Safety and Infrastructure

Description Main Group Heading Details of Outturn Variances to Latest Approved Budget
2024/25                      

£

2025/26                    

£

2026/27                      

£
Supplies and services To spend ringfenced Household Support Fund grant 55,000                          -                        -   

Income Receipt of ringfenced Household Support Fund grant (55,000)                          -                        -   

0 0 0 

Community Development

General Public Services, Community Safety and 

Infrastructure

Total Community Safety

P
age 38



General Public Services, Community Safety and Infrastructure Committee Detailed Monitoring Report             Appendix 1 

 
Annex C 

GPSCSI Medium term capital investment programme 
 

Community Partnerships

Original 

Budget 

2024/25             

£

Original 

Budgets 

Plus 

2023/24 

Rephasing                  

£

Latest 

Budget 

2024/25          

£

P3 Spend 

To Date                 

£

Forecast 

Outturn 

2024/25            

£

Variance               

£

 Latest 

Budget 

2025/26            

£

Proposed 

2025/26            

£

Latest 

Budget 

2026/27       

£

Proposed  

2026/27          

£

Comments

Capital Grants & Loans 20,000 20,000 20,000 0 20,000 0 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 Budget will be spent

Community CCTV 12,000 12,000 12,000 0 12,000 0 6,000 6,000 6,000 6,000 Budget will be spent

Sub-total Community Partnerships 32,000 32,000 32,000 0 32,000 0 26,000 26,000 26,000 26,000

Public Services

Original 

Budget 

2024/25             

£

Original 

Budgets 

Plus 

2023/24 

Rephasing                  

£

Latest 

Budget 

2024/25          

£

P3 Spend 

To Date                 

£

Forecast 

Outturn 

2024/25            

£

Variance               

£

 Latest 

Budget 

2025/26            

£

Proposed 

2025/26            

£

Latest 

Budget 

2026/27       

£

Proposed  

2026/27          

£

Comments

Disabled Parking Bays 2,500 2,500 2,500 0 2,500 0 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 Budget will be spent

Waste Plant & Equipment 25,000 34,500 34,500 6,977 34,500 0 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 Budget will be spent

Waste Services Depot 0 0 0 9,194 456,400 456,400 0 0 0 0 CIL spend approved at Full Council 9/7/24

EV Charging Points 0 460,000 460,000 0 535,938 75,938 0 0 0 0 Capital Grant from Department for Transport ORCS Funding for EV 

Controlled Parking 0 82,322 82,322 3,009 107,322 25,000 0 25,000 0 25,000 Budget transferred from Transport & Infrastructure

Replacement Bins 72,190 73,265 73,265 29,947 73,265 0 115,000 115,000 115,000 115,000 Budget will be spent

Waste & Recycling Vehicles 1,354,015 1,566,564 1,566,564 0 1,566,564 0 800,000 800,000 800,000 800,000 Procurement of vehicles underway

Car Park Restoration 290,000 310,509 310,509 59,239 310,509 0 35,000 35,000 35,000 35,000 Budget will be spent

Estates, Paths & Roads 20,000 25,728 25,728 13,890 25,728 0 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 Budget will be spent

TRDC Footpaths & Alleyways 25,000 43,387 43,387 1,881 43,387 0 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 Budget will be spent

GIS 13,500 13,500 13,500 0 13,500 0 0 0 0 0 Budget will be spent

Transport and Infrastructure 199,344 365,383 365,383 6,655 340,383 (25,000) 204,000 179,000 204,000 179,000 Budget transferred to Controlled Parking

Sub-total Public Services 2,001,549 2,977,658 2,977,658 130,792 3,509,996 532,338 1,226,500 1,226,500 1,226,500 1,226,500

Economic Development & Planning Policy

Original 

Budget 

2024/25             

£

Original 

Budgets 

Plus 

2023/24 

Rephasing                  

£

Latest 

Budget 

2024/25          

£

P3 Spend 

To Date                 

£

Forecast 

Outturn 

2024/25            

£

Variance               

£

 Latest 

Budget 

2025/26            

£

Proposed 

2025/26            

£

Latest 

Budget 

2026/27       

£

Proposed  

2026/27          

£

Comments

Listed Building Grants 2,500 2,500 2,500 0 2,500 0 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 Demand Led service, no applications received to date

CIL Community Grants 0 0 0 184,461 184,461 184,461 0 0 0 0
CIL contribution paid to Sarratt Parish Council approved at Policy & 

Resources Committee 17/7/23 

Sub-total Economic Development & 

Planning Policy
2,500 2,500 2,500 184,461 186,961 184,461 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500

Total General Public Services, Community 

Safety & Infrastructure
2,036,049 3,012,158 3,012,158 315,253 3,728,957 716,799 1,255,000 1,255,000 1,255,000 1,255,000

General Public Services, Community Safety & 

Infrastructure

P
age 39



 
 
Annex D 

GPSCSI Explanations of capital variances reported this Period 

 

 

 

   

Description Details of Outturn Variances to Latest Approved Budget
2024/25        

£

2025/26    

£

2026/27         

£

EV Charging Points Capital Grant from Department for Transport ORCS Funding for EV Charging 75,938 0 0 

Controlled Parking Budget transferred from Transport & Infrastructure 25,000 25,000 25,000 

Transport & Infrastructure Budget transferred to Controlled Parking (25,000) (25,000) (25,000)

Waste Services Depot CIL spend approved at Full Council 9/7/24 456,400 0 0 

CIL Community Grants
CIL contribution paid to Sarratt Parish Council approved at Policy & 

Resources Committee 17/7/23 
184,461 0 0 

716,799 0 0 

General Public Services, Community Safety & Infrastructure

Total General Public Services, Community Safety & Infrastructure

P
age 40



 
Annex E 
GPSCSI Key Income Streams 
 

 
 
 

 Regulatory Services

Car Park 

Enforcement
Month 

Penalty Charge 

Notices (PCNs)
£ Volume £ Volume £ Volume £ Volume

April (2,190) 80 (7,700) 176 (5,410) 114 (12,845) 292

May (5,008) 133 (7,955) 153 (8,830) 135 (18,465) 372

June (5,360) 124 (6,960) 144 (8,180) 152 (16,355) 313

July (7,916) 167 (7,386) 113 (10,735) 248

August (8,878) 233 (6,814) 122 (13,495) 289

September (12,555) 252 (6,134) 114 (11,650) 236

October (10,444) 219 (9,526) 249 (13,707) 247

November (10,585) 230 (9,118) 194 (13,715) 219

December (9,834) 230 (7,845) 134 (11,725) 212

January (8,800) 149 (8,913) 154 (12,865) 316

February (8,614) 231 (9,020) 172 (18,307) 233

March (10,828) 190 (10,329) 135 (14,753) 296

Total (101,012) 2,238 (97,700) 1,860 (143,372) 2,697 (47,665) 977 

Car Park 

Enforcement
Month 

Pay & Display Tickets £ Volume £ Volume £ Volume £ Volume

April (9,551) 5,128 (11,910) 7,037 (15,346) 8,197 (19,257) 10,009

May (10,442) 5,577 (12,841) 7,097 (17,473) 8,412 (20,212) 10,433

June (12,675) 6,513 (15,058) 7,062 (17,912) 9,036 (18,090) 9,441

July (11,677) 6,653 (13,121) 7,362 (17,937) 9,271

August (11,136) 6,198 (13,742) 7,326 (16,564) 8,531

September (12,418) 6,789 (14,086) 7,387 (17,540) 9,075

October (13,466) 7,308 (14,702) 7,878 (18,978) 9,450

November (14,253) 7,582 (14,587) 7,411 (19,091) 9,633

December (14,857) 7,638 (17,110) 8,354 (20,515) 10,337

January (10,425) 6,486 (16,778) 7,573 (20,475) 9,612

February (12,966) 7,309 (14,471) 7,823 (19,453) 10,041

March (17,041) 7,813 (19,225) 9,882 (21,063) 10,893

Total (150,907) 80,994 (177,631) 92,192 (222,347) 112,488 (57,559) 29,883 

Development 

Management
Month 2021/22 2022/23

Application Fees £ Volume £ Volume £ Volume £ Volume

April (37,925) 202 (389,072) 121 (31,355) 111 (94,490) 133 

May (44,506) 200 (59,995) 162 (57,426) 138 (74,771) 119 

June (40,347) 177 (41,122) 123 (73,723) 122 (80,169) 125

July (35,900) 152 (56,630) 129 (23,579) 125

August (58,240) 153 (27,451) 144 (42,914) 137

September (24,763) 145 (53,870) 111 (28,687) 133

October (26,477) 135 (141,962) 125 (32,577) 137

November (34,623) 133 (51,317) 136 (32,047) 120

December (53,134) 136 (65,353) 119 (21,107) 96

January (39,467) 106 (21,090) 131 (17,242) 104

February (39,530) 108 (56,956) 116 (40,229) 103

March (91,250) 172 (34,930) 163 (33,857) 120

Total (526,162) 1,819 (999,748) 1,580 (434,743) 1,446 (249,429) 377 

Comments: The Original budget for 2024/25 is £846,420. There are a number of different charging levels dependent on the type & size of 

the proposed area. The table of current fees for each type can be found on the Councils website.

2024/25

2024/25

2024/25

Comments:  The Original budget for 2024/25 is £115,000.The charging structure is based on the severity of the contravention. The charge 

relating to a serious contravention is £70 and payable within 28-days (reduced to £35 if paid within 14 days). The charge relating to a less 

serious contravention is £50 payable within 28 days ( reduced to £25 if paid within 14-days). Residents are charged on a zonal basis. The 

no of PCN's  issued can reduce due to greater parking compliance.

Comments: The Original budget for 2024/25 is £242,750.There are different charging regimes for different car parks within the district. 

However most pay & display car parks in Rickmansworth operate the following regulations - Monday - Friday, 8.30am - 6.30pm max stay 

up to 24 Hours - charge £4 with the first hour being free.

2023/24

2023/24

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

2021/22 2022/23

Page 41



 
GPSCSI Key Income Streams Cont. 
 

 

 

Waste Management

Trade 

Refuse

Contract 

fees
£ Volume £ Volume £ Volume £ Volume

April (342,837) (374,524) 925 (408,151) 900 (432,709) 865 

May (23,082) (2,105) 929 2,040 897 2,897 856 

June (3,124) (297) 930 200 879 1,981 849 

July (2,934) (328) 930 1,007 882 

August (235) (1,417) 920 (3,049) 871 

September (869) (1,221) 925 (1,635) 872 

October (362,664) (376,644) 926 (402,130) 873 

November 2,382 (7,399) 920 464 867 

December (6,135) (738) 908 337 860 

January (1,064) (2,476) 916 (940) 867 

February (1,213) (1,298) 917 (5,573) 870 

March (8,966) (5,356) 913 (2,436) 867 

Total (750,741) 989 (773,803) 913 (819,866) 867 (427,830) 849 

Garden 

Waste

Bin 

Charges
£ Volume £ Volume £ Volume £ Volume

April (1,047,033) 21,524 (1,173,068) 21,649 (1,392,490) 21,254 (1,515,550) 21,389

May (19,620) 529 (18,910) 405 (31,450) 516 (23,624) 356

June (19,239) 331 (17,232) 237 (17,754) 273 (17,574) 255

July (13,244) 256 (8,724) 163 (6,786) 107

August (7,939) 190 (5,778) 96 (7,494) 111

September (4,834) 93 (3,129) 49 (4,346) 56

October (2,291) 75 (2,480) 80 (3,254) 89

November (1,341) 51 (1,589) 51 (1,781) 50

December (539) 20 (324) 14 (645) 16

January (743) 31 (956) 26 (204) 15

February 0 0 0 0 30 0

March 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total (1,116,822) 23,100 (1,232,190) 22,770 (1,466,174) 22,487 (1,556,748) 22,000 

2024/25

2024/25

Comments: The original 2024/25 budget is £907,865. Customers are invoiced twice a year in April and 

October. Income can fluctuate depending on the size of the bin collected and customers reducing their bin 

size and using the recycling service. 

Month 

Month 

Comments: The original 2024/25 budget is £1,583,200. The standard charges for 2024/25 are £65 for the 

first bin and £110 each for a second or third bin. Customers in receipt of certain benefits pay a concession 

fee of £55 for the first bin.

2023/24

2023/24

2021/22 2022/23

2021/22 2022/23

989 

Page 42



Appendix 2 
 

 
Climate change, Leisure and Housing Committee Detailed Monitoring Report 

 
Overview 

1. This appendix sets out the detailed financial monitoring position for budgets within the scope of the Climate 
Change, Leisure and Housing (CCLH) Committee.  The forecast is based on the position as at Period 3 which 
covers the period from 1 April 2024 to 30 June 2024.   
 

Revenue 

2. The latest forecast is net expenditure of £2.030m against the latest budget of £2.033m. This is a favourable 
variance of (£0.003m). The detailed revenue budgets and MTFP forecast is set out in Annex A.   
 

 
 

 

 

3. Annex B sets out the main variations to budget.   
 

Capital Investment Programme 

4. The latest capital investment programme for 2023/24 is £2.624m.  A variation of £1.054m is reported. 
 

5. Detailed Capital budgets and explanation of key variations are set out in Annex C and Annex D respectively.   
 

 

 

 

 

Service Area Original 

Budget

£000

Original 

Budget Plus 

2023/24 Carry 

Forwards     

£000

Latest 

Budget

£000

Previous 

Forecast         

£000

Latest 

Forecast

£000

Variation 

to Previous 

Forecast

£000

Variation 

to Latest 

Budget 

£000

Housing 423 423 423 423 423 0 0

Leisure 1,220 1,220 1,220 1,220 1,217 (3) (3)

Sustainability and Climate 309 389 389 389 389 0 0

Total 1,952 2,033 2,033 2,033 2,030 (3) (3)

Page 43



Appendix 2 
 

 
Staff Vacancy Monitoring 

6. A major risk of non-delivery of service is where key staff leave the Council’s employ and there is a delay or 
difficulty in recruiting suitable candidates to fill the vacant post.   
 

7. The following table sets out the vacancies as at 30 June 2024.  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Department Job Title Comments Total

Residential Environmental 

Health
Housing Enforcement Officer Covered by Interim 1.00

Total Climate Change, 

Leisure & Housing
1.00

Page 44



Climate Change, Leisure and Housing Committee Detailed Monitoring Report                Appendix 2 

 
Annex A 
CCLH Committee Medium Term Revenue Budget Service 
 

 
 

Housing, Public Health and 

Wellbeing

Original 

Budget 

2024/25

Original 

Budget Plus 

2023/24 Carry 

Forwards

Latest 

Budget 

2024/25

Previous 

Forecast  

2024/25

Spend to Date
Latest Forecast 

2024/25

Variance @ 

P3

Forecast 

2025/26

Forecast 

2026/27
Officer Comments

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Housing Services Needs 523,344 523,344 523,344 523,344 173,952 523,344 0 537,286 560,671 Budget will be spent

Rent Deposit Guarantee Scheme 5,110 5,110 5,110 5,110 0 5,110 0 5,110 5,110 Demand led service

Homelessness General Fund (177,620) (177,620) (177,620) (177,620) (548,484) (177,620) 0 (157,620) (157,620)

Income and Expenditure budgets of £205,031 required for 

Ringfenced grants received to date-  £135,112 Prevent 

Homelessness, £31,000 Rough Sleepers and £38,919 Domestic 

Abuse New Burdens

Housing Associations (5,000) (5,000) (5,000) (5,000) 0 (5,000) 0 (5,000) (5,000) Income will be received by year end

Refugees 0 0 0 0 (41,400) 0 0 0 0 Transfer to/from reserves at year end

Env Health - Residential Team 77,427 77,427 77,427 77,427 26,462 77,427 0 77,427 77,427 Budget will be spent

Public Health 0 0 0 0 (17,164) 0 0 0 0
Income and Expenditure budgets of £17,500 required for 

Ringfenced HCC Public Health Grant

Total 423,261 423,261 423,261 423,261 (406,634) 423,261 0 457,203 480,588

 Leisure

Original 

Budget 

2024/25

Original 

Budget Plus 

2023/24 Carry 

Forwards

Latest 

Budget 

2024/25

Previous 

Forecast  

2024/25

Spend to Date
Latest Forecast 

2024/25

Variance @ 

P3

Forecast 

2025/26

Forecast 

2026/27
Officer Comments

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Leavesden Country Park 0 0 0 0 14,167 0 0 0 0

Income and Expenditure budgets of £1,720 S106 funded 

expenditure for 2 benches at The Horses' Field, Leavesden 

Country Park - full report going to P&R 15 July 2024 and £50,000 to 

spend management and maintenance funding from the National 

Lottery towards the Heritage Trail transfer from earmarked 

reserves, which will be actioned at year end

Community Arts 11,400 11,400 11,400 11,400 (229) 11,400 0 11,400 11,400 Budget will be spent

Watersmeet 26,393 26,393 26,393 26,393 (145,582) 26,393 0 27,439 28,502 Budget will be spent

Leavesden Ymca (35,000) (35,000) (35,000) (35,000) (19,105) (35,000) 0 (35,000) (35,000) Income is received quarterly. 

Oxhey Hall (3,000) (3,000) (3,000) (3,000) (750) (3,000) 0 (3,000) (3,000) Income is received quarterly. 

Museum (700) (700) (700) (700) (700) (700) 0 (700) (700) Budget met

Playing Fields & Open Spaces 93,981 93,981 93,981 93,981 (2,937) 93,981 0 93,981 93,981 Budget will be spent

Play Rangers 56,484 56,484 56,484 56,484 19,338 56,484 0 56,484 56,484 Budget will be spent

Comm Parks & Sust Project 24,200 24,200 24,200 24,200 1,695 24,200 0 24,200 24,200 Budget will be spent

Aquadrome 39,615 39,615 39,615 39,615 (507,433) 39,615 0 39,615 39,615

Income and Expenditure budgets required for Ringfenced grants of 

£19,771 from the National Lottery Heritage Fund funding for the 

Natural Heritage Networks Project and £510,463  from the HS2 

Colne Valley Additional Mitigation Panel Funding (AMP)

Leisure Venues (509,893) (509,893) (509,893) (509,893) (48,036) (509,893) 0 (509,893) (509,893) Budget will be spent

Leisure Development 557,807 557,807 557,807 557,807 136,388 554,807 (3,000) 557,235 558,419
Budget virement of £3,000 Youth Council budget to Committee 

Admin as they will now manage the service

Play Development - Play schemes 34,843 34,843 34,843 34,843 7,993 34,843 0 34,843 34,843 Budget will be spent

Sports Devel-Sports Projects 48,135 48,135 48,135 48,135 (17,551) 48,135 0 48,135 48,135 Budget will be spent

Leisure & Community Services 36,087 36,087 36,087 36,087 6,410 36,087 0 36,087 36,087 Budget will be spent

Grounds Maintenance 840,028 840,028 840,028 840,028 188,790 840,028 0 840,028 840,028 Budget will be spent

Total 1,220,380 1,220,380 1,220,380 1,220,380 (367,542) 1,217,380 (3,000) 1,220,854 1,223,101

Climate Change, Leisure and Housing

P
age 45



Climate Change, Leisure and Housing Committee Detailed Monitoring Report                Appendix 2 

 
 
CCLC Committee Medium Term Revenue Budget Service cont. 
 
 

Sustainability and Climate

Original 

Budget 

2024/25

Original 

Budget Plus 

2023/24 Carry 

Forwards

Latest 

Budget 

2024/25

Previous 

Forecast  

2024/25

Spend to Date
Latest Forecast 

2024/25

Variance @ 

P3

Forecast 

2025/26

Forecast 

2026/27
Officer Comments

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Energy Efficiency 9,500 23,900 23,900 23,900 0 23,900 0 9,500 9,500 Budget will be spent

Sustainability Projects 78,000 78,000 78,000 78,000 (3,000) 78,000 0 103,000 128,000 Budget will be spent

Corporate Climate Change 102,262 149,471 149,471 149,471 (581,466) 149,471 0 102,262 102,262
Income and Expenditure budgets of £597,970 required for 

Ringfenced Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund Wave 2. 

Innovate UK 0 0 0 0 34,044 0 0 0 0
Innovate UK Grant claimed retrospectively as per grant 

conditions

Pest Control 12,755 12,755 12,755 12,755 1,785 12,755 0 12,755 12,755 Budget will be spent

Environmental Maintenance 25,970 25,970 25,970 25,970 3,076 25,970 0 25,970 25,970 Budget will be spent

Animal Control 64,490 64,490 64,490 64,490 18,846 64,490 0 64,490 64,490 Budget will be spent

Cemeteries (228,193) (228,193) (228,193) (228,193) (77,442) (228,193) 0 (228,193) (228,193) Budget will be spent

Trees And Landscapes 243,760 262,914 262,914 262,914 23,067 262,914 0 243,760 243,760

Budget transfer of £10,000 between Project Work CMS  and 

Friends of Groups to be used to support projects delivered as 

part of the Management Plans across the district.

Total 308,544 389,307 389,307 389,307 (581,090) 389,307 0 333,544 358,544

Total Climate Change, Leisure 

and Housing
1,952,185 2,032,948 2,032,948 2,032,948 (1,355,266) 2,029,948 (3,000) 2,011,601 2,062,233

P
age 46



Climate Change, Leisure and Housing Committee Detailed Monitoring Report                Appendix 2 

 
Annex B 
CCLH Committee Explanations of revenue supplementary estimates, variances to be managed and virements reported this Period 
 
Virements 
 

 
 

Description Main Group Heading Details of Outturn Variances to Latest Approved Budget
2024/25                      

£

2025/26                    

£

2026/27                      

£
Supplies and Services To spend ringfenced Prevent Homelessness grant                   135,112                          -                        -   

Income Receipt of ringfenced Prevent Homelessness grant (135,112)                          -                        -   

Supplies and Services To spend ringfenced  Rough Sleepers grant                      31,000                          -                        -   

Income Receipt of ringfenced Rough Sleepers grant (31,000)                          -                        -   

Supplies and Services To spend ringfenced Domestic Abuse New Burdens grant                      38,919                          -                        -   

Income Receipt of ringfenced Domestic Abuse New Burdens grant (38,919)                          -                        -   

Public Health Supplies and Services To spend HCC Public Health Grant 17,500                          -                        -   

Income Receipt of HCC Public Health Grant (17,500)                          -                        -   

0 0 0 

Description Main Group Heading Details of Outturn Variances to Latest Approved Budget
2024/25                      

£

2025/26                    

£

2026/27                      

£

Supplies and services
To spend S106 for 2 benches at The Horses' Field, Leavesden Country Park - full 

report going to P&R 15 July 2024
1,720                          -                        -   

Income
Receipt of S106 for 2 benches at The Horses' Field, Leavesden Country Park - full 

report going to P&R 15 July 2024
(1,720)                          -                        -   

Supplies and services
To spend management and maintenance funding from the National Lottery towards 

the Heritage Trail held in reserves
50,000                          -                        -   

Income Funded from Reserves
Management and maintenance funding from the National Lottery towards the 

Heritage Trail held in reserves
(50,000)                          -                        -   

Leisure Development Supplies and Services
Youth Council budget transferred to Committee Admin as they will now manage the 

service
(3,000) (3,000) (3,000)

Supplies and services
To spend the National Lottery Heritage Fund funding for the Natural Heritage 

Networks Project
19,771                          -                        -   

Income
Receipt of the National Lottery Heritage Fund funding for the Natural Heritage 

Networks Project
(19,771)                          -                        -   

Supplies and services To spend the HS2 Colne Valley Additional Mitigation Panel Funding (AMP) 510,463                          -                        -   

Income Receipt of the HS2 Colne Valley Additional Mitigation Panel Funding (AMP) (510,463)                          -                        -   

(3,000) (3,000) (3,000)

Description Main Group Heading Details of Outturn Variances to Latest Approved Budget
2024/25                      

£

2025/26                    

£

2026/27                      

£
Supplies and services To spend ringfenced Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund grant 597,970                          -                        -   

Income Receipt of Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund grant (597,970)                          -                        -   

Premises

Budget transferred to Project Work CMS  and moved from Friends of Groups to be 

used to support projects delivered as part of the Management Plans across the 

district.

(10,000) (10,000) (10,000)

Premises

Budget transferred from Friends of Groups and moved to Project Work CMS to be 

used to support projects delivered as part of the Management Plans across the 

district.

10,000 10,000 10,000

0 0 0 

(3,000) (3,000) (3,000)

Homelessness General Fund

Climate Change, Leisure and Housing

Total Housing Public Health and Wellbeing

Total Sustainability and Climate

Climate Change 

Total Leisure 

Total Climate Change, Leisure and Housing

Trees & Landscapes

Abbots Langley Project

Aquadrome

P
age 47



Climate Change, Leisure and Housing Committee Detailed Monitoring Report                Appendix 2 

 
Annex C 

CCLH Medium term capital investment programme 
 
 Climate Change, Leisure & Housing

Housing, Public Health & Wellbeing

Original 

Budget 

2024/25             

£

Original 

Budgets 

Plus 

2023/24 

Rephasing                  

£

Latest 

Budget 

2024/25          

£

P3 Spend 

To Date                 

£

Forecast 

Outturn 

2024/25            

£

Variance               

£

 Latest 

Budget 

2025/26            

£

Proposed 

2025/26            

£

Latest 

Budget 

2026/27       

£

Proposed  

2026/27          

£

Comments

Disabled Facilities Grant 586,000 790,474 790,474 79,624 790,474 0 586,000 586,000 586,000 586,000 Budget will be spent

Home Repairs Assistance 2,000 2,000 2,000 0 2,000 0 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 Demand Led service, no applications received to date

Sub-total Housing, Public Health & Wellbeing 588,000 792,474 792,474 79,624 792,474 0 588,000 588,000 588,000 588,000

 Leisure

Original 

Budget 

2024/25             

£

Original 

Budgets 

Plus 

2023/24 

Rephasing                  

£

Latest 

Budget 

2024/25          

£

P3 Spend 

To Date                 

£

Forecast 

Outturn 

2024/25            

£

Variance               

£

 Latest 

Budget 

2025/26            

£

Proposed 

2025/26            

£

Latest 

Budget 

2026/27       

£

Proposed  

2026/27          

£

Comments

Aquadrome Bridge Replacement 320,524 320,524 320,524 18,197 1,137,755 817,231 0 0 0 0 CIL spend approved at Full Council 9/7/24

Leavesden Country Park Gate 0 164,889 164,889 60,050 164,889 0 0 0 0 0 Budget will be spent

Watersmeet Electrical 144,100 144,100 144,100 0 144,100 0 0 0 0 0 Budget will be spent

Scotsbridge-Chess Habitat 8,190 8,190 8,190 0 8,190 0 0 0 0 0 Project led by Countryside Management Service

Open Space Access Improvements 60,000 95,946 95,946 2,522 95,946 0 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 Budget will be spent

Improve Play Area-Future Schemes 120,000 132,650 132,650 5,976 132,650 0 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000 Budget will be spent

Aquadrome-Whole Life Costing 11,000 15,020 15,020 0 15,020 0 11,000 11,000 11,000 11,000 Budget will be spent

Replacement Ground Maintenance Vehicles 804,000 804,000 804,000 42,570 830,318 26,318 540,000 540,000 540,000 540,000 Budget increase due to insurance claim pay out after vehicle write off

Watersmeet-Whole Life Costing 20,000 20,000 20,000 (722) 20,000 0 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 Budget will be spent

Pavilions-Whole Life Costing 11,000 16,668 16,668 10,245 16,668 0 11,000 11,000 11,000 11,000 Budget will be spent

Fearney Mead Play Area 0 50,000 50,000 0 50,000 0 0 0 0 0 Budget will be spent

Lincoln Drive Play Area 0 50,000 50,000 0 50,000 0 0 0 0 0 Budget will be spent

Sub-total Leisure 1,498,814 1,821,987 1,821,987 138,838 2,665,536 843,549 762,000 762,000 762,000 762,000

Sustainability & Climate

Original 

Budget 

2024/25             

£

Original 

Budgets 

Plus 

2023/24 

Rephasing                  

£

Latest 

Budget 

2024/25          

£

P3 Spend 

To Date                 

£

Forecast 

Outturn 

2024/25            

£

Variance               

£

 Latest 

Budget 

2025/26            

£

Proposed 

2025/26            

£

Latest 

Budget 

2026/27       

£

Proposed  

2026/27          

£

Comments

Cemetery-Whole Life Costing 5,000 9,830 9,830 0 9,830 0 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 Budget will be spent

UK Shared Prosperity 0 0 0 0 210,852 210,852 0 0 0 0 Capital Grant from UK Shared Prosperity Fund

Sub-total Sustainability & Climate 5,000 9,830 9,830 0 220,682 210,852 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000

Total Climate Change, Leisure & Housing 2,091,814 2,624,291 2,624,291 218,462 3,678,692 1,054,401 1,355,000 1,355,000 1,355,000 1,355,000

P
age 48



 
 
Annex D 

CCLH Explanations of capital variances reported this Period 

 

 

 

Description Details of Outturn Variances to Latest Approved Budget
2024/25        

£

2025/26    

£

2026/27         

£

Replacement Ground Maint Vehcs Budget increase due to insurance claim pay out after vehicle write off 26,318 0 0 

Aquadrome Bridge Replacement CIL spend approved at Full Council 9/7/24 817,231 0 0 

UK Shared Prosperity Capital Grant from UK Shared Prosperity Fund 210,852 0 0 

1,054,401 0 0 

Climate Change, Leisure & Housing

Total Climate Change, Leisure & Housing

P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 

 
 

Policy and Resources Committee Detailed Monitoring Report 
 

1. This appendix sets out the detailed financial monitoring position for budgets within the scope of the Policy and 
Resources (P&R) Committee for the 2024/25 financial year.  The forecast is based on the position as at Period 
3 which covers the period from 1 April 2024 to 30 June 2024.   

 

Revenue 

2. The latest forecast is expenditure of £5.538m against the latest budget of £5.411m. This is an unfavourable 
variance of £0.127m. The detailed revenue budgets and MTFP forecast is set out in Annex A.   
 

 
 

 
 

 

3. Annex B sets out the main variations to budget.  
 

Income Streams 

4. The key income streams are detailed in Annex E.  All are currently on target to achieve budget income levels 
in 2024/25.  

 

Capital Investment Programme 

5. The latest capital investment budget for 2024/25 is £7.267m.  A variation of £3.913m is reported. 
 

6. Detailed Capital budgets and explanation of key variations are set out in Annex C and Annex D respectively.   
 

 

Service Area Original 

Budget

£000

Original 

Budget Plus 

2023/24 Carry 

Forwards     

£000

Latest 

Budget

£000

Previous 

Forecast         

£000

Latest 

Forecast

£000

Variation 

to Previous 

Forecast

£000

Variation 

to Latest 

Budget 

£000

Resources and Leader 6,989 7,130 7,130 7,130 7,269 139 139

Garages and Shops (1,300) (1,300) (1,300) (1,300) (1,300) 0 0

Investment Properties (950) (950) (950) (950) (950) 0 0

Vacancy Provision (180) (180) (180) (180) (180) 0 0

Salary Contingency 712 712 712 712 700 (12) (12)

Total 5,270 5,411 5,411 5,411 5,538 127 127

Page 51



Appendix 3 

 
 

Staff Vacancy Monitoring 

7. A major risk of non-delivery of service is where key staff leave the Council’s employ and there is a delay or 
difficulty in recruiting suitable candidates to fill the vacant post.   
 

8. The following table sets out the vacancies by service as at 30 June 2024.   
 

 
 

Department Job Title Comments Total

Senior Committee Officer Recently advertised 1.00

Committee & Elections Assistant Recently advertised 1.00

Customer Service Centre
Apprentice Customer Service Centre 

Representative
Currently advertised 1.00

Asset and Property 

Management
Property and Asset Manager Currently advertised 1.00

Total P&R 4.00

Legal & Committee

Page 52



Policy & Resources Committee Detailed Monitoring Report                              Appendix 3 

 
Annex A 
P&R Committee Medium Term Revenue Budget Service 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Resources 

Original 

Budget 

2024/25

Original 

Budget Plus 

2023/24 Carry 

Forwards

Latest 

Budget 

2024/25

Previous 

Forecast  

2024/25

Spend to Date
Latest Forecast 

2024/25

Variance @ 

P3

Forecast 

2025/26

Forecast 

2026/27
Officer Comments

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Corporate Management 150,680 150,680 150,680 150,680 (154,250) 150,680 0 150,680 150,680 Budget will be spent

Major Incident Planning 113,107 113,107 113,107 113,107 27,033 113,107 0 113,904 114,728 Budget will be spent

UK Shared Prosperity Fund 0 0 0 0 15,209 0 0 0 0
Income and Expenditure budgets of £530,053 required for UK 

Shared Prosperity Fund grant

West Herts Crematorium 0 0 0 0 1,050,788 0 0 0 0 All spend will be recharged to West Herts Crematorium

Miscellaneous Income & Expend (341,500) (341,500) (341,500) (341,500) (27,081) (341,500) 0 (341,500) (341,500) Budget will be spent

Non Distributed Costs 57,000 57,000 57,000 57,000 441 57,000 0 59,000 59,000 Budget will be spent

Director Of Finance 128,735 128,735 128,735 128,735 37,649 130,795 2,060 135,026 135,025
Staff Sickness absence budget of £2,060 re-allocated to the 

Senior Leadership Team

Miscellaneous Properties (77,208) (77,208) (77,208) (77,208) (70,589) (77,208) 0 (77,208) (77,208) Budget will be spent

Office Services 192,810 192,810 192,810 192,810 14,366 192,810 0 190,810 190,810

Increase in Cleaning budget of £10,000 required due to paying 

the Real Living Wage, offset by Increase in income budget of 

£10,000 from internal recharges for Print & Post

Asset Management - Property 

Services
798,627 798,627 798,627 798,627 152,936 798,627 0 878,502 879,784 Budget will be spent

Finance Services 440,080 440,080 440,080 440,080 197,261 440,080 0 435,772 439,212 Budget will be spent

Council Tax Collection 329,467 329,467 329,467 329,467 55,026 329,467 0 330,179 330,880 Budget will be spent

Benefits & Allowances 681,913 681,913 681,913 681,913 177,571 681,913 0 685,248 687,432 Budget will be spent

NNDR 60,005 60,005 60,005 60,005 17,122 60,005 0 60,005 60,006 Budget will be spent

Revs & Bens Management 41,970 41,970 41,970 41,970 10,505 41,970 0 41,969 41,970 Budget will be spent

Fraud 86,746 86,746 86,746 86,746 27,661 86,746 0 86,746 86,746 Budget will be spent

Garages & Shops Maintenance (1,300,150) (1,300,150) (1,300,150) (1,300,150) (385,371) (1,300,150) 0 (1,300,150) (1,300,150) Budget will be spent

Chief Executive 213,754 313,754 313,754 313,754 51,127 313,844 90 213,844 213,844
Staff Sickness absence budget of £90 re-allocated to the 

Senior Leadership Team

 Policy & Resources

P
age 53



Policy & Resources Committee Detailed Monitoring Report                              Appendix 3 

 
P&R Committee Medium Term Revenue Budget Service cont. 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 

Resources 

Original 

Budget 

2023/24

Original 

Budget Plus 

2022/23 Carry 

Forwards

Latest 

Budget 

2023/24

Previous 

Forecast  

2023/24

Spend to Date
Latest Forecast 

2023/24

Variance @ 

P8

Forecast 

2024/25

Forecast 

2025/26
Officer Comments

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Investment Properties (950,499) (950,499) (950,499) (950,499) (367,726) (950,499) 0 (982,225) (982,225) Budget will be spent

Performance Mgt & Scrutiny 53,849 53,849 53,849 53,849 7,799 53,849 0 53,849 53,849 Budget will be spent

Debt Recovery 226,406 226,406 226,406 226,406 31,904 226,406 0 223,403 224,810 Budget will be spent

Associate Director Strategy, 

Partnerships & Housing
109,178 109,178 109,178 109,178 27,364 110,278 1,100 114,207 114,207

Staff Sickness absence budget of £1,100 re-allocated to the 

Senior Leadership Team

Three Rivers House 359,260 359,260 359,260 359,260 (10,660) 323,328 (35,932) 323,328 323,328

Increase in Rent Buildings of £35,932 due to increase in space 

leased by the Police, they now occupy part of Lower Ground 

Floor. Full rent review undertaken.

Basing House (10,140) (10,140) (10,140) (10,140) 1,411 (10,140) 0 (10,140) (10,140) Budget will be spent

Oxhey Drive 10,250 10,250 10,250 10,250 0 10,250 0 10,250 10,250 Budget will be spent

Wimbledon (200,000) (200,000) (200,000) (200,000) 167,664 (200,000) 0 (500,000) (500,000)

Officers' Standby 6,140 6,140 6,140 6,140 0 6,140 0 6,140 6,140 Budget will be spent

Vacancy Provision (180,000) (180,000) (180,000) (180,000) 0 (180,000) 0 (180,000) (180,000)

Finance Client 14,898 14,898 14,898 14,898 10,909 14,898 0 14,906 14,919 Budget will be spent

Business App Maintenance 257,875 257,875 257,875 257,875 229,970 257,875 0 257,875 257,875 Budget will be spent

ICT Client 683,377 683,377 683,377 683,377 86,519 763,377 80,000 763,377 763,377

Income from reserves budget removed of £80,000 as Software 

licences were previously funded from New Homes Bonus 

reserve, which has now been extinguished. 

Internal Audit Client 55,968 55,968 55,968 55,968 21,019 55,968 0 55,968 55,968 Budget will be spent

Council Tax Client (126,879) (126,879) (126,879) (126,879) 0 (126,879) 0 (126,879) (126,879) Budget will be spent

Benefits Client (470,660) (470,660) (470,660) (470,660) 2,372,850 (470,660) 0 (470,660) (470,660)

This holds the housing benefits payments and recovery from 

DWP and further grants from DWP  relating to the provision of 

benefits. There is  timing difference between payments made 

to claimants and income received from Government. 

Nndr Cost Of Collection (107,090) (107,090) (107,090) (107,090) 0 (107,090) 0 (107,090) (107,090) This is received at year end

Fraud Client 2,690 2,690 2,690 2,690 0 2,690 0 2,690 2,690 Budget will be spent

Insurances 373,220 373,220 373,220 373,220 537,078 373,220 0 373,220 373,220 Budget will be spent

Debt Recovery Client Acc (6,140) (6,140) (6,140) (6,140) (350) (6,140) 0 (6,140) (6,140) Budget will be spent

Benefits New Burden 0 0 0 0 (31,884) 0 0 0 0
Income and Expenditure budgets of £31,884 required for DWP 

grant

Benefits DHP 0 0 0 0 (42,563) 0 0 0 0 Actioned at year end 

Benefits Non Hra 1,020 1,020 1,020 1,020 (41,563) 1,020 0 1,020 1,020 Actioned at year end 

HR Client 334,113 334,113 334,113 334,113 57,536 361,518 27,405 361,518 361,518

Increase in budgets of £2,745 required for cost of Group Life 

Assurance and £24,660 for Shared Service recharge from 

Watford Borough Council

Salary Contingency 712,285 712,285 712,285 712,285 0 700,035 (12,250) 893,128 1,112,362
Staff Sickness absence budget of £12,250 re-allocated to the 

Senior Leadership Team

Total 2,725,157 2,825,157 2,825,157 2,825,157 4,254,681 2,887,630 62,473 2,734,572 2,963,658

P
age 54



Policy & Resources Committee Detailed Monitoring Report                              Appendix 3 

 
P&R Committee Medium Term Revenue Budget Service cont. 
 

 

Leader

Original 

Budget 

2024/25

Original 

Budget Plus 

2023/24 Carry 

Forwards

Latest 

Budget 

2024/25

Previous 

Forecast  

2024/25

Spend to Date
Latest Forecast 

2024/25

Variance @ 

P3

Forecast 

2025/26

Forecast 

2026/27
Officer Comments

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Register Of Electors 36,800 36,800 36,800 36,800 3,197 36,800 0 36,800 36,800 Budget will be spent

District Elections 76,320 76,320 76,320 76,320 150,735 76,320 0 76,320 76,320 Awaiting recharges of May 2024 Parish and PCC elections

Customer Service Centre 949,303 949,303 949,303 949,303 228,130 949,303 0 959,124 961,784 Budget will be spent

Democratic Representation 321,516 321,516 321,516 321,516 97,542 335,951 14,435 335,951 335,951
5% Increase to Members Allowance approved by Full Council 

12/12/2023

Customer Contact Programme 6,000 47,055 47,055 47,055 39,580 47,055 0 68,453 68,453 Budget will be spent

Customer Experience 95,468 95,468 95,468 95,468 23,884 95,468 0 99,401 99,401 Budget will be spent

Communication 324,697 324,697 324,697 324,697 75,887 331,697 7,000 331,697 331,697
Staff Sickness absence budget of £7,000 re-allocated for Staff 

Days

Legal Practice 402,049 402,049 402,049 402,049 126,896 425,019 22,970 410,668 411,333

Income from reserves budget removed of £7,800 as Software 

licences were previously funded from New Homes Bonus 

reserve, which has now been extinguished. Increase in 

Professional Fees - Consulting of £15,000 required due to 

advise received on current cases and Staff Sickness absence 

budget of £170 re-allocated to the Senior Leadership Team

Committee Administration 207,249 207,249 207,249 207,249 46,463 210,249 3,000 212,217 214,181

Budget virement of £3,000 Youth Council budget from Leisure 

Development as Committee Admin will now manage the 

service

Elections & Electoral Regn 125,815 125,815 125,815 125,815 57,370 142,815 17,000 144,783 146,747

Income from reserves budget removed of £17,000 as Software 

licences were previously funded from New Homes Bonus 

reserve, which has now been extinguished. 

Parish Elections 0 0 0 0 (1,746) 0 0 0 0 May 2024 awaiting recharges

Parliamentary Elections 0 0 0 0 (138,296) 0 0 0 0 July 2024 Election awaiting recharges

Police Commissioner Election 0 0 0 0 (68,352) 0 0 0 0
May 2021 Election claim currently with Cabinet Office. May 

2024 election awaiting recharges

Total 2,545,217 2,586,272 2,586,272 2,586,272 641,290 2,650,677 64,405 2,675,414 2,682,667

Total Policy and Resources 5,270,374 5,411,429 5,411,429 5,411,429 4,895,971 5,538,307 126,878 5,409,986 5,646,325

P
age 55



Policy & Resources Committee Detailed Monitoring Report                              Appendix 3 

 
Annex B 
P&R Committee Explanations of revenue supplementary estimates, variances to be managed and virements reported this Period 
 
Supplementary estimates 
 

 
 
Variances 
 

 
 
 

 

Description Main Group Heading Details of Outturn Variances to Latest Approved Budget
2024/25                      

£

2025/26                     

£

2026/27                    

£
Office Services Premises Increase in Cleaning budget due to paying the Real Living Wage              10,000                   10,000             10,000 

Three Rivers House Income
Increase in Rent Buildings due to increase in space leased by the Police, they now 

occupy part of Lower Ground Floor. Full rent review undertaken.
(35,932) (35,932) (35,932)

Employees Increase in cost of Group Life Assurance 2,745                     2,745               2,745 

Third Party Payments Increase in Shared Service recharge from Watford Borough Council 24,660                   24,660             24,660 

ICT Client Income Funded from Reserves
Software licences previously funded from New Homes Bonus reserve, which has 

now been extinguished. 
             80,000                   80,000             80,000 

81,473 81,473 81,473 
Democratic Representation Supplies and Services 5% Increase to Members Allowance approved by Full Council 12/12/2023              14,435                   14,435             14,435 

Elections & Electoral Regn Income Funded from Reserves
Software licences previously funded from New Homes Bonus reserve, which has 

now been extinguished. 
             17,000                   17,000             17,000 

Legal Practice Income Funded from Reserves
Software licences previously funded from New Homes Bonus reserve, which has 

now been extinguished. 
               7,800                     7,800               7,800 

39,235 39,235 39,235 

120,708 120,708 120,708 Total Policy and Resources

 Policy and Resources

HR Client

Total Leader

Total Resources

Description Main Group Heading Details of Outturn Variances to Latest Approved Budget
2024/25                      

£

2025/26                     

£

2026/27                    

£

Legal Practice Supplies and Services
Increase in Professional Fees - Consulting required due to advise received on 

current cases
             15,000                            -                        -   

Office Service Income Increased Income from Internal recharges for Print & Post (10,000) (10,000) (10,000)

5,000 (10,000) (10,000)

5,000 (10,000) (10,000)

 Policy and Resources

Total Resources

Total Policy and Resources

P
age 56



Policy & Resources Committee Detailed Monitoring Report                              Appendix 3 

 
P&R Committee Explanations of revenue supplementary estimates, variances to be managed and virements reported this Period cont. 
 
Virements 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

    
 
 
 
 
 

Description Main Group Heading Details of Outturn Variances to Latest Approved Budget
2024/25                      

£

2025/26                    

£

2026/27                      

£

Supplies and services To spend ringfenced UK Shared Prosperity Fund grant 530,053                          -                        -   

Income Receipt of UK Shared Prosperity Fund grant (530,053)                          -                        -   

Chief Executive Supplies and Services Staff Sickness absence budget re-allocated to the Senior Leadership Team 90 90 90

Director of Finance Supplies and Services Staff Sickness absence budget re-allocated to the Senior Leadership Team 2,060 2,060 2,060

Associate Director of Strategy, 

Partnerships & Housing
Supplies and Services Staff Sickness absence budget re-allocated to the Senior Leadership Team 1,100 1,100 1,100

Salary Contingency Funds Employees Staff Sickness absence budget re-allocated to the Senior Leadership Team (12,250) (12,250) (12,250)

Supplies and services To spend ringfenced DWP grant 31,884                          -                        -   

Income Receipt of DWP grant (31,884)                          -                        -   

(9,000) (9,000) (9,000)

Communications Supplies and Services Staff Sickness absence budget re-allocated to the Senior Leadership Team 7,000 7,000 7,000

Legal Practice Supplies and services Staff Sickness absence budget re-allocated to the Senior Leadership Team 170                      170                  170 

Committee Admin Supplies and services
Youth Council budget transferred from Leisure Development as Committee Admin will 

now manage the service
3,000                   3,000               3,000 

10,170 10,170 10,170 

1,170 1,170 1,170 

Total Leader

Shared Prosperity Fund

 Policy & Resources

Total Resources

Benefits New Burdens

Total Policy and Resources

P
age 57



Policy & Resources Committee Detailed Monitoring Report                              Appendix 3 

 
Annex C 
P&R Medium term capital investment programme 

 

 
Policy & Resources

Leader & Resources

Original 

Budget 

2024/25             

£

Original 

Budgets 

Plus 

2023/24 

Rephasing                  

£

Latest 

Budget 

2024/25          

£

P3 Spend 

To Date                 

£

Forecast 

Outturn 

2024/25            

£

Variance               

£

 Latest 

Budget 

2025/26            

£

Proposed 

2025/26            

£

Latest 

Budget 

2026/27       

£

Proposed  

2026/27          

£

Comments

Professional Fees-Internal 157,590 157,590 157,590 0 157,590 0 157,590 157,590 157,590 157,590 Actioned at year end

Election Equipment 6,000 6,000 6,000 0 6,000 0 6,000 6,000 6,000 6,000 Budget will be spent

Street Lighting 30,000 81,985 81,985 25,350 81,985 0 0 0 0 0 Budget will be spent

Members' IT Equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 48,780 48,780

Rickmansworth Work Hub 3,200 3,200 3,200 0 3,200 0 0 0 0 0 Budget will be spent

ICT-Managed Project Costs 337,551 337,551 337,551 38,558 337,551 0 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 Budget will be spent

ShS-Hardware Replace Prog 0 0 0 0 0 0 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000

Garage Improvements 150,000 148,410 148,410 (7,275) 148,410 0 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 Budget will be spent

ICT Website Development 0 14,870 14,870 0 14,870 0 0 0 0 0 Budget will be spent

ICT Hardware Replacement Prog 114,824 114,824 114,824 0 114,824 0 45,000 45,000 45,000 45,000 Budget will be spent

TRH Whole Life Costing 335,000 427,427 427,427 17,137 427,427 0 170,000 170,000 170,000 170,000 Budget will be spent

Basing House-Whole Life Costing 75,000 75,000 75,000 0 75,000 0 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 Budget will be spent

Business Application Upgrade 40,000 40,000 40,000 0 40,000 0 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 Budget will be spent

Three Rivers House Transformation 0 15,585 15,585 0 15,585 0 0 0 0 0 Budget will be spent

Sub-total Leader & Resources 1,249,165 1,422,442 1,422,442 73,770 1,422,442 0 778,590 778,590 827,370 827,370

Major Projects

Original 

Budget 

2024/25             

£

Original 

Budgets 

Plus 

2023/24 

Rephasing                  

£

Latest 

Budget 

2024/25          

£

P3 Spend 

To Date                 

£

Forecast 

Outturn 

2024/25            

£

Variance               

£

 Latest 

Budget 

2025/26            

£

Proposed 

2025/26            

£

Latest 

Budget 

2026/27       

£

Proposed  

2026/27          

£

Comments

Property Investment Board 0 0 0 1,077 0 0 0 0 0 0

Local Authority Housing Fund 0 5,845,025 5,845,025 3,918,550 9,758,225 3,913,200 0 0 0 0

Payment made in March 2024 for acquisition of 11 units in South Oxhey 

which was delayed until April 2024. Accounting entries applied to rectify 

this. Budget now required to be transferred from 2023/24 to 2024/25

Sub-total Major Projects 0 5,845,025 5,845,025 3,919,627 9,758,225 3,913,200 0 0 0 0

Total  Policy & Resources 1,249,165 7,267,467 7,267,467 3,993,397 11,180,667 3,913,200 778,590 778,590 827,370 827,370

P
age 58



 
Annex D 

P&R Explanations of capital variances reported this Period 

 

 

  

Description Details of Outturn Variances to Latest Approved Budget
2024/25        

£

2025/26    

£

2026/27         

£

LAHF

Payment made in March 2024 for acquisition of 11 units in South Oxhey which 

was delayed until April 2024. Accounting entries applied to rectify this. Budget 

now required to be transferred from 2023/24 to 2024/25

3,913,200 0 0 

3,913,200 0 0 

Policy & Resources

Total Policy & Resources

P
age 59



 
Annex E 
P&R Key Income Streams 
 

      

Garages and Shops

Garages Month 

Rent £ Volume £ Volume £ Volume £ Volume

April (67,120) 18% (76,062) 17% (79,962) 18% (84,907) 8%

May (84,598) 18% (74,883) 17% (70,669) 16% (90,903) 7%

June (67,303) 18% (75,841) 16% (80,973) 16% (89,983) 8%

July (68,901) 17% (76,597) 16% (82,085) 14%

August (85,572) 17% (72,188) 16% (81,588) 14%

September (66,891) 18% (74,631) 16% (81,247) 14%

October (67,979) 17% (75,002) 16% (82,104) 14%

November (86,494) 16% (73,282) 15% (80,289) 14%

December (69,289) 17% (74,000) 16% (82,367) 11%

January (87,711) 17% (75,231) 16% (80,210) 9%

February (69,601) 16% (74,914) 18% (81,581) 9%

March (69,067) 17% (72,721) 17% (80,968) 8%

Total (890,526) (895,352) (964,043) (265,793)

Shops Month 

Rent £ Volume £ Volume £ Volume £ Volume

April (46,828) n/a (46,495) n/a (39,495) n/a (35,353) n/a

May 0 n/a 0 n/a 0 n/a 0 n/a

June (30,853) n/a (37,853) n/a (37,853) n/a (71,401) n/a

July (15,250) n/a (8,250) n/a (8,250) n/a

August 0 n/a 0 n/a 0 n/a

September (38,245) n/a (38,244) n/a (31,244) n/a

October (8,250) n/a (8,250) n/a (14,773) n/a

November 0 n/a 0 n/a 0 n/a

December (37,853) n/a (37,853) n/a (37,853) n/a

January (8,250) n/a (8,250) n/a (8,250) n/a

February 0 n/a 0 n/a 0 n/a

March 0 n/a (7,000) n/a (7,017) n/a

Total (185,528) (192,195) 0 (184,735) 0 (106,753) 0 

2024/25

2024/25

Comments: The original 2024/25 budget is £210,000. There are 20 shops in the district which are predominantly let as self 

repairing leases. Each shop rent is negotiated at the best market rate taking into consideration local factors regarding usage, 

availability, affordability and community benefit.

Comments: The original budget for 2024/25 is £1,107,950. Lower level applied to those in the more difficult to let areas. 

There are currently 1,056 rentable garages. The void percentage is based on the rentable stock only.  

2023/24

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

2021/22 2022/23

Page 60



 
                   Appendix 4 

 
Corporate costs Medium Term Revenue Budget 
 

 

 
 

Corporate Costs

Original 

Budget 

2024/25

Original 

Budget Plus 

2023/24 Carry 

Forwards

Latest 

Budget 

2024/25

Previous 

Forecast  

2024/25

Spend to Date
Latest Forecast 

2024/25

Variance @ 

P3

Forecast 

2025/26

Forecast 

2026/27
Officer Comments

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Interest Earned (760,000) (760,000) (760,000) (760,000) (5,420) (1,260,000) (500,000) (660,000) (660,000)

A variance to be managed of  £500,000 on Investment interest 

due to continuing high interest rates and unpredictability going 

forwards

Interest Paid 715,606 715,606 715,606 715,606 (8,980) 715,606 0 755,266 741,766 Budget will be spent

Parish Precepts 2,500,591 2,500,591 2,500,591 2,500,591 1,250,296 2,500,591 0 2,500,591 2,500,591 Paid half yearly in April & September

Total Corporate Costs 2,456,197 2,456,197 2,456,197 2,456,197 1,235,896 1,956,197 (500,000) 2,595,857 2,582,357  

P
age 61



 
Appendix 5 

Funding the Capital Investment Programme 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2024/25 2024/25 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27

Capital Programme 
Original 

Budget

Latest 

Budget
Forecast Forecast

£ £ £ £ £

Balance Brought Forward

Govt Grants: Disabled Facility Grants (1,269,046) (1,269,046) (1,269,046) (1,269,046) (1,269,046)

Section 106 Contributions (1,535,703) (1,535,703) (1,535,703) (1,535,703) (1,535,703)

Capital Receipts Reserve 0 0 0 0 0

LAHF (5,152,715) (5,152,715) (5,152,715) 0 0

Future Capital Expenditure Reserve 0 0 0 0 0

New Homes Bonus Reserve 0 0 0 0 0

Total Funding Brought Forward (7,957,464) (7,957,464) (7,957,464) (2,804,749) (2,804,749)

Generated in the Year

Govt Grants: Disabled Facility Grants (586,000) (725,637) (725,637) (586,000) (586,000)

Section 106 Contributions 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Receipts Reserve (1,100,000) (1,100,000) (1,100,000) (1,000,000) (1,000,000)

LAHF 0 0 0 0 0

Future Capital Expenditure Reserve 0 0 0 0 0

New Homes Bonus Reserve (100,025) (100,025) (100,025) (95,000) (95,000)

Total Generated (1,786,025) (1,925,662) (1,925,662) (1,681,000) (1,681,000)

Use of Funding

Govt Grants: Disabled Facility Grants 586,000 725,637 725,637 586,000 586,000

Section 106 Contributions 0 0 0 0 0

CIL Contributions 460,000 460,000 1,918,092 0 0

Capital Receipts Reserve 1,100,000 1,100,000 1,100,000 1,000,000 1,000,000

LAHF 0 5,152,715 0 0

Future Capital Expenditure Reserve 0 0 0 0 0

New Homes Bonus Reserve 100,025 100,025 100,025 95,000 95,000

Borrowing 3,131,003 10,518,254 9,591,847 1,707,590 1,756,370

Total Use of Funding 5,377,028 12,903,916 18,588,316 3,388,590 3,437,370

Balance Carried Forward

Govt Grants: Disabled Facility Grants (1,269,046) (1,269,046) (1,269,046) (1,269,046) (1,269,046)

Section 106 Contributions (1,535,703) (1,535,703) (1,535,703) (1,535,703) (1,535,703)

Capital Receipts Reserve 0 0 0 0 0

LAHF (5,152,715) (5,152,715) 0 0 0

Future Capital Expenditure Reserve 0 0 0 0 0

New Homes Bonus Reserve 0 0 0 0 0

Total Funding Carried Forward (7,957,464) (7,957,464) (2,804,749) (2,804,749) (2,804,749)

South Oxhey Initiative

Balance Brought Forward 0 0 0 0 0

Generated in the Year (Land Receipts) (6,354,279) (6,354,279) (6,354,279) 0 0

Repayment of Borrowing 6,354,279 6,354,279 6,354,279 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0

Total Expenditure Capital Investment Programme 5,377,028 12,903,916 18,588,316 3,388,590 3,437,370

Outturn 

Forecast at 

P3

CAPITAL INVESTMENT PROGRAMME 2024-2027 - FUNDING

Page 62



 
 
            APPENDIX 6 
 
Medium Term Financial Plan 2023-2026 
 
Medium Term Financial Plan - Consolidated Revenue Account (General Fund)

2025/26 2026/27

Original        

Original 

Budget plus 

Carry 

Forwards 

from 2023/24

Latest 

Budget 

Previous 

Forecast

Latest 

Forecast
Forecast Forecast

 Council Tax Base (No.) 39,850.80 39,850.80 39,850.80 39,850.80 39,850.80 40,249.30 40,651.80

 Council Tax Base Increase (%) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.99 0.99

 Band D Council Tax (£) 200.37 200.37 200.37 200.37 200.37 206.36 212.53

 Council Tax Increase - TRDC (%) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2.99 2.99

 Council Tax (£) (7,984,905) (7,984,905) (7,984,905) (7,984,905) (7,984,905) (8,305,846) (8,639,727)

 Parish Precepts (£) (2,500,591) (2,500,591) (2,500,591) (2,500,591) (2,500,591) (2,500,591) (2,500,591)

Total Taxation (£) (10,485,496) (10,485,496) (10,485,496) (10,485,496) (10,485,496) (10,806,437) (11,140,318)

  Business Rates (£) (2,818,907) (2,818,907) (2,818,907) (2,818,907) (2,818,907) (2,795,000) (2,795,000)

  Collection Fund Surplus (£) 84,870 84,870 84,870 84,870 84,870 84,870 0 

  New Homes Bonus Grant (£) (100,025) (100,025) (100,025) (100,025) (100,025) (95,000) (95,000)

  Government Funding (£) (589,041) (589,041) (589,041) (589,041) (589,041) (500,000) (500,000)

  Dividend (£) (50,000) (50,000) (50,000) (50,000) (50,000) (50,000) (50,000)

Total Grant Funding (£) (3,473,103) (3,473,103) (3,473,103) (3,473,103) (3,473,103) (3,355,130) (3,440,000)

Total Taxation & Grant Funding (£) (13,958,598) (13,958,598) (13,958,598) (13,958,598) (13,958,598) (14,161,567) (14,580,318)

2025/26 2026/27

Financial Statement - Summary Original        

Original 

Budget plus 

Carry 

Forwards 

from 2023/24

Latest 

Budget 

Previous 

Forecast

Latest 

Forecast
Forecast Forecast

£ £ £ £ £

Committee - Net Cost Of Services

     General Public Services, Community Safety and Infrastructure 4,480,576 4,535,325 4,535,325 4,535,325 4,535,325 4,504,590 4,464,010 

     Climate Change, Leisure and Housing 1,952,185 2,032,948 2,032,948 2,032,948 2,032,948 2,014,601 2,065,233 

     Policy and Resources 5,270,374 5,411,429 5,411,429 5,411,429 5,411,429 5,298,108 5,534,447 

Period 3 Variances 0 0 0 0 469,772 136,229 136,229 

     Sub-Total 11,703,135 11,979,702 11,979,702 11,979,702 12,449,474 11,953,528 12,199,919 

Other

     Parish Precepts 2,500,591 2,500,591 2,500,591 2,500,591 2,500,591 2,500,591 2,500,591 

     Interest Payable & Borrowing costs 715,606 715,606 715,606 715,606 715,606 755,266 741,766 

     Interest Received (760,000) (760,000) (760,000) (760,000) (760,000) (760,000) (660,000)

Period 3 Variances 0 0 0 0 (500,000) 0 0 

     Sub-Total 2,456,197 2,456,197 2,456,197 2,456,197 1,956,197 2,495,857 2,582,357 

Net Expenditure 14,159,332 14,435,899 14,435,899 14,435,899 14,405,671 14,449,385 14,782,276 

Income from Council Tax, Government Grants & Business 

Rates
(13,958,598) (13,958,598) (13,958,598) (13,958,598) (13,958,598) (14,161,567) (14,580,318)

 (Surplus)/Deficit Before Use of Earmarked Reserves 200,734 477,301 477,301 477,301 447,073 287,818 201,958 

Planned Use of Reserves:

Economic Impact Reserve 0 0 0 0 (147,587) (147,587) 0 

(Surplus) / Deficit to be funded from General Balances 200,734 477,301 477,301 477,301 299,486 140,231 201,958 

2025/26 2026/27

Movement on General Fund Balance Original        

Original 

Budget plus 

Carry 

Forwards 

from 2023/24

Latest 

Budget 

Previous 

Forecast

Latest 

Forecast
Latest Latest

£ £ £ £ £

  Balance Brought Forward at 1 April (4,964,156) (4,964,156) (4,964,156) (4,964,156) (4,964,156) (4,664,670) (4,524,439)

  Revenue Budget (Surplus)/Deficit for Year 200,734 477,301 477,301 477,301 299,486 140,231 201,958 

Closing Balance at 31 March (4,763,422) (4,486,855) (4,486,855) (4,486,855) (4,664,670) (4,524,439) (4,322,481)

2024/25 2025/26

Movement on Economic Impact Original        

Original 

Budget plus 

Carry 

Forwards 

from 2023/24

Latest 

Budget 

Previous 

Forecast

Latest 

Forecast
Latest Latest

£ £ £ £ £

  Balance Brought Forward at 1 April (1,067,969) (1,067,969) (1,067,969) (1,067,969) (1,067,969) (920,382) (772,795)

  COVID-19 Impact for Year 0 0 0 0 147,587 147,587 0 

Closing Balance at 31 March (1,067,969) (1,067,969) (1,067,969) (1,067,969) (920,382) (772,795) (772,795)

2024/25 2025/26

Original        

Original 

Budget plus 

Carry 

Forwards 

from 2023/24

Latest 

Budget 

Previous 

Forecast

Latest 

Forecast
Latest Latest

£ £ £ £ £

 Balance Brought Forward at 1 April (6,032,125) (6,032,125) (6,032,125) (6,032,125) (6,032,125) (5,585,052) (5,297,234)

 Impact for Year 200,734 477,301 477,301 477,301 447,073 287,818 201,958 

 Closing Balance at 31 March (5,831,391) (5,554,824) (5,554,824) (5,554,824) (5,585,052) (5,297,234) (5,095,276)

Total Reserves (5,831,391) (5,554,824) (5,554,824) (5,554,824) (5,585,052) (5,297,234) (5,095,276)

Total Reserves Impact

2023/24

Funding

2024/25

2024/25

2024/25

2023/24

Page 63



 
                  Appendix 7 
Reserves Forecast 2023/24 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Opening 

Balance

Net 

Movement  

in Year

Closing 

Balance

01/04/2024                            

£

                                

£

31/03/2025                                         

£

General Reserves

General Fund (4,964,156) 299,486 (4,664,670) Working balance to support the Council's revenue services. £2M is a suggested prudent minimum 

Economic Impact (EIR) (1,067,969) 147,587 (920,382) To support the funding of unexpected/unplanned Council expenditure as a result of fluctuations in the economy. 

Total Revenue (6,032,125) 447,073 (5,585,052)

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) (8,826,921) (397,312) (9,224,233) Developers contributions towards Infrastructure

Capital Receipts 0 (30,103) (30,103) Generated from sale of Council assets

Grants & Contributions (6,421,761) (1,042,820) (7,464,581) Disabled Facility Grants and other contributions

Reserve for Capital expenditure 0 0 0 Reserve set aside for supporting capital expenditure

Total Capital (15,248,682) (1,470,235) (16,718,917)

New Homes Bonus 0 0 0 Government grant set aside for supporting capital expenditure

Section 106 (1,802,026) (562,942) (2,364,968) Developers contributions towards facilities

Leavesden Hospital Open Space (753,889) 0 (753,889) To maintain open space on the ex hospital site

Abbots Langley - Horsefield (749,415) 0 (749,415) Developers contributions towards maintenance of site

Environmental Maintenance Plant (110,642) 0 (110,642) Reserve to fund expenditure on plant & machinery

Building Control (350,596) 0 (350,596) To provide against future losses and/or borrowing against Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd

Commercial Risk Reserve (8,827,444) 0 (8,827,444) To manage timing of cashflows and risks in relation to commercial ventures

Collection Fund Reserve (6,222,585) 0 (6,222,585) To manage timing differences on the Collection Fund

HB Equalisation (44,592) 0 (44,592) To provide against future deficits on the Housing Benefit account

Grants & Contributions (1,468,133) 0 (1,468,133) Revenue Grants earmarked for use in future years

Planning Reserve (88,132) 0 (88,132) To allow for conservation area appraisals, the local plan timetable to be accelerated and other planning advice

Total Other (20,417,454) (562,942) (20,980,396)

Total All (41,698,261) (1,586,104) (43,284,365)

Category Purpose 

Capital Reserves

Other Earmarked Reserves

P
age 64



 
                  Appendix 8 
Budgetary Risks  

 

 
 

P
age 65



 

 

P
age 66



 

 

P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report from the Leader of the Council, Councillor Stephen Giles-Medhurst 

I have had a series of meetings with various community leaders over the last few 
months. 

This includes a helpful meeting with MP Gagan Mohindra and Jon Bishop from the 
Three Rivers Joint Residents Association to discuss Three Rivers’ approach to the 
Local Plan. We all agreed that the 13,300-figure proposed in the new Labour 
government National Planning Policy changes is unacceptable and the figure we have 
consulted on represents the best outcome for our area. However, we accept that the 
proposed changes are likely to make getting the lower figure through the government 
inspector impossible. Given this, briefings for group leaders and the TRJRA have been 
held and further ones planned prior to the next Local Plan subcommittee to consider 
the best way forward to protect our valuable green belt. 

I have met and discussed policing issues with the Police and Crime Commissioner. 

The Chief Executive and I have met with the Leader of Herts County Council and the 
acting Chief Executive. I will soon be meeting with the new Herts County Council Chief 
Executive. Issues discussed and indeed ones I have had to follow up due the low rate 
of progress include: 

 Fire damage at Rickmansworth Library and our offer to accommodate the 
library at Three Rivers House. 

 Constant delays in getting the licences and permits to ensure the Croxley Beryl 
Bike scheme should go ahead. Officers have been working on this since March! 

 The lease arrangements for Oxhey Jets. 

 Delays in highways permits for finalising the entrance work at Leavesden 
Country Park. 

I am pleased officers have worked collaboratively with Oxhey Jets and I am pleased 
to discuss and provide assurances direct to John Elliot. 

Peace and tolerance are something the whole world has been fighting for, for many 
decades, and while progress has been made, there is still some way to go. 

Three Rivers may be a small district council but is a diverse and welcoming area that 
celebrates inclusivity where everyone, regardless of race, sexual orientation, or 
gender identity, feels valued and respected. 

We are committed to ensuring that everyone, no matter who they are and where they 
are from, feels safe, respected and a valued member of the community. We support 
awareness months, organisations and events, such as Herts Pride, to celebrate 
diversity and remind people of the ongoing fight for equality. 

As a sign of our respect and to show our unwavering support and ongoing commitment 
to diversity, inclusion and equality we often raise flags at Three Rivers House, the 
council’s head office. 

In September, it was an honour to join the Chair of Three Rivers in raising the Ukrainian 
flag to mark 33 years since Ukraine declared independence from the Soviet Union. 
Brave Ukrainians are fighting and dying to stand up for their rights against Putin’s 

Page 69

Agenda Item 8



aggression, and we here at Three Rivers stand tall and strong with Ukraine. Slava 
Ukraini! 

In November, we likewise will remember all those who have given their lives from the 
United Kingdom so we may have our freedom and democracy. 

I am also thankful to our residents for saying no to hate. Last month, the country 
witnessed horrific violent incidents from thugs in the wake of the Southport stabbings. 
Although there were no riots in Three Rivers and Hertfordshire, we stood up to those 
who sought to disrupt our peace and safety. Love will conquer hate.  

Hate Crime Awareness Week will soon be approaching, and the council will be putting 
messaging out on what a hate crime is and the devastating effects it can have on 
victims. I was pleased to be part of the video promoting this.  Love not hate. 

 

  

Page 70



Report from the Lead Member for Resources, Councillor Jonathon Solomons 

Having recently become Lead member for Policies and Resources, I’ve worked with 
Director of Finance Alison Scott to better understand the responsibilities and state of 
play and am glad to be able to provide my first report. 
 
There are main areas I would like to report on for you: 
 
1) The budget management report shows overall the budget is expected to come in 
within the figure originally set at Council in February, highlighting just how good a job 
the TRDC team has done at managing and understating financial impacts. 
 
The council continues to benefit from higher interest rates as it remains cash positive 
with interest rates expected to fall later in the year. 
 
2) The Pay Award for 2024/2025 has not been agreed and negotiations are likely to 
continue into the Autumn. The latest employers offer of £1,290 or 2.5% was agreed 
by the GMB but rejected by Unison and Unite who are currently balloting members 
on strike action. A central contingency is held for the pay award, so your council is 
demonstrating correct financial governance for mitigating risk. 
 
3) The Council has received an additional £2.2M of Local Authority Housing Fund 
money in round 3 to provide a minimum of 5 additional temporary accommodation 
units and 3 resettlement properties. This will be reflected in the next budget 
monitoring round. 
 
4) The Chancellor will announce her budget on October 30 with a single year 
Spending Review also taking place in October. It is expected that this will lead to a 
single year local government finance settlement in November.  
 
5) The Local Government Sector continues to call for the certainty that multi year 
finance settlements can bring and it is hoped that the Government will return to 
rolling three year settlements following the next Spending Review which is expected 
to cover more than one year. 

6) The Council is continuing to work with other Hertfordshire authorities and Local 
Government Futures on the potential for business rates pooling for 2025/26 following 
MHCLG’s (Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government) recent call for 
applications.  

Finally, I would like to put on record my thanks to previous Lead Member Matthew 
Bedford who has done a great job in helping steer progress of this committee and its 
responsibilities. 
 
TRDC is widely acknowledged as one of the better run councils and that is clearly 
down to Matthew’s work, the committee councillors who hold the committee to account 
to be on the right path and Alison Scott and her team’s huge amount of work to cover 
an amazing amount of data points so that we have a budget that works, maintains 
services, minimises cost to residents and provides contingency to mitigate risk. 
 

Page 71



Alison has been great at helping me get up to speed with this and it’s clear to me that 
TRDC is in safe hands. 

 

  

Page 72



Report from the Lead Member for General Public Services, Councillor Sarah 
Nelmes 

 

On parking matters updates are as follows: 

Rickmansworth West – The final scheme has been agreed and works are on order.  It 
is anticipated the scheme will be implemented by the end of the calendar year.  

Chorleywood – the consultation responses on the detailed design have been sent to 
our Traffic Engineer consultant and a report is awaited to decide on the next steps. 

Harefield Road, Rickmansworth – Following the last consultation it has been 
determined to progress a final scheme with minor amendments following objections 
from residents in Heron Closs and Moss Close.  This is currently being prepared. 

Primrose Hill, King Langley – The statutory ‘Notice of Proposals’ consultation for the 
Traffic Regulation Order will be advertised in November (subject to approval from 
HCC) with scheme implementation due later this year. 

High Elms Lane, Garston – given ongoing concerns regarding traffic congestion and 
poor parking along High Elms Lane an informal consultation exercise commenced 
prior to the summer holidays.  The responses from this consultation are being 
analysed.  

Gosforth Lane, South Oxhey – following some junction improvements around 
Gosforth Lane Officers have been discussing further parking restrictions in the locality 
with Ward Councillors.  A detailed design is awaited from the Traffic Engineer. 

School Mead Verge Hardening, Abbots Langley - Following the granting of planning 
permission for application 24/0426/FUL on 23 May 2024, and with agreement from the 
landowner, works to improve parking arrangements at this important local shopping 
parade commenced on 23 September 2024 and will take approximately 8 weeks to 
complete. The works will be completed in stages to ensure that any disruption is kept 
to a minimum and to maintain availability of parking spaces during the construction 
period. These improvements are being delivered through the District Council’s Verge 
Hardening Programme to protect hardened verges that are being damaged by parked 
vehicles. 

Excellent progress being made on EV charging projects and Beryl Bikes and work 
progresses on the W2CG link and step free access – more details in my colleague’s 
report 

 

On waste services updates as follows: 

The Christmas collection calendar is out and the easter proposal is in discussion, 
including proposal to work Saturday BEFORE Easter, as was the case last year. This 
gives the frontline staff the opportunity to have a proper break. 

We continue to have issues with the Managing agents of some blocks where work 
continues to find resolution, more detail on some specific issues in response to 
questions. 

Page 73



Simpler Recycling proposal from the previous Government, especially, on Trade Food 
waste collection, continue to be worked through. There are undoubtedly resource 
issues where proposals will come forward shortly. 

The Herts Waste Partnership is now in Final Draft and will come to Committee later 
this month. 

On Grounds maintenance the last cut of the year has been made and the new season 
tasks have commenced, including: 

 Hedge cutting 

 Clearance of leaves 

 Clearance of garage areas and alleyways 

 Renovation of bowling greens 

We have now got a mechanical composter – this will mix different green waste types 
and, over time will, result in a compost that can be used on bedding and council owned 
land. 

Annual tree/bulb planting at Woodcock Hill cemetery planned for early November. 

 

On Animal Inspection and Licencing, the new officer is proceeding well and her training 
in partnership with City of London continues. 

 

  

Page 74



Report from the Lead Member for Housing and Public Health, Councillor Steve 
Drury 

Housing 

Have had briefings with officers who keep me updated on households in temporary 
accommodation, and as of September 26th this figure was 74. Most of whom were 
housed within the district. We currently have 8 households located outside 3 Rivers, 
one of which is for reasons of safety. 

We have 132 active homelessness applications, 41 of which the Council have 
accepted “duty of care” 

With regard to staffing, there is 1 post being advertised internally but other than this, 
we have a full compliment, which is good to note. 

The 11 new properties in S/Oxhey, which we have purchased, should have been 
signed off last week and then we can move forward and fill them. 

We have had SIAS’s audit review back and the Council should applaud officers who 
have been awarded the highest grade for homelessness service for our residents. 

The Council have written to the two London Boroughs who have residents temporarily 
housed in Shannon House, in Abbots Langley, where we, and the police have some 
concerns, we have had replies from said Councils who are, with us, trying to improve 
the outlook for the temporary tenants. I have been asked to write to the lead members 
of the 2 Boroughs, to make sure that they are aware of our concerns at member level. 

My thanks to Jason and Deborah and all the staff in the housing dept for all their hard 
work for our residents. 

Health 

Our Healthy hubs are seeing more people than earlier in the year which is a good 
thing, this has seen our A/Langley hub move in with the CAB which is more accessible 
for some, the Comms team are putting together a video for the hubs. We are working 
with HCC Carers to launch a carers café in January and there is to be a “taster” session 
in S/Oxhey healthy hub in December. £8000 has been allocated towards Health 
Inequalities from the UK Shared Prosperity Fund, which will go towards venue hire in 
Oxhey and funding for A/Langley hubs. £35000 has been given to TRDC by  Public 
Health for place based health inequalities. There was an event arranged in partnership 
with W3RT and The Grove- Unity in the Community- where almost 400 tickets were 
booked for the free event. 

The MillEnd/Maple Cross forum took place on 16th September and S/Oxhey, 
OxheyHall, Carpenders Park took place yesterday. New terms of reference have been 
produced for these forums. 

I had a meeting ,arranged by Shivani Dave, with Sarah Perman, Director, Public Health 
HCC, early in September to go through what the County wish to achieve with regard 
to the health of the people of Hertfordshire and Three rivers in particular, it was very 
satisfying to learn that our staff are  held in high regard by HCC for their innovation 
and hard work with regard to health. On 18th October I have been invited to a briefing 
by Integrated Health Board to be updated on various health and care organisations 

Page 75



available in Hertfordshire and West Essex, information about the healthcare needs of 
residents and an update, on the priorities for health improvement in our local area. 

  

Page 76



Report from the Lead Member for Infrastructure and Economic Development, 
Councillor Louise Price 

 

I would like to thank Officers for their help in preparing this report. 

 
Beryl Bikes – There have been considerable delays due to Hertfordshire County 
Council Highways licensing and contractual discussions. However, the contract 
between TRDC and Beryl has now been signed, enabling the scheme to launch in 
early October 2024. The highways licence has now also been finalised and signed by 
Beryl and Hertfordshire County Council. Line painting is due to take place on 27th 
September 2024 for four bays, and they will go live shortly after. Bikes will be delivered 
to the bays during the week commencing 30th September 2024.  The fifth and final bay 
at Croxley Library will follow on later.  
 
Local Cycling Walking and Infrastructure Plan – an update report on the progress 
of the LCWIP is due at the October General Public Services, Community Safety and 
Infrastructure Committee following the consideration of over 1500 comments 
submitted as part of the public consultation last year and we finally have the 
Hertfordshire County Council report, who have led on this.  There was significant 
concern from residents over the proposals in Chorleywood and Officers have recently 
met with the Parish Council, the Chorleywood Residents’ Association and Ward 
Councillors to discuss further. We are clear that those proposals in Chorleywood that 
do not have public support will not be progressed. 
 
EV Charging project – TRDC has signed the contract with Blink (our chosen Charge 
Point Operator). The next step is to work with Blink’s installation team to enable the 
work to be completed with the least disruption. Information on final implementation 
timescales is awaited from Blink, but implementation will commence later this calendar 
year. There are also ongoing discussions with Hertfordshire County Council regarding 
the spending of the LEVI fund on further EV charging infrastructure in TRDC.  
 
Step-Free Access at underground stations - Officers met with representatives from 
Transport for London recently following the announcement that further stations are to 
be considered as part of the step-free access programme. It has been confirmed that 
Croxley station will undergo an assessment for step-free access feasibility.  The report 
will be published early next year. We have also raised the need for step-free access 
at Rickmansworth. 
 
Economic Development 
 
Work has started on drafting a new economic development strategy for the Council. 
This will initially bring together all the work the Council is currently doing to support our 
business community through work on planning, sustainability and development and 
other key pieces of work. 
 
  

Page 77



Report from the Lead Member for Community Safety and Partnerships, 
Councillor Andrew Scarth 

 
Community Partnerships & Health 
 
Strategy and Partnerships Team held a Disability Confident Event, at “The Making of 
Harry Potter” studios, in partnership with the Chambers of Commerce, DWP, 
Hertfordshire County Council, Mission Employable and Sunnyside Rural Trust. The 
event had 57 attendees and received positive feedback.   
 
The Connecting Three Rivers Fund is now open for applications, and this will close on 
31 October. The LSP’s Advisory Board will review applications with decisions aiming 
to be made by the end of November. This Fund is linked to the donations platform 
which is now live.  
 
The week commencing 23 September was National Inclusion week – a news story 
was shared on the TRDC website and promoted on social media to demonstrate the 
work undertaken by the council in relation to Inclusion.  
 
The Household Support Fund will be extended to end of March. The Strategy and 
Partnerships Team is working on reviewing need with partner organisations to develop 
a proposal for expenditure of the September – March funding.  
 
A new cost of living checklist is available on the council website, to encourage 
residents to explore all financial support available to them.  
 
Tablets are being introduced to the Healthy hubs, to allow residents to access the 
council website and limited other health and wellbeing related sites to improve 
accessibility.  
 
Frailty Task and Finish Group has had its initial meeting and will be exploring a whole 
systems approach to preventing the development of frailty.  
 
Community Safety 
 
The Youth Action Panel continues to support the No More Service in delivering support 
to young people at risk or involved in youth crime. TRDC has a designated worker and 
currently supports 22 young people. 

 
Promotional work and awareness raising continues through educating residents on 
criminal exploitation and cuckooing. Youth education continues this year following the 
successful youth violence programme earlier in the year, this will see the ‘Crucial 
Crew’ deliver a programme for children around the dangers of Drugs. 
 
“16 Days of Action” begins 25th November and will include: 

White Ribbon Day - 25th November – White Ribbon flag will be raised, the Three 
Rivers White Ribbon video will be launched and a stand will be in the office for 
staff to learn more about domestic abuse and Violence Against Women and Girls.  

Page 78



‘Orange The World’ – 27th November – Watersmeet will be lit Orange to mark the 
day. We will also create a collage of all staff dressed in Orange to support the 
elimination of Violence Against Women and Girls.  
Fund raising day – 4th December – A plan to raise money for Herts Domestic 
Abuse Helpline is being developed by staff 
Domestic Abuse training – there will be 3 training sessions held over the 16 days. 
This will be open to all staff and cover topics such as what is domestic abuse and 
spotting the signs. All staff and councillors to be encouraged to attend. 
Personal safety campaign – to be launched as part of 16 days, colourful 
information booklet sharing all the digital and face to face services available in 
Three Rivers to support all residents who need it. Each service will be highlighted 
throughout 16 days. 

 
Application for funds to purchase new cameras has been submitted, and if successful 
should be in place at the beginning of the new year. 2 cameras each for area South 
Oxhey, Abbots Langley and Rickmansworth and an additional two cameras to be 
deployed around the district as needed. 
 
Police continue to work with high targeted premises – In the last qtr. there were 61 
reported shoplifting incidents, 32 were at the Co-op at Delta Gain. Police are advising 
Co-op of security measures. 
 
Three Rivers Community Safety team organised a District wide Prevent training event 
on 4th September, over 60 professionals from around the district attended and the 
feedback was incredibly positive. 
 
 
  

Page 79



Report from the Lead Member for Leisure, Councillor Chris Lloyd 

Watersmeet Report  

Panto:  

 2024 pantomime of Jack and the Bean stalk is now on sale. We currently 
have 5205 reserved tickets which is the local schools who have been booking, 
and 1502 sold tickets. Panto VIP night to be Friday 13 December @ 6:30pm. I 
have bought my tickets. 

 2025 Pantomime title will be confirmed in late November/early December 

2024. 

Other 

 Replacement of electrical infrastructure works were carried out in August. 

 Christmas Market will be on Saturday 16 November. 
 Membership Scheme - Currently we have 61 memberships sold. These are: 

24 joint and 37 singles. 
https://www.watersmeet.co.uk/watersmeet.co.uk/membership  

 Link to the website - https://www.watersmeet.co.uk/  

 2025 will be the 50th anniversary of Watersmeet. 

 The Watersmeet Annual Review 2023/24 presentation is coming to 16 
October Climate Change Leisure and Housing Committee  

 

Leisure Report 

 Attended the Living Long Better event on 7th September at University of 
Hertfordshire 

 Attended Domestic Abuse and Violence against Women Girls Conference in 
at the Fielder Centre in Hatfield on 17th September.  One of the workshops 
had speakers from the English Football League.   

 Will attend Friday 11th October - Hertfordshire Clubs Conference 2024 in 
Hatfield 

 

 Parkrun  
o The High Sheriff has visited all the Parkruns and Junior Parkrun in 

Three Rivers as part of her plan to visit every Parkrun in Herts. I was 
there for 4 out 5 of her visits. 

o 12th October – Parkrun at Leavesden to celebrate our 45th Wedding 
Anniversary. You welcome to volunteer , walk , jog or run.  

o  The benefits of parkrun | parkrun UK Blog 
 

Open Spaces - Management Plans   

South Oxhey Playing Fields Management Plan is being updated for 2024 – 2029. And 

will be presented to the October CCLC Committee meeting. 

Page 80

https://www.watersmeet.co.uk/watersmeet.co.uk/membership
https://www.watersmeet.co.uk/
https://blog.parkrun.com/uk/2020/11/24/the-benefits-of-parkrun/


Next financial year the management plans for Croxley Common Moor and the Withey 

Beds (off Tolpits Lane near entrance to Moor Park estate) will be reviewed and updated 

for the period 2025-30. 

Stone’s Orchard and The Green’s Management Plan development is underway and 

initial consultation on the briefing document will begin in the coming months. Initial 

conversations with Croxley Green Parish Council has been positive and they will 

continue to be consulted through the process. 

Solar Panels at William Penn 

The tender for the solar panels on William Penn Leisure Centre has been awarded to 

a company called Drakes. Planning approval has been received; works will commence 

on 3rd October and are expected to take one month to complete. 

Leavesden  

YMCA Cafe –The cafe was opened to the public on 24 August. There has been no 

official opening ceremony. 

Leavesden Hive signage – The new signage was installed on 27 August. This design 

should deter any further vandalism. 

Leavesden Country Park – Entrance Widening – Works are progressing well with 

normal vehicle access remaining. Works have taken place to repair the wall and install 

new heritage railings. The new combined automatic gate has been installed. The 

vehicle access gate can now be controlled remotely, allowing better access for One 

YMCA deliveries - they remain updated on the works.  

The planned closure works to tarmac the new entrance did not take place due to 

Highways work on College Road. Officers are awaiting additional permit approval from 

HCC Highways with a view for works to take place overnight. Further updates will be 

provided once the permit has been approved.  

National Playday 

The Play Ranger team supported the National Play Day event at Leavesden Country 

Park on Wednesday 7 August. Over 50 families attended the event organised by the 

Watford and Three Rivers Family Centre team which also included advice stands, face 

painting and more. 

Summer 2024 

Playscheme 

We had another successful summer at the Ofsted registered Yorke Mead Playscheme. 

A total of 1,056 attendances from 215 children. This meant that 88% of available 

spaces were taken up.  

 

Visitors included the NHS Mental Health & Wellbeing Service, JD Ballers, Play 

Page 81



Rangers, Crafty Lucy and Keep a Beat. Parent and child feedback was taken across 

the summer. Below are some of the comments 

 Children “I love playscheme because we get to do lots of fun things and play 

outside”, “I made new friends and played fun games in the hall”, “the play 

leaders are kind and helpful”.  

 Parent “I’m so grateful for playscheme, you’re all amazing and its so lovely to 

see all the children having such a great time.” 

 

The Leisure Service secured £9,000 in grant funding to provide spaces for children in 

receipt of Free School Meals. 39 children were referred and attended a total of 230 

days. Daily hot meals were provided by Top Notch Catering. An audit was carried out 

by the funders, with very positive feedback: 

“The playleaders were very engaged with the children and offer a wide range of 

activities for different interests, which the children were clearly enjoying. There was a 

nice bond between the play leaders which created a lot of energy and a great 

atmosphere. The camp was well organised, with a range of spaces to cater for different 

activities and they had all the appropriate health and safety measures in place.” 

In addition, the playscheme had 112 ACE bookings. ACE is ‘Accessible childcare for 

everyone’ (previously the Holiday Referral Scheme). Three Rivers ACE helps families 

with the cost of holiday play provisions within the Three Rivers area, either via a self-

referral (meeting specific criteria) or a professional referral. In addition to the Three 

Rivers playscheme, families were also able to attend the following provisions across 

the district for a discounted price via the ACE scheme 

 Let Me Play at William Penn Leisure Centre 

 JAG at South Oxhey Leisure Centre 

 Dynamic Ducks at Rickmansworth Park Primary School 

 Junior Playmakers at Warren Dell Primary School 

 Get Set 4 Tennis at Denham Way Playing Fields 

 

Play Rangers 

Two new sites were included this summer, Baldwins Lane Playing Fields and 

Chorleywood House Grounds. In total, the play rangers delivered 70 sessions across 

10 different sites with 1,277 attendances across the summer. We now have 418 

subscribers to the Play Ranger annual membership. (£5 / year).  

Arts and Culture  

 

Cultural Strategy 

Work continues on the Cultural Asset Mapping with plans  underway to engage with 

key Stakeholder groups locally. An online Public Consultation is scheduled to 

commence in October. 

Page 82



 

Artistmeet 

Croxley Green artist Valeria Michael will have the final exhibition of the year, from 3rd 

October – 31st December. There will be no formal Open Reception, but Valeria will be 

attending the Watersmeet Christmas Market on 15th November to talk about her work. 

 

Aquadrome inspired art and wellbeing events  

Bespoke workshops/activities took place this summer, hosted by the Leisure Services 

Team for the Aquadrome NHN Project. 100 spaces were available, 93 of the 100 

available spaces were booked with  84 adults and children attending. 

 Mindful Mosaic workshop  

Participants has the opportunity to relax and unwind with the art of 

mosaicking! People could create a nature themed mosaic to take away and 

display in their gardens or outdoor space. 

 Poster and Storyboard workshop 

Children and young people worked with Children’s Book Illustrator Leanne 

Coehlo, to create posters and storyboards about the Aquadrome. The 

artworks were created to help raise awareness of this special nature reserve 

and to encourage us all to protect it for future generations. 

 Guided Tree and Photography Walk 

Participants were able to learn more about the fascinating tree species that 

can be found at the Aquadrome, their characteristics and how they have 

grown to adapt living within the site whilst learning more about how to 

effectively photograph these natural wonders. 

 Expressive Writing 

Enjoying time for contemplation at the Aquadrome, participants were 

encouraged to use their senses and appreciate the natural environment, 

before heading inside to read and create their own forms of poetry and written 

word, inspired by their memories and time on site. 

 Nature in Clay workshops  

Families enjoyed exploring texture and pattern together, using clay and basic, 

natural materials you might find on a walk in nature. People created mobiles 

and decorations they could hang in their home or garden. 

 Summer Photography Display 

A selection of photographs taken by local residents on our spring Photography 

Walks could be enjoyed by the community in this temporary display. 

Landscapes, familiar viewpoints, flora and fauna and animals in their natural 

habitats have all featured and captured the interest of visitors of all ages. 

 

 

 

Page 83



Sports Development 

Active Parks 

A wide range of outdoor activities took place to celebrate our parks and open spaces 

over the end of June, July and August. Classes included; Tai Chi, Yoga, Pilates and 

Strength & Conditioning (using the new equipment) with almost 600 attendances 

across the 10 weeks of delivery and positive feedback received 

SK8 Jam  

Over 100 young people entered the annual skate jam at Croxley Green Skate Park. 

The event featured competitions for boys and girls. £1,000 was secured from Croxley 

Green Parish Council to support the event with the competition element managed by 

Alex Barton of ABC Skateboarding. Council Chairman Raj Khiroya attended to hand 

out some of the prizes. 

 

Aquadrome Programme 

Pedestrian Bridge  

The first of the bridge closures took place on Monday 23 September to allow for 

essential tree works in preparation for the bridge. Due to adverse weather conditions, 

these works have experienced some delays but are due to conclude by the end of 

September.  

The contract for bridge build has been awarded to Beaver Bridges Ltd. with works 

scheduled to start November 2024. A full Communications plan is in place and being 

implemented. 

The Ebury Way play area consultation completed, and final design agreed. 

Recovery and Resilience funding NHN (National Lottery)  

 Activity programme –The summer programme has been a resounding 

success both in terms of activities and attendances  

 Hydrological Study- The study is underway across the site and will submit an 

interim report in October. A further delay in the release of the Environment 

Agency (EA) upper Colne model has delayed the survey completion which is 

now expected in 2025.  

 Ecological Studies – The majority of the survey work has now been completed 

and draft reports are expected in October. An event is being planned for mid-

October to inform interested people on the data and what we can learn from 

this. 

 Monitoring and Evaluation- the project will draw to a close by the 31 October 

2024 and work is underway to prepare the final evaluation report, which is a 

mandatory part of accepting Lottery funding. This evaluation report will also 

inform the next stage of the Aquadrome Project. 

Page 84



 

Steering Group  

The Steering Group meeting of key professionals and partner organisations will meet 

on 2 October at Rickmansworth Golf Club.  Beaver Bridges will attend to present the 

new bridge design. 

Fishing Swims 

Fishing Swims (allocated areas for fishing) around Batchworth Lake are in varying 

conditions so will need to be specified individually. The specifications will be completed 

by the end of October and are being developed in partnership with Uxbridge Rovers 

Angling and Conservation Society.  

The Bury Grounds Biodiversity Project - 

The following is a proposed phasing of the project: 

Phase 1 

 River Restoration Works - Collaboration agreement signed between Affinity 

Water and the council facilitating the funding of £108,000.00 and a specialist 

contractor has been secured. The contractor will design, achieve relevant 

permitting and then deliver the works. The works will be complete by the end of 

this financial year. 

 Habitat Improvement Works – Through the Landfill Communities Fund Grundon 

have contributed £14,000.00 to the project for habitat improvements, this will 

include tree works, tree planting and scrub maintenance. These works to be 

complete by the end of this financial year. 

 

Phase 2 

 The following works are subject to external funding and hence allocated to 

phase 2, this phase will commence towards Spring 2025 when capacity allows 

following the (near) completion of phase 1 and will begin with and be dependent 

on funding applications.  

 Heritage Works – works relating to protecting the heritage of this site and would 

therefore be a suitable application to the National Lottery Heritage Fund 

 Access Improvement Works – the proposed works are supported by 

Batchworth Community Council who have “ear-marked” £27,000.00 for the path 

surfacing and interpretation. These proposed works are also suitable to be 

included in a National Lottery Heritage Fund bid.  

 

Phase 3 

 Delivery of any elements where funding has been secured in phase 2. 

 

Page 85



Play Area Capital Programme 

Eastbury and Ebury Play Areas: Plans submitted for Certificate of Lawful 

Development as a permitted development.  Works to Ebury Play Area will take place 

as part of the Rickmansworth Aquadrome Bridge project. Ebury play area is 

programmed to be completed early 2025. Works to Eastbury Play area are 

programmed to take place over Winter. 

 

  

Page 86



Report from the Lead Member for Sustainability and Climate Change, Councillor 
Jon Tankard 

 
Green spaces within development are good for our social health and can save us 

money! 

 

Social Value Toolkit: 

 

The Social Value Toolkit is a practical guide to help organizations measure and 

optimize their projects’ broader societal benefits. By focusing on social, 

environmental, and economic outcomes, it encourages a more sustainable and 

equitable approach to development and investment, helping ensure that projects 

create meaningful benefits for communities. 

Social Value is defined through the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 (Act) 

which came into force in January 2013 and requires all public sector organisations 

(and their suppliers) to look beyond the financial cost of a contract and consider how 

the services they commission and procure might improve the economic, social and 

environmental well-being of an area. 

Often Architecture is seen as the object, the element, the form. But that is structure, 

Architecture is the space, volume or void, within or around the solid. Therefore, to 

look at urban form, one must not only consider the solid, but more importantly the 

void around. The void between houses, the void between streets, the void between 

neighbourhoods and the voids between villages and towns, all have an importance in 

the state of place and character. 

Therefore, it is not necessarily the number of houses that we should be counting 

when considering a design issue, it’s how we treat the voids around them. 

Landscape can be hard, or it can be soft. In the case of Penal Correction, 

landscapes are often deliberately hard with Victorian exercise yards being extremely 

harsh, to remind prisoners of their loss of pleasantries. Whilst rehabilitation areas are 

generally soft, with natural vegetation, smells and noise. A place for mental healing, 

a place for pause, a place for reflection and mental repair. 

So why, therefore in our allocation of sites, do we not put greater emphasis on the 

landscape, the spaces and the boundaries of our Urban Spaces, when they are as 

important as the structures? The Social Value Toolkit aims to do just this with specific 

Social Value Metrics which can be extrapolated into monetary value. Fort example 

typical social value benefits include:  

 Well-being improvements (e.g., better mental health, physical health). 
 Job creation and economic inclusion. 
 Reduced social isolation or enhanced social cohesion. 

Page 87



 Environmental benefits, such as carbon reduction or biodiversity 
enhancement. 

Monetization of Social Value: Some toolkits aim to assign a financial value to social 

benefits to make it easier to integrate them into cost-benefit analyses. For example, 

health improvements might be valued based on reduced healthcare costs or 

increased productivity. 

 

  

Page 88



The below is an example of the ‘monetary Values’ the Social Value Toolkit suggests 

can be achieved through some of these metrics: 

 

*https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/District%20Councils%20Socia

l%20Value%20Toolkit%20Final_0.pdf 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

When considering the impact of design in the light of this, we can begin to appreciate 

the cost of failing to direct and dictate the ongoing and future urban development of 

Three Rivers, the cost to future generations health, wealth and social wellbeing is 

directly controlled by the decisions we make today.  

Why can’t the addition of housing estates onto the residential landscape provide 

positive contributions by providing green routes through previously impassable 

obstacles to get to say a train station, school or shops? Enabling residents the 

physical mobility to move around the landscape unhindered with the benefit of easy 

access to green space. With approx. 25% of 19 to 21 year olds are suffering some 

form of mental health conditions promoting such access to green space, known to 

positively improve mental health, can only be beneficial and ultimately money saving 

in terms of healthcare.  

Why can’t these networks also provide the basis of biodiverse corridors, tree 

canopies, summer vegetation, wildlife habitats which in turn support summer cooling, 

Page 89



absorption zones for rainwater run off to reduce flooding and green routes to link 

infrastructure without the need for a car journey. 

This ‘open’ space of the site will come at a cost to the developer, but given that their 

profit will incur costs onto the local infrastructure, and given the SVT can 

demonstrate examples of how to reduce that burden, surely it’s a cost which should 

be recognised as a real cause and effect’ in the design generation of our future 

landscape in ensuring we deliver a housing landscape, that positively contributes to 

society in wellbeing, biodiversity. Because as we have seen in the past, potentially 

the real cost to society, will be ignoring the inclusion of wellbeing, into the design. 

 

  

Page 90



Sustainability, climate change and energy efficiency  

SHDF (Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund) Wave 2:  As of 24th September : 29 
properties in progress (scaffolded, enabled, and boarding in progress) 4 physically 
complete, and another 11 due to complete in coming week. Poor weather may hinder 
progress.  
 
GBIS scheme with E.ON (fully funded cavity wall insulation): marketing of scheme will 
start from October once E.ON produces finalised social media assets. Exploring 
personalised offers to blocks of flats with unfilled cavities in Rickmansworth, though mixed 
tenures in apartment blocks makes these difficult to treat. 
 
Community Energy Fund (CEF): Solar Canopy Feasibility study on 7 council-owned car 
parks has commenced. Grand Union Community Energy leading this project with support 
from TRDC. Community engagement events on the theme of “your vision for the future of 
energy in Three Rivers” have been organised by GUCE throughout September.  
 
Fast Followers project(s): 
Transition Streets: Now focusing on recruiting more streets to try the programme. Two 
new streets are due to start in October (one in Moor Park, and one in Chorleywood). 
GUCE continuing to attend community events to promote Transition Streets 
 
The Retrofit One Stop Shop: Remainder of project focus on overcoming barriers to retrofit 
for “able to pay” demographic and planning to scale the service beyond Fast Followers.  
 
Roundtable event for TRDC’s Planning (Development Management) team to provide 
information and a forum for discussion on retrofitting historic, Listed, and Conservation Area 
homes with experts from the Sustainable and Traditional Buildings Alliance and/or Historic 
England, held at Three Rivers House on 19th September. Feedback being gathered from 
this currently.  
 
Decarbonisation of Core Council Buildings 
 
Cavity Fill 
Quotes have been received to fill the cavities on TRH (£28,000) and Watersmeet. (£37,000) 
. 
A blended approach to funding is pursued including a bid to the Theatre Improvement Fund 
 
William Penn Solar Panel funded by the Swimming Pool Support Fund 
A planning application has been approved for the solar array with works due to 
commence on 43rd October. The design consists of 500 440W solar PV panels and 3 
invertors and the structural survey has confirmed this amount can be installed. The 
quoted cost is £149,996 and can therefore be fully covered by the grant received from the 
government’s Swimming Pool Support Fund. The solar PV system, as designed, will 
generate 192,236 kWh and save between 34- 80 tonnes of carbon dioxide per year. The 
solar PV system is forecasted to offset ~30% of the electricity bill and generate a year 1 
saving of £29,355 and £1.2m over 25-years which represents a payback period of 4.34 
years.  
 

Page 91



Business Energy Efficiency Grants 
The Business Energy Efficiency Grant was launched in July utilising the UK Shared 
Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) to help SMEs organisations implement energy-saving 
measures that will improve energy efficiency and reduce carbon emissions. This will be 
achieved through the installation of energy efficiency measures and renewable energy 
technologies to their buildings. Grants of up to £10,000 are available for eligible SMEs to 
install eligible energy efficiency measures, with further support for energy assessment 
funding where required. The Expression of Interest (EOI) stage is now closed, with 33 
applications received. Further to the EOIs review successful applicants are asked to 
submit a detailed technical proposal with quotes which will be scored again. The initial 
deadline for technical proposals is 30th of September 2024. 

Woodlands and Tree Protection   

  
TRDC Tree management  

 New management plans for Carpenters Wood, and Pheasants and Solomans 

Wood have been completed and the final versions will be presented to the Climate 

Change, Leisure and Housing Committee on 16th October.  

 Works to fell trees due to subsidence issues have been completed on Prestwick 

Road in Oxhey Woods.  Works are scheduled to take place at Bowring Green, 

Oxhey Woods in early September. 

 Ash Die Back – Inspection of high-risk areas of Ash Die Back have been 

completed.  Many areas appear reasonably healthy, however priority locations for 

works include Chorleywood House estate, The Aquadrome and Pheasants and 

Soloman's Wood. There is a £25,000 annual budget for works, which Officers are 

targeting towards areas of highest risk.   

 Oak processionary moth – A small number of reports of OPM have been received 

this year.  Officers are targeting removal works to areas where OPM is present at 

low level in tree canopy.  HCC have developed a brief to produce OPM guidance 

for Councils in Hertfordshire and aim to appoint a consultant to produce the 

guidance later this year. 

 Contractor appointed to undertake tree works around the pedestrian bridge in the 
Aquadrome.  Works scheduled to start on 23rd Sept. 

 Contractor has been appointed to undertake tree works at Cassiobridge Play Area 
and The Bury to support improvement projects at these locations. 

 High priority safety works at Chorleywood House Estate / A404 are currently being 
completed. 

  
Biodiversity   
Chorleywood House Estate – River Chess: Options appraisal is still scheduled to take 
place when possible. Delay resulting from damage due to flooding upstream earlier in the 
year taking priority. NB. The council are a stakeholder/landowner in the project, not 
leading it. 
 
The Bury Grounds Biodiversity Project – 

Page 92



 An informal engagement event for adjacent residents was held for Tuesday 24th 

September from 6pm to 7:30pm meeting within the Bury Grounds. A small but 

enthusiastic group attended and feedback was positive. 

 A river restoration specialist contractor has been commissioned to assist with the 

design, permitting and construction of the river improvements.  

 
Biodiversity Policy & BNG update -  

 Officers are preparing the specification for the required ecological surveying at the 

proposed sites for the Maple Lodge S106 BNG money approved to be spent on 

council owned land at Full Council. The habitat composition and condition surveys 

will take place spring/summer 2025 to ensure they take place during the optimal 

survey window.  

 
Aquadrome Programme 
Pedestrian Bridge  

 CIL funding has been approved and Contract has been awarded to Beaver 

Bridges Ltd.  Works scheduled to start November 2024. Full project team in 

place including the contractor AHR (Employers agents) and TRDC. Regular 

meetings to discuss progress both on and off site 

 Ebury Way play area consultation completed, and final design agreed. 

 Bridge in the design stage. 

 Scrub in Water Ski Compound cleared 

 Comms in place for the closure of the bridge and play area including on site 

notices, social media and press releases. 

AMP funding  

 Funding received for £510,000 and detailed programme planning for delivery is 

being developed.  This funding needs to be spent within the next three years. This 

is a biodiversity enhancement project focused along the wet woodland/pinetum 

area between Bury Lake and the River Colne.  It includes a boardwalk in this area 

through the pinetum, interpretation board, new benches, removal of dilapidated 

swims, path works and biodiversity enhancements.    

 
Recovery and Resilience funding NHN (National Lottery)  

 Hydrological Study- The study is underway across the site and will submit and 

interim report. A further delay in the release of the EA upper Colne model has 

resulted in a further delay to the survey completion now expected in 2025. 

 Ecological Studies – Work for these studies is commencing on site, with full 

results expected this Autumn. 

 
NLHF main application- WWW bid 

Page 93



 The new Expression of Interest (EOI) will be submitted in February 2025 reflecting 

the preliminary findings from the hydrological survey.  If successful, the 

development phase bid will be submitted in May 2025.  

 
Fishing Swims 

 Asbestos Surveys have been completed. Full report and recommendations 

collated. 

 Costings for groundworks and pegs being collated with “Beaching” options being 

reviewed. 

 Working with URACS identified the swims that can be removed and to agree 

design principles for the swims that TRDC will maintain.   

 
 

Air pollution and noise pollution  

Noise Pollution 
Residential Environmental Health are seeing an increase in noise and smoke nuisance 
complaints made by residents to the Council. This is common for this time of year. Whilst 
Officers will always consider the use of formal enforcement powers, in the first instance, 
Officers will attempt to work with the parties involved in an effort to achieve an informal 
resolution.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 94



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 1 of 60 
 
 

Table of Contents 

1. Question from Councillor Jon Tankard to the Leader of the Council: ..................... 3 

2. Question from Councillor Vicky Edwards to the Leader of the Council: .................. 5 

3. Question from Councillor Oliver Cooper to the Leader of the Council: ................... 6 

4. Question from Councillor Abbas Merali to the Leader of the Council: .................... 7 

5. Question from Councillor Oliver Cooper to the Leader of the Council: ................... 8 

6. Question from Councillor Oliver Cooper to the Leader of the Council: ................... 9 

7. Question from Councillor Oliver Cooper to the Leader of the Council: ................. 10 

8. Question from Councillor Reena Ranger to the Leader of the Council: ................ 11 

9. Question from Councillor Reena Ranger to the Lead Member for Infrastructure and 

Economic Development: .............................................................................................. 12 

10. Question from Councillor Andrea Fraser to the Lead Member for Leisure: ....... 13 

11. Question from Councillor Mike Sims to the Lead Member for Leisure: ............. 14 

12. Question from Councillor Vicky Edwards to the Lead Member for Leisure: ...... 15 

13. Question from Councillor Chris Alley to the Lead Member for Leisure: ............ 17 

14. Question from Councillor Abbas Merali to the Lead Member for Leisure: ......... 18 

15. Question from Councillor Chris Alley to the Lead Member for Leisure: ............ 19 

16. Question from Councillor Chris Alley to the Lead Member for Community Safety:

 20 

17. Question from Councillor Vicky Edwards to the Lead Member for General Public 

Services: ...................................................................................................................... 21 

18. Question from Councillor Oliver Cooper to the Lead Member for General Public 

Services: ...................................................................................................................... 23 

19. Question from Councillor Philip Hearn to the Leader Member for General Public 

Services: ...................................................................................................................... 25 

20. Question from Councillor Rue Grewal to the Lead Member for General Public 

Services: ...................................................................................................................... 26 

21. Question from Councillor Oliver Cooper to the Leader Member for Housing and 

Public Health: ............................................................................................................... 27 

22. Question from Councillor Rue Grewal to the Lead Member for Housing and 

Public Health: ............................................................................................................... 28 

23. Question from Councillor Mike Sims to the Lead Member for Resources: ........ 29 

24. Question from Councillor Vicky Edwards to the Chair of the Planning 

Committee: .................................................................................................................. 30 

25. Question from Councillor Vicky Edwards to the Chair of the Planning 

Committee: .................................................................................................................. 31 

26. Question from Councillor Oliver Cooper to the Chair of the Planning Committee:

 32 

27. Question from Councillor Oliver Cooper to the Chair of the Planning Committee:

 33 

Page 95

Agenda Item 9



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 2 of 60 
 
 

28. Question from Councillor Chris Mitchell to the Lead Member for Resources: ... 34 

29. Question from Councillor Chris Mitchell to the Lead Member for Sustainability 

and Climate Change: ................................................................................................... 35 

30. Question from Councillor Chris Mitchell to the Leader of the Council: .............. 36 

31. Question from Councillor Narinder Sian to the Lead Member for General Public 

Services: ...................................................................................................................... 37 

32. Question from Councillor Narinder Sian to the Lead Member for General Public 

Services: ...................................................................................................................... 38 

33. Question from Councillor Narinder Sian to the Lead Member for Resources: .. 39 

34. Question from Councillor Cheryl Stungo to the Lead Member for Resources: .. 40 

35. Question from Councillor Cheryl Stungo to the Lead Member for Sustainability 

and Climate Change: ................................................................................................... 41 

36. Question from Councillor Stephen King to the Lead Member for General Public 

Services ....................................................................................................................... 43 

37. Question from Councillor Stephen Cox to the Lead Member for General Public 

Services ....................................................................................................................... 44 

38. Question from Councillor Joan King to the Leader Member for Resources ...... 45 

39. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Leader of the Council ............... 46 

40. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Leader of the Council ............... 47 

41. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Leader of the Council ............... 48 

42. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Leader of the Council ............... 49 

43. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Leader of the Council ............... 50 

44. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Leader of the Council ............... 51 

45. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Lead Member for Infrastructure 

and Economic Development: ....................................................................................... 52 

46. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Lead Member for Infrastructure 

and Economic Development: ....................................................................................... 53 

47. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Lead Member for Infrastructure 

and Economic Development: ....................................................................................... 54 

48. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Lead Member for Leisure: ........ 55 

49. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Lead Member for Community 

Safety and Partnerships: .............................................................................................. 56 

50. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Chair of the Planning Committee:

 57 

51. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Chair of the Planning Committee:

 58 

52. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Chair of the Planning Committee:

 59 

53. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Lead Member for Infrastructure 

and Economic Development ........................................................................................ 60 

 

Page 96



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 3 of 60 
 
 

1. Question from Councillor Jon Tankard to the Leader of the Council: 

 

Will the party opposite, apologise for the substandard accommodation suffered by 

the residents of Shannon House in the Gade Valley, a situation rightly identified and 

condemned by the party opposite in August? 

 

Will they also now accept that the loss of residential rights, in part put upon private 

development, lost under the ‘bonfire’ of legislation lauded by the party opposite, 

enforcing Permitted Development rights in 2013, allowing change of use from Class 

B1(a) office to Class C3 residential without the need for planning permission and 

with the limitations placed on the local authority, to only allow assessments of:- 

 

 transport and highways impacts of the development; 

 contamination risks on the site; 

 flooding risks on the site; and 

 noise impacts from adjoining properties 

 

Obviously excluding the basic human rights demonstrated within the Planning 

limitations set by at least the very basic, design and space standards, and further 

more directing that such developments will not contribute to the Local Infrastructure 

to financially assist the already burdened, Local Schools, Doctors and Dentists. 

 

Given the impact and disgust expressed by Architectural, housing and human rights 

groups when this temporary enforcement was introduced, will they now identify, that 

to make this enforcement a permanent bypass of the basic human rights for housing 

in October 2015, was a grave error of judgement, as noted within their August 

publication, so I request again, having now first hand experience of the disaster of 

their policies, will they make a public apology to the residents of Shannon House for 

the direct association their Government brought to the legitimisation of delivery of 

sub standard accommodation to the poorest in our society. 

 

Written response: 

 

I totally agree the previous Conservative government let residents down allowing for 

sub-standard accommodation. This Council, as the Conservative group is fully 

aware, refused prior approval twice for this development on parking grounds and 

was overruled by the government inspector who accepted the units were sub-

standard but could not refuse prior approval on those grounds. 

 

It is deplorable that despite knowing the facts that the Conservatives deliberately 

misled residents during the recent Council by-election saying this council had “waved 

through permission“ when it could have refused it. 

 

Page 97



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 4 of 60 
 
 

Application reference 20/0369/PDR was given prior approval by the Planning 

Inspectorate (PINS) for a change of use from Office (Class B1) to 74 Residential 

Units (Class C3). At the time of the PINS decision the Planning Inspector was only 

able to assess proposed development on the basis of: 

 

(a) transport and highways impacts of the development; 

(b) contamination risks on the site; 

(c) flooding risks on the site; and 

(d) impacts of noise from commercial premises on the intended occupiers of the 

development. 

 

He had no powers to consider matters such as the occupiers’ living standards and 

indeed commented in his decision letter: 

 

“I recognise the concerns of interested parties in respect of the quality of 

accommodation, inadequate living space, excessive density, lack of 

affordable housing and loss of employment space, but these matters do not 

fall to be considered under existing legislation relating to prior approval 

applications for the change of use of office buildings.” 

 

At the time this conversion was condemned by members of both the Parish and 

District council and concerns were expressed, but the ‘Prior Approval’ nature of the 

conversion, made it legally unchallengeable. 

 

The rules were changed in 2020 following campaigning by national residential 

groups (including Three Rivers District Council) and in April 2021 minimum space 

standards were introduced for office to residential conversions.  However, that 

change to the General Permitted Development Order could not be applied 

retrospectively and so did not affect the lawfulness of 20/0369/PDR. 

 

Subsequent to the grant of prior approval on appeal, the Council later granted a 

planning permission for the same development under a S73 application (ref. 

23/0343/FUL).  The sole purpose of this application was to extend the time for 

completion of the development from December 2023 for a further 3 years.  However, 

Officers considered only a 6 months extension was acceptable. The development 

was subsequently substantially complete by January 2024.  The development 

programme could have easily been accelerated further if the S73 application had 

been refused in April 2023. 

  

Page 98



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 5 of 60 
 
 

2. Question from Councillor Vicky Edwards to the Leader of the Council: 
 

The site on which a hyper-scale data centre has been proposed for next to Bedmond 

Road was previously proposed by Three Rivers for allocation in the 2021 Regulation 

18 consultation. 

 

The site was subsequently withdrawn by the promoter, but the promoter has said 

that: "It is relevant that the application site (the part proposed for built development) 

was considered appropriate for removal from the Green Belt.  Even if the LPA 

changes its mind on whether it needs to be released for housing, it might still be 

appropriate to release the site to meet other development needs such as the need 

for Data Centres." 

 

Accordingly, does the Lead Member consider that the site is at more risk of being 

developed for having been previously proposed for housing by Three Rivers? 

 

Written response: 

 

The site was first included in the earlier Regulation 18 consultation as required by 

the legalisation. It was not included in the later consultations. This need was weighed 

up against the potential harm of removing the site for development from the Green 

Belt as evidenced by the Stage 2 Green belt review. The site would have not been 

included in the final Regulation18 consultation if it had still been proposed as 

housing site as it was then rated as a higher harm site. 

 

The Council did not have any evidence justifying the need for a data centre in the 

District, and so this use was not considered through the Local Plan process. 

 

The need for housing is not related to the need for a data centre and as such it is not 

considered that inclusion at the first Regulation 18 stage in the Local Plan process 

increases the risk of the site being developed for this use. Indeed, the Green Belt 

review is clear evidence of the harm that the development of the site would be either 

as housing or as a Data Centre. The application for the data centre must be 

considered on its own merits taking into consideration the evidence provided 

justifying the need for such development and whether that meets the requirements 

for ‘very special circumstances’. 

 

It should also note that Local Plan preparation and planning applications are 

separate processes, and that the sites included at Regulation 18 consultation stage 

would be given minimal weight in a planning application. The site was consulted on, 

but this does not guarantee inclusion in the final version of the Local Plan. 

  

Page 99



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 6 of 60 
 
 

3. Question from Councillor Oliver Cooper to the Leader of the Council: 

 

Does Three Rivers recognise that the Planning Inspector considers – as it did in 

many cases, such as approving 150 homes and a 50-bed care home on the Green 

Belt in APP/V1505/23/3326612 – that an evidence base developed for withdrawn 

Local Plans or withdrawn site allocations is a material consideration even if those 

allocations are withdrawn? 

 

Written response: 

 

Evidence base documents can be material considerations in planning applications 

where relevant. The council refers to Local Plan evidence such as the Local Housing 

Needs Assessment and Economic Study in its determination of planning applications 

as well as the Green Belt assessment. 

  

Page 100



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 7 of 60 
 
 

4. Question from Councillor Abbas Merali to the Leader of the Council: 

 

Does the Leader of the Council agree that it is unfortunate that the Council did not 

get its act together to even get its Local Plan to Regulation 19 stage: leaving Three 

Rivers vulnerable to this Government's proposed changes to the NPPF and re-

imposition of much higher housebuilding targets? 

 

Written response: 

 

In preparation of the Local Plan the council has had to grapple with multiple changes 

to national planning policy, which have affected the potential levels of growth in the 

district and have therefore resulted in changes in approach. Additional time was 

taken to prepare a low growth version of the plan as agreed by all parties at Full 

Council in December 2022. Had the council continued with the draft plan consulted 

on in 2021 that came close to meeting the standard method housing target then it 

would most likely would have been adopted by now. However, that would have 

required the Council to agree to the much higher housing target at the time of 12,600 

as promoted by his government. It was clear that the public and indeed this 

administration that was unacceptable. 

 

The change in government has resulted in a new version of the NPPF being 

consulted on merely 7 months after the previous 2023 version was published, this 

speed of turnaround in national planning policy is unprecedented and could not have 

been foreseen by the Council.  

Page 101



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 8 of 60 
 
 

5. Question from Councillor Oliver Cooper to the Leader of the Council: 

 

In July's council meeting, the Leader of the Council falsely claimed that the change 

of use permitted development rights apply to Advertisement Consents, as 

justification for the permitting ugly shopfronts on Rickmansworth High Street. That is 

despite changes to permitted development rights not being relevant to Advertisement 

Consent and the Regulations not having been substantively unchanged since 2007. 

He then mentions flags – which weren't involved, as pictures of flags are not flags. 

Why did he mislead the council by making up two obviously incorrect excuses for his 

inaction in one answer? 

 

Written response: 

 

The previous answer was referring to the ‘permitted’ change of use of the premises.  

 

With regard to the advert, ‘deemed consent’ is available to premises along the High 

Street, subject to complying with the conditions of Schedule 2, Part 1, Class 5 of The 

Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 

2007. Class 5 permits any advertisement which does not fall within Class 4A or 4B 

(illuminated adverts) displayed on business premises wholly with reference to any or 

all of the following: the business carried on, the goods sold or services provided, or 

the name or qualifications of the person carrying on the business, or supplying the 

goods or services, on those premises. 

 

In respect of the picture of flags, officers were still investigating whether the 2nd 

fascia, as a result of the images on the sign, was ‘deemed consent’.  

 

Importantly, the main fascia sign was changed again following discussions with 

officers. The sign now in situ benefits from ‘deemed consent’ and thus does not 

require express consent from the local planning authority. 

 

  

Page 102



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 9 of 60 
 
 

6. Question from Councillor Oliver Cooper to the Leader of the Council: 

 

Will Three Rivers create or collaborate with neighbouring councils to create a 

foundation to receive donations or bequests for the benefit of charities or other non-

profits in the area? 

 

Written response: 

 

We already do and I am surprised Councillor Cooper did not know this. A donations 

platform called “Connecting Three Rivers” was launched in June this year and is 

managed by Watford and Three Rivers Trust on behalf of the Local Strategic 

Partnership. We encourage residents and businesses to donate, in order to support 

projects that achieve the Community Strategy. 

 

Funds raised will be awarded to organisations through successful applications. The 

first round is focussing on the following priorities: 

 

1. Promote local employment and volunteering opportunities 

2. Tackle and prevent Anti-Social Behaviour and Youth Crime 

3. Address and prevent hate crime and promote community cohesion  

4. Develop and coordinate the community and voluntary sector.  

 

Donations can be made via connectingthreerivers.org  

Page 103



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 10 of 60 
 
 

7. Question from Councillor Oliver Cooper to the Leader of the Council: 

 

Did Three Rivers respond to the Government's consultation on imposing VAT on 

independent schools? 

 

Written response: 

 

As this does not directly impact on District Councils Three Rivers has not provided a 

response.  

Page 104



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 11 of 60 
 
 

8. Question from Councillor Reena Ranger to the Leader of the Council: 

 

There has been deep concern about action points from committee meetings not 

being taken up by Lead Members at all or for months until the minutes are published.  

This defeats the point of having the Committee System.  Will the council introduce an 

Action Sheet after each committee meeting, as occurs for the Planning Committee? 

 

Written response: 

 

This would simply duplicate actions decided by the committee already being 

recorded within the minutes of meetings. The purpose of a committee system is for 

the council’s committees to take decisions collectively, and the matters the 

committees formally decide recorded as resolutions within the minutes. When an 

individual member makes a commitment to follow something up outside of a 

meeting, that is a matter for him/her to follow up on. If the member has a query about 

a specific action that a lead member has committed to follow up, I encourage her to 

take the matter up with the lead member directly or an officer rather than drag the 

mater out and wait for a question at Full Council. 

 

 

  

Page 105



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 12 of 60 
 
 

9. Question from Councillor Reena Ranger to the Lead Member for 

Infrastructure and Economic Development: 

 

Three Rivers is yet to publish a report of series of recommendations made by 

SavetheHighStreet.org in 2022.  Will the council publish the report and 

recommendations immediately? 

 

Written response: 

 

As previously advised to Full Council the proposals arising from the 

SaveTheHighStreet.Org work were to identify the issues and suggest how these 

could be addressed. The survey was in effect a ‘wish list’ from local businesses and 

High Street traders, rather than a developed and budgeted work programme. TRDC 

also recognised that the recommendations included roles for other key stakeholders 

and interested parties.  No work has commenced on these specific 

recommendations, other than business as usual responses to any graffiti or 

damaged street furniture.  However, the Leader recently announced (July 2024) a 

new project is set to be launched to look at improving Rickmansworth’s High 

Street.  This project will establish a working group with key council officers to both 

look at potential improvements and bidding for additional funding.  This work could 

consider these previous recommendations. 

 

  

  

Page 106



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 13 of 60 
 
 

10. Question from Councillor Andrea Fraser to the Lead Member for 

Leisure: 

 

Why are the public not informed of the specific dangers envisaged by people using 

the Aquadrome path, when doing so is legally required to oust occupiers’ liability? 

 

Written response: 

 

The public were informed through onsite notices and several social media posts that 

the pathway is closed due to health and safety concerns. In addition, heras fencing 

has been securely installed to prevent the public from accessing the site with 

signage on that fencing informing the public that the path is closed.   

  

A statement regarding the pathway is also available on the Council’s website: 

 

https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/services/leisure-parks-culture/parks-open-

spaces/rickmansworth-aquadrome 

 

In addition, a detailed note was sent to all councillors explaining the position 

following a series of mis-information social media posts, and that could have 

encouraged residents to endanger themselves. 

  

Page 107

https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/services/leisure-parks-culture/parks-open-spaces/rickmansworth-aquadrome
https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/services/leisure-parks-culture/parks-open-spaces/rickmansworth-aquadrome


Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 14 of 60 
 
 

11. Question from Councillor Mike Sims to the Lead Member for Leisure: 

 

Why when the footpath at the Aquadrome had to be closed at the beginning of this 

year were the public and councillors not updated until I tabled a motion for debate 

several months later? 

 

Written response: 

 

In addition to the onsite notices informing the public of the path closure, the public 

have been updated on many occasions as to the status of the path via social media 

throughout the winter and spring and updated in a council statement on 5th August 

2024. Councillors were, following some social media posts on a local Facebook 

Group, provided with further information on 12th September 2024.   

Page 108



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 15 of 60 
 
 

12. Question from Councillor Vicky Edwards to the Lead Member for 

Leisure: 

 

A planning application has been submitted for Bedmond Sports Pavilion for a 

substantial part of the facility, including the function room and bar, to be changed into 

a supervised visitation centre which will be operational six days per week. Does 

Three Rivers support Abbots Langley Parish Council's decision to close Bedmond 

Sports and Social Club and end the future of Bedmond FC? 

 

Written response: 

 

Whilst this is a matter for the democratically elected Abbots Langley Parish Council 

to decide I understand that the assumption made “the end the future of Bedmond 

FC” is just untrue and has no basis in facts the Social Club officially closed in 2017. 

 

I am surprised that Cllr Edwards has not checked the facts with Abbots Langley 

Parish Council. The following facts have been provided by the Parish Council. 

 

Bedmond Pavilion Timeline of Events 

 

1) The Bedmond Sports and Social Club, under whose banner Bedmond FC  

 (men's seniors’ team) played, closed in July 2017 as per a vote taken at its EGM 

held in April 2017. The club's lease officially ended in January 2018. 

 

 2) Private local residents took possession of the property in January 2018. The new 

occupiers said they were operating under the name of Bedmond Sports & Social 

Club. The Council assumed the previous leaseholders would legally assign the lease 

to the occupiers as the new trustees of Bedmond Sports & Social Club and these 

would then seek a renewal of the lease with the Council. This never occurred. 

 

3) The Council was in discussions with the new occupiers from January 2018 until 

June 2023, with a pause during the pandemic. During this time, the Council 

repeatedly offered a lease to the new occupiers. As the Council is not able to sign a 

lease with individuals, the Council also requested proof of the occupiers' legal 

registration as Bedmond Sports & Social Club. This was never provided. 

 

4) In May 2023, the Council gave the occupiers a final deadline of June 2023 to 

provide proof that the club was legally registered as Bedmond Sports & Social Club 

and was legally able to sign a lease with the Council. This was never provided as the 

club was never legally registered, therefore, the Council took back possession of 

Bedmond Pavilion at the end of June 2023. 

 

Page 109



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 16 of 60 
 
 

5) In June 2023, Bedmond FC (men's seniors team) closed stating that  they could 

not continue to operate without the Bedmond Pavilion as a clubhouse. The FA's 

rules do allow lower division teams to use local pubs as their clubhouse while 

continuing to use a pitch at another location as a home pitch. It is unknown if this 

option was investigated. 

 

6) Bedmond Youth FC (under 16s and below) have continued to use Bedmond 

Playing Fields as their home pitches and have use of the home and away changing 

rooms, and storage room at Bedmond Pavilion. 

 

7) In July 2024, Council Officers inspected the building and identified significant 

works were required to make the property safe. Although the original lease with 

Bedmond Sports & Social Club was a fully self- repairing lease, Officers found the 

building was in a  

 significant state of disrepair and no repairs had been undertaken and as the club 

ceased the exist there was no ability to get them to fulfil their obligations. The 

Council completed the necessary repairs in February 2024. 

 

8) In March & April 2024, the Council received 2 expression of interest applications 

to lease the newly refurbished building. Applications were considered at the 

Council's meeting in May 2024 and a decision made to offer an applicant a lease. 

The lease offered excludes the home and away changing rooms, and the storage 

area.  These have been separately let to Bedmond Youth FC. 

 

The changing rooms, including toilets, and the storage facilities at Bedmond Sports 

Pavilion have been excluded from the lease negotiations. These facilities have their 

own dedicated entrances, separate from the main hall, and will remain under Council  

 management. 

  

The changing rooms and storage facilities have been offered to Bedmond Youth FC. 

Following a grant from Tesco the Council is making for further improvement of the 

changing rooms. This will improve these facilities for the benefit of the players.  

 Additionally, the Parish Council has agreed with Bedmond Youth FC to  

 increase the number of pitches to be marked out at Bedmond playing  

 fields to 3 junior pitches. This is being done to help meet the  

 needs of the club. 

  

Page 110



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 17 of 60 
 
 

13. Question from Councillor Chris Alley to the Lead Member for Leisure: 

 

I asked in July whether Three Rivers Council has looked into dilapidations or 

liabilities it may have to pay for repairs it has not carried out, once the Sir James 

Altham 3G pitch has been returned to Hertfordshire County Council in April 2025.  

No answer was forthcoming, despite it clearly playing a large part in the public 

discussion and publicity issued by Three Rivers and being a material budget item. Is 

Three Rivers responsible for dilapidations and how much are they expected to be? 

 

Written response: 

 

An answer to this question was provided in writing at Full Council on 9 July 2024. As 

far as this matter is concerned, the answer remains the same, pending progress on 

the surrender of the lease of the Sir James Altham site to Hertfordshire County 

Council. 

  

Page 111



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 18 of 60 
 
 

14. Question from Councillor Abbas Merali to the Lead Member for Leisure: 

 

Padel is one of the fastest growing sports in the UK. With its low barriers to entry, it 

is a great sport to encourage greater participation, promoting physical and mental 

health well-being. However, there are no padel courts in Three Rivers. Can the Lead 

Member commit to consider provision of padel facilities, including one in Eastbury 

Recreation Ground, which lends itself to such a facility? 

 

Written response: 

 

As Cllr Merali has previously been advised, in response to his question to the 17 

October 2023 Full Council meeting, there is currently no budget or plans to 

incorporate padel tennis facilities. Such facilities would cost in the region of £75k and 

although it is fast growing nationally, it is still very niche. Officers will continue to 

monitor any local demand for the sport and identify any opportunities to incorporate it 

into the existing programme where external funding becomes available.  

Page 112



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 19 of 60 
 
 

15. Question from Councillor Chris Alley to the Lead Member for Leisure: 

 

What is the average length of time taken for three rivers to carry out repairs on 

children's playing areas? 

 

Written response: 

 

Time for repair will very much vary dependant on what specifically needs to be 

repaired. There are several variables including the availability of materials, the level 

of fix required i.e. basic or requiring more specialist services. All repair work and 

materials must be to the required BS EN 1176 (play equipment) or BS EN 1177 

(safety surfacing) standard. Some items can be repaired immediately, whilst others 

will take longer. 

  

Page 113



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 20 of 60 
 
 

16. Question from Councillor Chris Alley to the Lead Member for 

Community Safety: 

 

In response to recent crimes and the release of thousands of criminals on to our 

streets by the Labour government, will TRDC increase resources for more CCTV in 

areas such as Delta Gain and South Oxhey? 

 

Written response: 

 

Response to follow 

  

Page 114



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 21 of 60 
 
 

17. Question from Councillor Vicky Edwards to the Lead Member for 

General Public Services: 

 

The council has left pupils walking from Abbots Langley to Parmiter’s School at risk 

on the roads by not requiring the provision of a crossing across High Elms Lane, in 

accordance a condition of planning permission 15/1026/FUL. Three Rivers let the 

applicant off the hook by approving a report from the applicant arguing it was 

unnecessary. However, the conclusion of the report was based solely on children 

from Fraser Crescent and who used the path before the bridleway was opened, and 

so does not reflect the number pupils from the rest of Abbots Langley which would 

have shown much higher demand for a crossing. Will the council urgently add the 

provision of a crossing to its recently completed parking consultation on High Elms 

Lane and commit to using CIL to fund it to make the walk to school safe for children? 

 

Written response: 

 

This is just not the case, TRDC cannot just “add in a crossing” because it wishes to 

do so. Road safety is the remit of the County Council, and it is they who have the 

final say on a crossing provision. 

 

The Councillor is wrong to state that the applicant has been let “off the hook” 

claiming false claiming TRDC argued a pedestrian crossing. 

 

 In fact, the planning condition states: 

 

The development shall not be begun until full details of the proposed access 

arrangements from and to the existing highway network have been submitted 

to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details 

submitted shall include the proposed roundabout junction on Woodside Road, 

zebra crossing on Woodside Road, upgraded vehicle activated signs on 

Woodside Road, the extent of vegetation clearance for visibility at the 

crossing point on High Elms Lane (to the north of the Bridleway) and the 

proposed bus stop enhancement works on Horseshoe Lane. The 

development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and 

no dwelling shall be occupied until the approved works have been completed 

and made available for use, with the exception of the roundabout junction 

which shall be completed and brought into operation prior to commencement 

of the residential development. 

 

Reason: This condition is a pre-commencement condition in the interests of highway 

safety in accordance with Policies CP1 and CP10 of the Core Strategy (adopted 

October 2011). 

 

Page 115



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 22 of 60 
 
 

These measures are in fact in place as agreed with Herts County Council funded by 

the required Section 106 so I have no idea why the Council is claiming they are not. 

 

The decision on whether to proceed with a crossing would for Hertfordshire County 

Council. Any future decision to progress a crossing point along High Elms Lane 

would for a decision for the County Council. They are aware of the District Council’s 

proposals for a parking scheme. 

 

My colleague, Cllr Stephen Giles-Medhurst, knows a lot about the latest scheme to 

improve safety at in High Elms Lane and has worked with officers, the schools and 

the Crem to get an agreed scheme to improve safety for many years. The County 

Council has been I understand very difficult about this. Indeed, at on the most recent 

proposals where Cllr Giles-Medhurst suggested a formal crossing from the public 

footpath from Boundary Way where it joins High Elms Lane. HCC said they would 

not support such a proposal but have agreed that the TRDC plans, and its funding, 

include a clearer crossing point. If Cllr Edwards wants more details, I suggest she 

discusses it with Cllr Giles-Medhurst. 

 

  

Page 116



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 23 of 60 
 
 

18. Question from Councillor Oliver Cooper to the Lead Member for General 

Public Services: 

 

Three Rivers says it will not consider taxed cars to be abandoned, meaning they can 

be abandoned in Three Rivers for up to 12 months before TRDC even thinks it has 

to act. This led to Three Rivers refusing to do anything about a car abandoned on 

the footpath from Chorleywood village centre to Clement Danes until after term 

started: forcing at least dozens of Year 7s to walk into a National Speed Limit road 

on their first day of secondary school. Three Rivers does not appear to have a 

published abandoned cars policy, as other district councils in Hertfordshire do. Will 

Three Rivers publish an abandoned vehicles policy that makes clear its 

responsibilities for removing abandoned vehicles? 

 

Written response: 

 

As is clear below the Council DID NOT TAKE 12 months to get an abandoned 

vehicle removed this appears typical of Cllr Cooper misleading residents.  

 

The council’s policy in relation to abandoned vehicle is already published on the 

Council website on the page titled ‘Abandoned and nuisance vehicles’ within the 

Council services, Transport and Streets section: 

 

https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/services/transport-and-streets/abandoned-nuisance-

vehicles 

 

In relation to the case in question far from refusing to do anything about this specific 

car, officers of this council went above and beyond this council’s responsibilities to 

remove the vehicle. Whilst abandoned vehicles fall under the councils remit for 

action, dangerous vehicles are in fact the responsibility of the Police and not this 

council.   

  

In this instance TRDC officers first received a report of this vehicle on Monday 16th 

September (it having been reported to the council online on Saturday 14th).  The 

council’s Enforcement Officer visited on Tuesday 17th and placed a 7-day notice. 

There were no keeper details on record and the vehicle has a valid MOT.   

  

Whilst this matter would usually fall to the Police to remove as a dangerous vehicle, 

as despite being aware of it they had not acted, officers requested the council 

contractor on Thursday 19th September to remove the vehicle which they promptly 

did on Friday 20th.  The Council further had to arrange to store and pay for storage 

of this vehicle, for 7 days, in case a keeper did come forward. It would have been 

normal practice to place a 24-hour notice of removal on the vehicle, after the 7 days. 

Page 117

https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/services/transport-and-streets/abandoned-nuisance-vehicles
https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/services/transport-and-streets/abandoned-nuisance-vehicles


Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 24 of 60 
 
 

As officers were not able to do so in this instance it was necessary to incur the 

additional costs in case a keeper comes forward.    

   

Far from reusing to do anything, officers not only acted quickly but did so outside of 

our usual processes and our responsibilities, to deal with this matter and ensure the 

safety of young people in our district.  

 

  

Page 118



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 25 of 60 
 
 

19. Question from Councillor Philip Hearn to the Leader Member for General 

Public Services: 

 

What will be the impact on traffic as a result of the proposed cycle scheme along 

Chorleywood Road / Rickmansworth Road / Chenies Road (A404)? 

 

Written response: 

 

All proposed interventions on the routes within the Local Cycling and Walking 

Infrastructure Plan are draft and may be subject to change. The current proposed 

interventions on the A404 focus on widening of the pavement and junction 

improvements with minimal traffic impact expected. 

  

Page 119



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 26 of 60 
 
 

20. Question from Councillor Rue Grewal to the Lead Member for General 

Public Services: 

 

Frequent overflowing of bins creates a vicious cycle where people feel justified in 

dumping their rubbish. This exacerbates the problem and highlights the failure of 

management agents who are charging residents service fees while forcing them to 

live in unacceptable conditions. These conditions are unsightly and pose serious 

health risks, including spreading disease and attracting rats. What actions does 

Three Rivers plan to take to address this worsening issue and hold management 

agents to account for their neglect? 

 

Written response: 

 

The issue is not worsening, rather significant improvements have been seen over the 

past couple of months. Unfortunately, however, there has been a couple of incidents 

recently where fly tipped waste has caused an overflow. Waste services consistently 

empty the bins on the scheduled day.   

   

Management agents have, in the main, responded in a timely manner to any reports 

made by our enforcement team, the most recent having less than a 48 hour 

turnaround from the waste being reported to council officers and being cleared by 

the management agent.  

   

Officers will continue to monitor identified areas twice weekly and report any issues 

onto the management agents to resolve in a timely manner, if a management 

company fails to act on our reports, then officers will take action under a Community 

Protection Notice. So far there have not had any incidents where the managing 

agent has failed to act on our reports and the council has not received any 

complaints in the past month.   

  

Page 120



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 27 of 60 
 
 

21. Question from Councillor Oliver Cooper to the Leader Member for 

Housing and Public Health: 

 

Why has Three Rivers not included a Local Connections Test in its application of the 

First Homes policy to ensure local people benefit from local homes for affordable 

ownership?  Will it now commit to include one urgently? 

 

Written response: 

 

The Council’s First Homes position statement was added to the Council’s website 

following the Government’s introduction of First Homes through a Written Ministerial 

Statement. The position statement sets out how the First Homes policy can be 

applied alongside the Council’s existing affordable housing policy. This meets the 

Government’s requirements but has not added any additional requirements such as 

a local connection test as the evidence to justify further requirements still needed to 

be prepared. The Council is updating Local Housing Needs Assessment, and this 

includes a section on First Homes which will inform any changes to the emerging 

Local Plan policy. 

 

It should be noted that the council’s Local Housing Needs Assessment sets out that 

the district’s greatest need in terms of affordable housing is social rent followed by 

affordable rent. The new consultation draft version of the NPPF is proposing to 

remove the First Homes requirement. This does not mean the Council cannot require 

First Homes but the amount required will need to be based on evidence and we ned 

to have that evidence to support it which is what the council is undertaking. 

  

Page 121



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 28 of 60 
 
 

22. Question from Councillor Rue Grewal to the Lead Member for Housing 

and Public Health: 

 

Thrive Homes’ disgraceful attitude, incompetence, and failure to resolve issues – 

including leaving disabled individuals living in squalor – is wholly unacceptable. It is 

intolerable that we allow Thrive Homes to treat our residents as second-class 

citizens. What actions does Three Rivers plan to take to address this unacceptable 

relationship with Thrive Homes? I want to know the specific action plan for holding 

them accountable and ensuring our residents receive the respect and living 

conditions they deserve. 

 

Written response: 

 

As a registered provider of social housing within England, Thrive Homes is subject to 

regulation by the Regulator of Social Housing. The regulator is responsible for 

setting consumer and economic standards for registered providers of social housing 

and can act if these standards are breached.  

 

The consumer standards include the safe and quality standard, that requires 

registered providers of social housing to ensure that their tenants properties meet 

the standards set out in the Decent Homes Guidance. 

 

Whilst the Regulator of Social Housing cannot assist to resolve individual tenant 

complaints, if any tenant of Thrive Homes is not satisfied with the conditions in their 

property or believe that Thrive Homes have failed to undertake any required 

remedial work, they can raise this with Thrive Homes through their complaints 

process. If the tenant remains unsatisfied following the progression to the end of this 

complaints process, this complaint can be escalated by the tenant to the Housing 

Ombudsman.  

 

Following their investigation into an individual tenant complaint, the Housing 

Ombudsman may formally refer a matter to the Regulator of Social Housing where 

they believe that their investigation into a case may reveal a wider systemic failing 

and possible evidence of a breach of the standards set by the Regulator. 

 

If Cllr Rue Grewal has specific examples of what she describes I would expect her to 

bring to the attention of senior officers or indeed myself so it can been be 

investigated. 

 

  

Page 122



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 29 of 60 
 
 

23. Question from Councillor Mike Sims to the Lead Member for Resources: 

 

Is there a budget allocated for repair of the Aquadrome path?  And if it will cost at an 

absolute minimum £198,000, why have the Council and the Policy & Resources 

Committee not been informed, consulted, and asked for consent? 

 

Written response: 

 

The 2022 – 2027 Aquadrome Management Plan was approved at the 12 October 

2022 Leisure, Environment and Community Committee. The Management Plan’s 

vision is:   

  

'For the Aquadrome to be enhanced, nurtured, and protected. To achieve a 

balance so nature can flourish, and visitors can connect with and discover 

beautiful and unique habitats whilst understanding the importance of the 

environmental heritage of the site.'  

  

This plan was approved on the basis external funding would be secured to deliver 

this vision.   

  

Three Rivers District Council was recently successful in their funding application of 

£510,463 to the HS2 Colne Valley Regional Park Panel for habitat and accessibility 

works to the Wet Woodland and River Colne, including the existing footpath. In 

addition, the Council were also successful in a funding bid of £161,000 to the 

National Lottery Heritage Fund, Recovery and Resilience project, which focused on 

scientific based evidence gathering for work to the Aquadrome. This included the 

commissioning of a Hydrological Study to inform future work.   

  

Budget is therefore available for the work to the path from the funding partner 

identified above, however this work cannot take place until the hydrological study is 

complete. Patchwork repairs would be washed away in the coming weeks and 

months. Any significant work to the path would require a Flood Risk Activities Permit 

(FRAP) from the Environment Agency and this application will require the evidence 

from the Hydrological Study.   

  

There is therefore no requirement for the Policy & Resources Committee to be 

informed, consulted, or consent asked for at this stage. 

  

Page 123



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 30 of 60 
 
 

24. Question from Councillor Vicky Edwards to the Chair of the Planning 

Committee: 

 

Why did the s73 application for Shannon House (23/0343/FUL) not apply a condition 

requiring its squalid shoebox flats to meet the nationally-described minimum space 

standard, even though the s73 application was submitted after the change in the law 

making such minimum space requirements mandatory? 

 

Written response: 

 

Application 20/0369/PDR gave prior approval for a change of use from Office (Class 

B1) to 74 Residential Units (Class C3). Imposing a planning condition which secured 

a lower number of residential units would have required a variation to the description 

of the development. Section 73 of the 1990 Act does not permit a planning 

permission to be rewritten.  

 

  

Page 124



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 31 of 60 
 
 

25. Question from Councillor Vicky Edwards to the Chair of the Planning 

Committee: 

 

Does the council agree with the applicant for Land to the rear of 63 The Crescent 

(24/1060/RSP) that it benefits from the self-build exemption from CIL? 

 

Written response: 

 

No, the development is not considered to comply with the requirements of the 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) self-build exemption. 

 

  

Page 125



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 32 of 60 
 
 

26. Question from Councillor Oliver Cooper to the Chair of the Planning 

Committee: 

 

How many First Homes have been built, secured in permissions, or does the Chair 

expect to be secured in pending applications? 

 

Written response: 

 

None to date that officers are aware. I refer to the earlier answer re the evidence 

being gathered to support such ab allocation.  

Page 126



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 33 of 60 
 
 

27. Question from Councillor Oliver Cooper to the Chair of the Planning 

Committee: 

 

The Chair told Cllr Cooper in July that ‘minor improvements’ had been made to the 

unsightly tattered scaffold sheeting on the building opposite Three Rivers House. Yet 

it is now worse than ever. Why has Three Rivers not issued a section 215 notice and 

why has it done nothing to stop the terrible state of this very prominent building 

marring Rickmansworth High Street? 

 

Written response: 

 

Requests from members to officers have been received about the condition of the 

scaffolding. As communicated to local ward councillors, officers have recently met 

with the owner and requested that the sheeting is replaced or repaired as soon as 

possible to avoid direct action. From discussions with the owner and when 

considering the extent of works, the scaffolding is likely to be removed in the coming 

months. 

  

Page 127



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 34 of 60 
 
 

28. Question from Councillor Chris Mitchell to the Lead Member for 

Resources: 

 

One of our main concerns in Croxley Green is to retain a valuable community space 

that has been classified as a site of community value. We have had extensive 

discussions about this and wish to work on a cross-party basis to agree a long term 

sustainable solution to retaining this on the Red Cross site in Croxley Green. 

Therefore, please can you confirm when the fair, transparent and reasonable 

negotiation with Croxley Green Parish Council to reach an agreement will 

commence, and who will represent Three Rivers? 

 

Written response: 

 

As Councillor Mitchell is aware, I’ve been pushing for transparency for all concerned 

regarding this issue since June 2023 and am glad that we are now in a position to 

progress. As Councillor Mitchell will now be aware, since submitting his question he 

has been invited to attend a meeting on this matter, as the Local Ward Councillor 

together with the Leader, Deputy Leader and Lead Member for Resources, together 

with relevant Officers. This will be the next step in engaging in further dialogue with 

Croxley Green Parish Council.  

Page 128



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 35 of 60 
 
 

29. Question from Councillor Chris Mitchell to the Lead Member for 

Sustainability and Climate Change: 

 

Please confirm that we are doing all we can to secure the services of our very good 

staff in the Sustainability team, as I am aware that the funding for one or two post 

may be coming to an end. 

Written response: 

 

The current funding arrangement for the Climate Change and Sustainability team is 

a mix of council funded establishment (permanent) posts (1.5 Part time positions) 

and grant funded posts (currently 1 FTE post funded until June 2025). An outline 

business case has been prepared to inform the council’s budget considerations 

which includes a proposal to increase the establishment roles by 1FTE which would 

if approved by council provide security of tenure to the current postholder whilst still 

seeking where possible to secure funding externally for resource in this important 

area of work.   

Page 129



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 36 of 60 
 
 

30. Question from Councillor Chris Mitchell to the Leader of the Council: 

 

We discussed the issue of the future ownership and control of the Green and Stones 

Orchard in Croxley Green. As you know the Parish Council does most of the 

maintenance at no cost to Three Rivers, however they have to pay us to carry out 

any events. The Parish Council has requested that this is looked into seriously for 

over 12 years now. 

 

Please can you confirm when a team for us and the Croxley Green Parish Council 

on the future ownership and control of the Green and Stones Orchard will be set up. 

 

Written response: 

 

As I have said I have asked officers to set up an informal meeting to discuss this 

issue with you and the Parish and away forward as the issue is rather more complex 

than the question suggests.  

Page 130



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 37 of 60 
 
 

31. Question from Councillor Narinder Sian to the Lead Member for General 

Public Services: 

 

Please provide an update on the implementation of the Beryl Bike scheme in our 

area. 

 

Hertsmere, who began their engagement with Beryl after Three Rivers District 

Council, is already live with 27 bays, 40 bikes, and 20 e-bikes. Meanwhile, we have 

yet to see any significant progress on our own trial. 

 

Since the Full Council Meeting on 11 July 2023, we have been asking for updates on 

this initiative. Unfortunately, despite assurances that the scheme was imminent, 

there has been a noticeable lack of progress.  

 

Could you kindly provide clarity on the current status of the scheme and outline what 

steps are being taken to address these delays? I also hope you can shed light on the 

reasons behind this continued stagnation and what is being done to resolve it. 

 

Written response: 

 

Cllr Stephen Giles-Medhurst who has pushed through this project along with former 

Cllr Paul Rainbow over the last four years has already provided details to you and 

other councillors and Croxley Green residents over the reasons for the delays w. 

Hich rest with Herts County Council. Indeed, without his most recent two direct 

inventions as Leader as officers were not getting replies the scheme would not be 

able to go live. 

 

The required contract and licences have been signed to enable this scheme to start 

with a scheduled launch date of the 7 October 2024.  

  

Page 131



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 38 of 60 
 
 

32. Question from Councillor Narinder Sian to the Lead Member for General 

Public Services: 

 

Councillor Stephen Giles-Medhurst’s recent comments in the Watford Observer on 

14th September 2024 (attached) attributes the six-month delay of the Beryl Bike 

scheme in Croxley to Hertfordshire County Council’s bureaucracy. 

While there may be challenges in securing agreements, it is troubling that, despite 

these claims, no clear actions have been communicated to expedite the process.  

 

Given the success of the scheme in Watford and Hertsmere, where HCC 

agreements are already in place, this ongoing delay raises concerns about the 

leadership and coordination within our own council. 

 

While Councillor Giles-Medhurst describes this as "bureaucracy gone mad" and 

blames HCC for the setbacks, it is important to note that he has been working on this 

project for over three years. His leadership has been a constant throughout the 

negotiation period, and despite his long involvement, the scheme has still not come 

to fruition. 

 

Could you kindly provide clarity on what responsibilities Councillor Giles-Medhurst 

has had in the implementation of the scheme. 

 

Written response: 

 

The Beryl Bikes project has been led by officers working closely with our legal team, 

Beryl Bikes and Hertfordshire County Council.  Regular updates have been provided 

to the Leader (and Lead Member) who has provided support chasing senior officer at 

HCC to complete the work on the documentation for the project to progress, 

including raising the matter with the Acting CEO of HCC. 

  

Page 132



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 39 of 60 
 
 

33. Question from Councillor Narinder Sian to the Lead Member for 

Resources: 

 

At the Croxley Green Local Area Forum on Thursday 5th September 2024, an update 

from officers was read out by Councillor Chris Mitchell which mentioned the 

development of 9-10 residential units with ground floor community space. The 

number of residential units differs from previous numbers provided. Could you 

please clarify the basis for this recalculation? Have any indicative drawings been 

prepared to demonstrate how this can be achieved, and if so, are these available for 

review? 

 

Written response: 

 

There has been and remains some flexibility in the designs relating to the potential 

redevelopment of the former Red Cross Building. The variation to the number of 

units is based upon seeking maximum development viability of any potential 

scheme. Each variation has been financially modelled, with indicative drawings 

prepared where necessary. As indicated in response to Councillor Mitchell’s question 

on this subject, an initial review of proposals will be shared shortly. 

  

Page 133



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 40 of 60 
 
 

34. Question from Councillor Cheryl Stungo to the Lead Member for 

Resources: 

 

At the Croxley Green Local Area Forum on Thursday 5th September 2024, an update 

from officers was read out by Councillor Chris Mitchell which mentioned the housing 

needs register with over 100 families in Croxley on it, 

 

In previous discussions, the housing officer has been unable to confirm the figure of 

100 families from Croxley on the register. This figure appears to be an important part 

of the decision-making process, and it would be helpful to understand how this figure 

has been derived and whether more precise data is available. 

 

Written response: 

 

As per the Council's Housing Allocations Policy, any application to the Council's 

Housing Register is only verified at the point of any offer of accommodation, not on 

application. Therefore, any report on the address of those who have applied to join 

the Council's Housing Register will only extract information on a customer’s current 

address at the time of application and this information has not been verified. At the 

time that the Council's Housing Operations Manager provided this figure (July 2023) 

there was 106 households who had stated their address at the point of application 

was in Croxley Green, however, there is no way to indicate whether these 

households still reside within Croxley Green or have moved. Furthermore, if a 

household that resided within Croxley Green prior to July 2023 had applied for the 

Council's Housing Register, however, they had not filled in their current address 

correctly, this would not be included within this figure. 

 

It is important to note that if a household that lives within Croxley Green were to bid 

on any property that was advertised within that area, they would not have any 

additional priority over a household that was eligible to bid on that property, who 

lived in any other area. The local connection required to join the Council's Housing 

Register and bid on any available social housing properties is a local connection to 

the district as a whole and households are not restricted to a local connection to 

certain areas of Three Rivers. For clarity, there are currently 1,415 live applications 

on the Council's Housing Register. 

  

Page 134



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 41 of 60 
 
 

35. Question from Councillor Cheryl Stungo to the Lead Member for 

Sustainability and Climate Change: 

 

I was disappointed with the agenda for the Climate Change, Leisure and Housing 

Committee meeting held on 24th July 2024. Despite the Council’s declared climate 

emergency and its stated goal to put the environment at the centre of all its activities, 

the meeting included only one climate-related agenda item: The Bury Grounds 

Biodiversity Project.   

 

Given the urgency of the climate crisis and the Council’s commitment to addressing 

it, I expected a broader range of climate-related topics to be discussed. 

 

Housing, which is another key issue in our district, was not covered at all. This is 

particularly concerning considering housing and sustainability are interconnected, 

especially when considering the district’s responsibility to balance development with 

climate resilience. We have a shortage of affordable homes and an increasing 

demand for energy-efficient housing. 

 

Locally, Hertfordshire faces increased flooding risk, rising air pollution levels and 

growing pressure on green spaces. 

 

I would appreciate being informed about what steps will be taken to ensure more 

comprehensive discussions on climate and housing in future meetings. 

 

Written response: 

 

Climate Change and sustainability is at the core of everything the council does and 

as such all reports requiring decisions by the committee are supported by a 

Sustainability Impact Assessment, there is therefore ample opportunity for members 

to discuss climate and sustainability in relation to any and all matters before any 

committee, not simply the Climate Change, Leisure and Housing Committee, and 

indeed Full Council.  

 

In the past 12 months the CCLH Committee has had comprehensive discussions on 

not only the Bury Biodiversity Project but also the achievements of the 2023-26 

Climate Emergency and Sustainability Strategy and it has considered, discussed and 

approved an updated Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy for 2024 -27 as 

well as new action plan for its delivery. The progress of the council’s strategy and its 

associated action plan is reported to the CCLH Committee Biannually with the next 

report being considered this month.   

 

Page 135



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 42 of 60 
 
 

There was no agenda item from Housing Services at the last Climate Change, 

Leisure and Housing Committee as there was nothing that required a decision from 

Committee at that time. 

  

Page 136



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 43 of 60 
 
 

36. Question from Councillor Stephen King to the Lead Member for General 

Public Services 

 

Can the Lead Member confirm whether the double yellow line at the junction of 

Henbury Way and Oxhey Drive has been fully painted, is enforceable and the date 

upon which it was finished, or if it yet to be completed when will it finally be done?  

 

Written response: 

 

Attempts have been made to complete the lines; however, motorists have been 

ignoring the parking suspension signs put in place to enable the contractors to finish 

them. Officers are chasing the matter with our parking services provider and will aim 

to get them completed quickly. 

 

 

 

  

Page 137



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 44 of 60 
 
 

37. Question from Councillor Stephen Cox to the Lead Member for General 

Public Services 

 

Would the Lead Member please advise what progress has been made with Thrive 

Homes regarding the rubbish bin situation at Erskine House and Forfar House since 

the answer given at July’s Full Council meeting and an update on the actions this 

council is taking to ensure the bins are collected weekly to prevent overflowing and 

the obvious threat to public health? 

 

Written response: 

 

Progress is being made at these blocks, namely;  

1. TRDC has produced significantly sized metal signage that has now been 

installed in the in the bin areas.  Smaller signs are also on order to be placed 

on the recycling racks.   

2. TRDC officers have met with Reps from Thrive to discuss moving of the bin 

store to the drying area.  

3. Coded padlocks have been fitted to the bin store doors this week (one is 

however already missing).  

4. TRDC have commenced charging Thrive for returned visits where refuse 

vehicles have been unable to gain access.  

5. Meetings have been held to discuss potential for traffic restrictions eg yellow 

lines.  

6. TRDC have requested that Thrive have a tree cut back which is restricting 

access.  

7. Meetings continue to be held with Thrive on a quarterly basis.  Discussions 

and emails are exchanged in between meetings to update on progress or 

discuss issues are they arise.  

 

  

Page 138



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 45 of 60 
 
 

38. Question from Councillor Joan King to the Leader Member for 

Resources 

 

Does the Lead Member agree with me that the designation of the former Pavilion in 

Green Lane as an Asset of Community Value is important, but while the building 

remains closed to the public it is of no use to the community and what action has 

been or is being taken by this council to ensure that the building is maintained in 

accordance with the lease conditions? 

 

Written response: 

 

Officers continue to review the condition of assets that are subject to covenants to 

‘keep in repair’. Whilst disclosure of any intended action within a public forum may 

prejudice the Council’s position, as Lead Member for Resources, I am happy to 

arrange for a meeting between Councillor Joan King, myself and appropriate Officers 

to discuss this matter. 

  

Page 139



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 46 of 60 
 
 

39. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Leader of the Council 

 

What does the Lead Member understand are the main advantages of retaining 

Bedmond as a ‘washed over’ village within the Green Belt? 

Written response: 

 

As the question questions the integrity of the lead member, I have no intention of 

answering it in detail. The information regarding this is in the public domain as the 

member is well aware.  

Page 140



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 47 of 60 
 
 

40. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Leader of the Council 

 

What does the Leader understand are the main disadvantages of insetting Bedmond 

within the Green Belt? 

Written response: 

 

As the question questions the integrity of the lead member, I have no intention of 

answering it in detail. The information regarding this is in the public domain as the 

member is well aware.  

Page 141



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 48 of 60 
 
 

41. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Leader of the Council 

 

What does the Leader understand are the differences introduced by Paragraph 145 

of the NPPF as updated in December 2023? 

Written response: 

 

As the question questions the integrity of the lead member, I have no intention of 

answering it in detail. The information regarding this is in the public domain as the 

member is well aware.  

Page 142



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 49 of 60 
 
 

42. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Leader of the Council 

 

Several senior staff had been routinely copying emails from opposition councillors to 

the Council Leader and lead Members in direct contravention of the Member-Officer 

protocol. Why was this allowed to happen? 

Written response: 

 

I have not been routinely copied into emails to opposition members as is stated 

above. I have been copied into emails, as have other members, across say the 

Abbots Langley Parish area regarding Leavesden Country Park (which is in my 

ward) that affect the whole Parish, and that practice was recently stopped on the 

advice of the Monitoring Officer.  

 

  

Page 143



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 50 of 60 
 
 

43. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Leader of the Council 

 

I have been unable to obtain an undertaking that the requirement to maintain the 

privacy of emails has been shared with all officers. Should this not have happened 

immediately? 

Written response: 

 

I understand from the Monitoring Officer that it was not considered necessary to 

share this with all officers and it was shared with the specific officers concerned. I 

have no other comment to make. 

 

  

Page 144



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 51 of 60 
 
 

44. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Leader of the Council 

 

How can Members be confident that their correspondence with officers is secure and 

private? 

Written response: 

 

I understand this is the subject of ongoing correspondence between you and the 

Monitoring Officer. I therefore have no other comment to make. 

  

Page 145



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 52 of 60 
 
 

45. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Lead Member for 

Infrastructure and Economic Development: 

 

What is the cost of installing EV charging points a) in the access road in front of the 

shops in Abbots Langley High Street and b) in the car park behind? 

Written response: 

 

The cost to install EV charging points is £107,561.36 for the access road in front of 

the shops in Abbots Langley High Street and £121,605.12 for the carpark behind. 

However, the latter is not considered a viable commercial operation by the councils 

preferred provider so if  the service riad were not preceded with it is likely the whole 

scheme might be withdrawn. 

 

  

Page 146



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 53 of 60 
 
 

46. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Lead Member for 

Infrastructure and Economic Development: 

 

The parking spaces in the proposed EV. Harbinger spaces are much used as 

convenient short stay spaces and by disabled drivers because of their easier access 

in and out of a car. Why, despite this being brought to the attention of two officers 

has this not been taken into account when planning the spaces? 

Written response: 

As advised in previous correspondence, Officers do not propose to make any 

changes to the current parking restrictions on the chosen bays. The bays are 

currently 1-hour maximum stay between Monday and Saturday 8am and 6pm and 

this will remain the same to enable the regular ‘churn’ of new visitors to the parade.  

Officers have consulted with a Charging Point Operator about implementing 

‘overstay’ fees which is a small payment customers of the EV Chargers would pay if 

their vehicle reached 100% before they move it. An overstay fee would also help to 

enable the frequent vacation of cars from these spaces. Officers will monitor the 

utilisation of the Electric Vehicle chargers and implement an overstay fee if this is 

needed.  

Councillor concerns on the enforcement of the current disabled bays have been 

raised with the parking enforcement team. If further disabled bays are identified as 

being required, this would be required to follow the formal parking request process.  

 

  

Page 147



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 54 of 60 
 
 

47. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Lead Member for 

Infrastructure and Economic Development: 

 

What is the point of having EV charging spaces if they are not going to be subject to 

enforcement? 

Written response: 

Following Councillor concerns on the Electric Vehicle Charging spaces, some fast-

charging bays will not be enforced so as not to penalise drivers during incidences of 

high parking pressure.  This situation will be monitored. 

  

Page 148



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 55 of 60 
 
 

48. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Lead Member for Leisure: 

 

Despite management and some replanting, some of the trees in the orchard on the 

north side of Leavesden Country Park are in poor condition. Why has consideration 

not been given to expand and revitalise the orchard, including planting a greater 

variety of fruiting trees and shrubs. Surely this would support a number of the 

council’s priorities. 

 

Such changes would be welcomed by local residents and funding could be sought 

from within S106 funds, CIL or the council’s own funds. 

 

Written response: 

 

Officers from the Trees and Woodlands team have visited the heritage orchard at 

LCP recently to assess the condition of the trees.   Many of the trees are currently 

heavy with fruit, and whilst this is in many ways positive, this has led in some cases 

to trees struggling to support the weight and being bent over towards the ground.  

Officers carried out some formative pruning of the trees last winter, which has 

reduced this issue, but clearly there is more pruning work required. 

 

Last winter, six replacement trees were planted, and these appear to be doing well, 

however, several other existing trees have died, so officers will carry out more 

replacement planting this coming planting season, as per the management plan. 

  

The majority of the trees in the orchard are on dwarfing, or semi-dwarfing root stock, 

so will always be relatively small trees.  The use of these root stocks has become 

increasingly common as it enables the fruit to be picked much more easily, without 

the need for ladders. Officers will though look to plant some trees on larger growing 

root stocks to provide greater landscape benefits. 

 

In the longer term it is intended to explore expanding and revitalising the heritage 

orchard, including planting a greater variety of fruiting trees and shrubs, however, 

this is not an action within the current management plan, and Council does not have 

the resource capacity at this time to make more substantial changes.   

Page 149



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 56 of 60 
 
 

49. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Lead Member for 

Community Safety and Partnerships: 

 

Abbots Langley Neighbourhood Policing Team currently has fewer than half its 

establishment of police officers and PCSOs. I understand that the situation is little 

better at Rickmansworth and Oxhey. What representations has the council made to 

attempt to get a full establishment restored at Abbots Langley and other NPTs? 

 

Written response: 

 

The council works closely with the Police and the wider Community Safety 

Partnership however, the responsibility for the staffing and workforce sits with 

Hertfordshire Constabulary.  

Page 150



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 57 of 60 
 
 

50. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Chair of the Planning 

Committee: 

 

Why was the decision made to change the date of the October planning committee 

to 7th November? I understand this was not the decision of the planning officers or at 

their request and has involved the in extra work. This leaves 56 days between 

committees, which removes the ability of the Local Planning Authority to determine 

an application as quickly as possible. 

Written response: 

 

Officers have advised only one ‘Extension of Time’ for an application has been 

required because of this change to the committee date, and the applicant agreed to 

this request.  

Page 151



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 58 of 60 
 
 

51. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Chair of the Planning 

Committee: 

 

Why were most members attending compulsory planning training in May 2024 not 

informed that the threat of designation had been removed, when some non-

councillors were informed almost two weeks previously? 

 

Written response: 

 

Whilst DLUHC confirmed on 8 May that the Minister is minded not to designate for 

poor performance, the letter confirmed “Whilst no further action will be taken at this 

time, we will continue to closely monitor the authority’s performance, and this 

decision does not preclude the potential for further action should the performance of 

your authority fail to meet the required thresholds in the future”. Officers continue to 

monitor performance, and the performance has not improved since receipt of the 

letter. On that basis, Officers do not consider that the threat of designation has been 

removed. 

  

Page 152



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 59 of 60 
 
 

52. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Chair of the Planning 

Committee: 

 

Were the trainers informed that the immediate threat had been lifted? If so, why did 

they emphasise the threat? 

 

Written response: 

 

The trainers were advised of the content of the letter. However, it is considered that 

the threat remains in place. 

The letter from the Department of Levelling Up, Housing & Communities (now known 

as Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government) confirmed that 

decisions made by the authority were being closely monitored and the decision not 

to take further action did not preclude the potential for further action in the future. 

  

Page 153



Council Questions – 8 October 2024 

 

Page 60 of 60 
 
 

53. Question from Councillor Sara Bedford to the Lead Member for 

Infrastructure and Economic Development 

 

Twenty years ago the Heritage finger pointer signs at the junction of Gallows Hill 

Lane and Gallows Hill were repaired by this council. Why is the council now refusing 

to again repair the sign? 

Written response: 

 

As a District Council, TRDC is not a Highway Authority and as such has 

no responsibility to place/replace traffic signs. However, it is acknowledged these 

specific signs are bespoke signs and Officers are currently investigating ownership 

and responsibility for maintenance. Officers have reported the overgrown verge 

which hinders the visibility and access to the sign to the County Council but have not 

yet received any response or update. 

Page 154



Proposed by Cllr Mike Sims, seconded by Cllr Oliver Cooper 
 
Three Rivers District Council notes the great benefit that local residents across the 
district derive from the Aquadrome. 
 
The Aquadrome’s Woodland Path along the River Colne has been closed since 
February, causing significant harm to residents. 
 
While other councils have repaired similar damage within weeks – and Three Rivers 
has in other places – it has not done so in the Woodland Path. 
 
Furthermore, the council’s administration didn’t even inform councillors of its plans 
for seven months and only did so after direct demands from Rickmansworth Town 
councillors that its reopening be debated and voted on by councillors. 
 
The absolute minimum cost estimate now presented of £198,000 for the council’s 
repair work is a material amount and should be included in accounts and budget 
monitoring reports, presented to councillors, and subject to scrutiny. 
 
Three Rivers District Council notes that residents of Rickmansworth and Moor Park 
& Eastbury pay significant additional Council Tax to Three Rivers to maintain the 
Aquadrome due to the Council’s decision to declare it a ‘special expense’, yet their 
representatives have not been consulted or updated. 
 
Three Rivers District Council therefore commits to opening the Woodland Path as 
soon as practicable. 
 
Three Rivers District Council furthermore commits to publishing its full plans for the 
Aquadrome no later than 3 days after this motion is passed, to be debated at the 
next meeting of the Climate Change, Leisure, and Housing Committee. 

Page 155

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meetings
	Minutes Public Pack, 09/09/2024 Full Council
	Minutes


	6 Questions from the Public
	7 Policy and Resources Committee Recommendations
	Budget Monitoring Report to 30 June 2024 enc. 1
	Enc. 2 for Budget Monitoring Report to 30 June 2024
	Enc. 3 for Budget Monitoring Report to 30 June 2024
	Enc. 4 for Budget Monitoring Report to 30 June 2024
	Enc. 5 for Budget Monitoring Report to 30 June 2024

	8 Lead Member Reports
	9 Questions to the Leader and Lead Members
	11 Motions

